


The Competition Commission of South Africa was 

established in terms of the Competition Act (89 of 

1998), as amended (the Act). Its purpose is to promote 

and maintain competition in South Africa in order to:

•	 promote	the	efficiency,	adaptability	and	development	of	
the	economy

•	 provide	consumers	with	competitive	prices	and	product	
choices

•	 promote	employment	and	advance	the	social	and	
economic welfare of South Africans

•	 expand	opportunities	for	South	African	participation	
in world markets and recognise the role of foreign 
competition in the Republic

•	 ensure	that	small	and	medium	sized	enterprises	have	
an	equitable	opportunity	to	participate	in	the	economy

•	 promote	a	greater	spread	of	ownership,	in	particular	
to	increase	the	ownership	stakes	of	historically	
disadvantaged	persons.

To	achieve	these	purposes,	the	Commission’s	core	
functions are to:

•		 implement	measures	to	increase	market	transparency
•		 implement	measures	to	develop	public	awareness	of	
the	provisions	of	the	Act

•		 investigate	and	evaluate	alleged	anti-competitive	
conduct

•		grant	or	refuse	applications	for	exemption	from	the	
application of the Act

•		 authorise,	with	or	without	conditions,	prohibit	or	refer	
mergers	of	which	it	receives	notice

•	 negotiate	and	conclude	consent	orders
•	 refer	matters	to	the	Competition	Tribunal	of	South	Africa	

(the Tribunal), and appear before the Tribunal when 
required

•	 negotiate	agreements	with	any	regulatory	authority	to	
coordinate	and	harmonise	the	exercise	of	jurisdiction	
over	competition	matters	within	the	relevant	industry	or	
sector and to ensure the consistent application of the 
principles of the Act

•	 participate	in	the	proceedings	of	any	regulatory	
authority

•	 advise,	and	receive	advice	from,	any	regulatory	
authority

•	 over	time,	review	legislation	and	public	regulations,	
and	report	to	the	Minister	concerning	any	provision	that	
permits	uncompetitive	behaviour

•	 deal	with	any	other	matter	referred	to	it	by	the	Tribunal.
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The	Commission	currently	has	six	divisions	that	are	responsible	for	the	day-to-day	implementation	of	its	strategic	priorities	and	plans.	The	Commissioner	

and	the	Deputy	Commissioner	provide	overall	guidance	to	the	organisation.	
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Enforcement for impact
The	 annual	 report	 for	 the	 2009/10	 financial	 year	 records	 the	 activities	

that	 took	 the	 Competition	 Commission	 to	 its	 first	 decade	 of	 existence.	

Indeed,	the	Commission’s	tenth	anniversary	is	a	significant	milestone	in	the	

trajectory	of	steady	growth	that	the	competition	authorities	have	enjoyed.	

This milestone was celebrated at the third annual competition conference, 

held	in	early	September	2009.	The	conference	was	of	wider	scope	than	in	

previous	years	and	hosted	delegates	from	a	broad	base	of	interest	groups.	

These included: competition authorities from across the globe, including 

from	 Africa;	 scholars	 and	 academics;	 government	 departments;	 legal	

practitioners and other professionals; and former staff members of the 

Commission.	 It	was	an	appropriate	time	to	pay	tribute	to	the	work	of	 the	

founders	of	the	competition	authorities,	who	provided	the	solid	foundation	

from which it has been able to grow. 

The	Competition	Commission	 is	 clearly	 continuing	on	 its	growth	path.	 It	

is	 a	 highly	 respected	 institution	 locally	 and	 internationally,	 responding	

effectively	to	the	challenges	of	the	local	and	international	environment.	

The	 Commission’s	 three-year	 strategies	 are	 carefully	 devised	 to	 give	

direction	 and	 vision	 to	 the	 organisation’s	 activities,	 and	 to	 use	 its	

resources	 intelligently.	 The	 2006-2009	 strategic	plan,	which	 had	guided	

the	Commission	 through	a	 significant	growth	phase,	 came	 to	an	end	 in	

the	 year	 under	 review.	 A	 key	 measure	 of	 a	 resilient	 organisation	 is	 its	

ability	to	deal	with	change	and,	in	the	dynamic	and	challenging	business	

environment	over	 the	past	 few	years,	 the	Commission	has	shown	 that	 it	

is more than able to do this. The importance of the strategic plan was to 

ensure	a	more	proactive	approach	to	our	work	and	a	conscious	effort	to	

introduce,	manage	and	steer	change.	We	begin	the	next	year	with	another	

medium	term	strategic	framework.	Key	priorities	identified	in	the	strategic	

plan include prioritisation for impact, increased stakeholder engagements 

and	building	a	high	performance	competition	authority.		

The	Commission	continued	its	focus	on	proactive	enforcement	work	with	a	

focus	on	cartel	behaviour	in	the	identified	priority	sectors.	To	manage	this	

more	effectively,	we	are	 in	 the	process	of	setting	up	a	dedicated	cartels	

unit.	We	received	79	applications	for	leniency	in	terms	of	the	Commission’s	

corporate	leniency	policy	in	the	year	under	review,	a	substantial	increase	

from	the	13	applications	in	the	previous	year.	Significantly,	most	of	these	

applications (53) are in the infrastructure and construction market, 

suggesting	significant	cartel	behaviour	in	this	broad	sector.	The	increase	

also	shows	that	firms	are	becoming	more	aware	of	competition	law	and	of	

the	fact	that	the	Competition	Commission	has	teeth,	and	they	are	using	the	

leniency	process	to	voluntarily	comply	with	the	law.		

The	Commission	has	been	very	active	in	its	priority	sectors.	(infrastructure	

and	 construction,	 food	 and	 agro-processing,	 intermediate	 industrial	

products	 and	 financial	 services).	 This	 is	 evident	 in	 its	 completing	 its	

prosecutions with all members of the bread cartel. Pioneer Foods, the 

last	member	of	 the	cartel,	was	fined	a	hefty	R195	million,	 the	equivalent	

of	10	percent	of	 the	bread	division’s	 turnover	 for	2006.	The	Commission	

also	reached	a	settlement	with	Sasol	for	its	collusive	conduct	in	relation	to	

fertiliser	products,	in	which	Sasol	agreed	to	pay	R250	million	for	its	role	in	

the	fertiliser	cartel.	Investigations	into	other	members	of	the	cartel	are	still	

ongoing. In the intermediate industrial products sector, the Commission 

uncovered	cartels	in	various	markets	for	steel	products	and	referred	four	

cartel	cases	to	the	Tribunal.	The	referrals	involve	some	of	the	major	players	

in	 the	 steel	 industry	 such	 as	 Arcelor	 Mittal	 and	 Aveng.	 In	 the	 financial	

services	sector,	the	Commission’s	work	continued	to	focus	on	implementing	
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the	recommendations	of	the	Banking	Enquiry.	The	Commission	has	been	

working	with	National	Treasury,	 the	South	African	Reserve	Bank	and	 the	

Department	 of	 Trade	 and	 Industry	 to	 take	 the	 Banking	 Enquiry	 panel’s	

recommendations	 forward,	 with	 the	major	 banks	 agreeing	 to	 implement	

19	of	the	28	recommendations.	This	 is	a	significant	step	towards	a	more	

transparent	 and	pro-competitive	banking	 system	 that	will	 operate	 to	 the	

benefit	of	the	consumer.		

Measuring	 the	 impact	 of	 our	 activities	 on	 consumers	 and	 the	 economy	

requires	 the	Commission	 to	 increase	 its	 engagements	with	government,	

stakeholders	and	policy	makers	to	influence	economic	policy	and	decision	

making	 that	 will	 be	 consistent	 with	 the	 principles	 of	 pro-competitive	

practices.	 Increased	 engagement	 with	 government	 includes	 our	 bid-

rigging	seminars,	the	public	sector	consultative	forum	and	our	involvement	

with	National	Treasury	in	the	Banking	Enquiry	over	the	past	three	years.

An	 increase	 in	 the	merger	 threshold	 for	 intermediate	 and	 large	 notified	

mergers,	combined	with	a	weak	economic	environment	resulted	in	a	drop	

in	the	number	of	notified	mergers	(190	in	the	year	under	review	compared	

to	415	in	the	previous	year).	The	Commission	also	witnessed	an	increase	

in	 the	 number	 of	 notifications	 affecting	 firms	 in	 financial	 distress.	While	

job	 losses	 are	 an	 inevitable	 part	 of	merger	 activity,	 where	 possible,	 the	

Commission	 has	 tried	 to	 mitigate	 the	 effects	 by	 approving	 mergers	 on	

condition	that	mechanisms	are	implemented	to	minimise	the	impact	of	job	

losses.	In	particular,	the	Commission	called	on	merging	parties	to	invest	in	

the	training	and	skills	development	of	affected	employees	to	enable	them	

to	access	other	jobs.		

In	 terms	of	our	 international	 focus,	we	have	become	more	 involved	with	

competition	 authorities	 from	 the	 African	 continent.	 An	 example	 is	 our	

participation	with	the	Zambian	and	Egyptian	competition	authorities	in	the	

Joint	Food	Project,	which	 is	examining	anticompetitive	practices	 in	 food	

products.	 Our	 work	 with	 other	 competition	 authorities	 in	 forming	 a	 joint	

competition	forum	for	African	authorities	will	provide	a	platform	for	sharing	

experiences	and	strengthening	our	capacity.	

Becoming	 a	 high	 performance	 competition	 authority	 requires	 good	

governance	and	strong	leadership	within	the	organisation.	The	Commission	

identified	its	middle	managers	as	a	key	tier	of	management	in	the	context	of	

severe	resource	constraints.	A	number	of	initiatives	to	develop	the	capacity	

of middle management were undertaken. In order for the organisation 

to	 continue	 to	 be	 effective,	 particularly	 in	 the	 face	 of	 the	growing	 scale	

and	complexity	of	enforcement,	 investigations	and	prosecution,	our	staff	

numbers	are	set	to	grow	over	the	next	few	years.	

Recognising	 that	 people	 are	 our	 greatest	 asset,	 we	 value	 all	 our	 staff	

members	and	the	importance	of	good	staff	morale.	We	have	benchmarked	

our working conditions and salaries with our peers in the public sector and 

are	pleased	to	note	that	the	staff	turnover	has	stabilised	compared	to	other	

years.	On	this	note,	I	would	like	to	thank	all	staff	and	our	stakeholders	for	

all	that	you	have	done	this	year	to	ensure	that	the	Commission	continues	to	

achieve	its	goal	towards	a	fair	and	efficient	economy	of	all	South	Africans.	I	

would	also	like	to	thank	the	Deputy	Commissioner	and	my	Exco	colleagues	

for	helping	to	steer	this	ship	in	the	last	year.	Your	collective	wisdom	is	what	

keeps us sane in troubling times.

The	Commission	continues	to	benefit	from	government’s	financial	support	

to	execute	its	mandate.	However,	resources	are	limited	and	the	work	load	

has	 increased	 substantially.	 The	 mismatch	 between	 resources	 and	 the	

demand	placed	 on	 the	Commission	 resulted	 in	 a	 deficit	 in	 the	 financial	

year.	 This	 would	 have	 been	 bigger	 were	 it	 not	 for	 the	 financial	 support	

received	from	the	Ministry	of	Economic	Development.

The	Commission	will	now	report	to	the	Minister	of	Economic	Development.	

We look forward to working with the Minister and new colleagues. We thank 

the	Minister	 of	 Trade	and	 Industry	 and	colleagues	 in	 the	Department	 of	

Trade	and	Industry	for	their	support	and	collaboration	over	the	past	years.	

The Commissioner’s office
Front row: Sesule Mojapelo, Mittah Sibanyoni, Innocent Tau, 
Tembinkosi Bonakele
Back row: Hardin Ratshisusu, Shan Ramburuth, Leonard Morapedi, 
Malefyane Mogale, Anisa Kessery



Prioritisation 
and Impact

Part 1



How the Commission prioritises 
its work
The	way	the	Commission	prioritises	its	work	is	based	on	three	main	criteria:	the	potential	and	actual	impact	

of	anticompetitive	conduct	on	 low	 income	consumers,	 the	alignment	of	 the	Commission’s	activities	with	

government’s	economic	policy,	and,	whether	there	is	the	likelihood	of	anticompetitive	conduct.	This	means	

that	likely	cartels,	which	are	a	per se	contravention	of	the	Act,	are	almost	always	a	priority	when	information	

suggests	that	they	may	be	in	operation.	

In	the	year	under	review,	major	progress	has	been	made	as	a	result	of	the	Commission’s	sustained	focus	

on	 its	priorities.	The	Commission	has	referred	more	cases	 than	ever	before,	with	 the	majority	 relating	 to	

collusion,	while	some	relate	to	contraventions	of	a	range	of	sections	of	the	Act	(see	figure	1).	In	addition,	the	

total	amount	of	penalties	confirmed	or	determined	by	the	Tribunal	in	the	year	under	review	is	higher	than	in	

any	previous	year,	at	close	to	R500	million.	

From	the	prioritisation	framework,	the	Commission	identified	four	broad	sectors	in	which	it	would	undertake	

proactive	analysis	of	possible	competition	related	problems.	These	are:	food,	agro-processing	and	forestry;	
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sections of the Act
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infrastructure	and	construction;	intermediate	industrial	products;	and	financial	

services	 (banking).	 The	 Commission	 has	 also	 done	 considerable	 work	 in	

areas such as telecommunications and healthcare in response to complaints 

brought	 to	 it.	 And,	 as	 a	matter	 of	 course,	 the	Commission	 investigates	 all	

complaints	lodged	with	it	and	analyses	all	mergers	that	are	notified.

In	 terms	of	 sector,	 staple	 foods	have	proved	 to	be	a	major	 focus	 for	all	

the criteria, while the infrastructure and construction sector is important 

because	of	both	the	importance	in	government’s	economic	development	

strategy	 and	 the	 likelihood	 of	 cartels.	 The	 Commission’s	 investigations	

into	anticompetitive	conduct	in	the	food	sector	continue,	with	major	cases	

coming	before	the	Competition	Tribunal	in	2009/10.	These	are	mentioned	

under	the	relevant	sectors	below.	The	Commission	is	also	looking	at	other	

ways	 of	 ensuring	 competitive	 outcomes,	 one	 of	 which	 is	 assessing	 the	

implications	 of	 competitors	 exchanging	 information,	which	may	 result	 in	

coordinated outcomes which limit competition.  

The	hard	work	over	the	years	is	bearing	fruit.	For	example,	initial	research	

carried	out	to	identify	areas	where	there	are	possible	competition	problems	

in	the	construction	sector	has	led	to	several	very	large	investigations	being	

initiated	 and,	 in	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 to	 a	 rush	 of	 corporate	 leniency	

applications,	 most	 of	 which	 are	 linked	 to	 bid-rigging	 of	 construction	

tenders.	Over	the	period,	there	were	79	applications	for	corporate	leniency,	

compared	 to	 13	 in	 the	previous	 year.	Applications	oblige	 firms	 to	 admit	

to	having	contravened	 the	 law	prohibiting	collusion	and	 to	providing	 the	

Commission with information that enables it to prosecute the remaining 

cartel members.

The	 importance	 of	 following	 through	 on	 cases	 is	 a	 key	 element	 in	

maximising	 the	 impact	 of	 competition	 enforcement.	 This	 also	 relates	 to	

the	Commission’s	 aim	 to	engage	more	with	other	public	 institutions	and	

government	as	a	whole	to	improve	the	alignment	between	the	work	of	the	

Commission	and	other	institutions,	such	as	regulatory	bodies.

Priority	sectors

Food, agro-processing and forestry 

Much	of	the	Commission’s	work	in	this	sector	has	been	with	staple	foods,	

which	 include	mealie	meal,	 bread	and	 flour,	 dairy,	 poultry,	 and	 fats	 and	

oils (cooking oil and margarine). The pricing of these products impacts 

particularly	on	low	income	consumers.	

The	 Commission’s	 investigations	 into	 cartel	 conduct	 in	 wheat	 flour	 and	

mealie	meal	were	referred	to	the	Tribunal	during	the	year.	The	investigations	

focused on possible collusion among the main milling companies after 

the	bread	cartel	was	exposed,	and	with	the	benefit	of	the	cooperation	of	

Premier	Foods	and	Tiger	Brands.	Both	had	come	forward	in	exchange	for	

conditional	 leniency,	 meaning	 that	 no	 penalty	 would	 be	 sought	 against	

them. 

The Commission is continuing to look at all kinds of problematic conduct in 

the	sector	that	may	lead	to	anticompetitive	outcomes,	which	may	include	

the	undermining	of	new	entrants	and	competitors	exchanging	information.	

This	 is	 based	 on	 the	 premise	 that	 competitive	 outcomes	 are	 about	 the	

ability	of	firms	to	participate	effectively,	including	accessing	competitively	

priced inputs.

The bread cartel
In	February	2010,	the	Tribunal	handed	down	its	decision	in	which	it	found	

the	remaining	member	of	 the	bread	cartel,	Pioneer	Foods	(Pty)	Ltd,	had	

contravened	 section	 4(1)	 (b)	 of	 the	 Act,	 which	 refers	 to	 cartel	 related	

conduct.	 Pioneer	 Foods	 had	 denied	 contravening	 the	 Act.	 The	 Tribunal	

imposed	a	record	breaking	penalty	of	10	percent	 (the	maximum	penalty	

that	the	Act	allows	in	percentage	terms)	of	the	turnover	of	Sasko,	Pioneer’s	

bread	 division,	 in	 relation	 to	 one	 of	 the	 complaints.	 Despite	 this,	 the	

Commission has appealed this decision as it concluded that the Tribunal 

misconstrued	 its	 powers	 when	 determining	 that	 the	 penalty	 should	 be	

based	 only	 on	 the	 firm’s	 turnover	 from	 the	 bread	 division.	 The	 penalty	

it	 imposed	was	 therefore	 not	 a	 sufficient	 deterrent	 and	 the	Commission	

contends	that	 it	should	rather	be	based	on	the	firm’s	wider	turnover.	The	

appeal is pending before the Competition Appeal Court and will be heard 

in	September	2010.	

The	milling	cartel:	wheat	flour	and	mealie	meal
An	investigation	into	anticompetitive	behaviour	in	the	milling	industry	started	

in	2007,	following	a	disclosure	by	Premier	Foods	during	the	bread	cartel	

investigation	that	the	cartel,	which	involved	largely	the	same	companies,	

was	also	active	in	relation	to	milling	operations.	

During	 the	 investigations,	 the	Commission	 found	 that	several	wheat	and	

maize	millers	had	been	discussing	pricing,	had	agreed	on	price	increases	

and	 their	 timing,	 and	 had	 allocated	 markets	 to	 each	 other.	 Employees	

and	representatives	of	the	firms	did	this	through	the	telephone	and	secret	
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meetings	 held	 at	 different	 venues	

such as churches, stadia and 

hotels.

The	investigations	led	to	two	cases	

relating	 to	 wheat	 flour	 and	mealie	

meal	 (milled	 white	 maize)	 being	

referred	to	the	Tribunal.	for	collusive	

practices. The Commission has 

asked the Tribunal to impose an 

administrative	penalty	of	10	percent	

of	 annual	 turnover	 for	 2009/10	

on	 each	 of	 the	 firms	 involved.	

This	 would	 not	 apply	 to	 Premier	

Foods	 and	 Tiger	 Brands,	 which	

were	granted	conditional	 immunity	 from	prosecution	by	 the	Commission	

provided	that	they	fully	cooperate	in	the	Commission’s	investigations	and	

prosecution	of	the	case.	Keystone	Milling	was	one	of	the	first	respondents	

in	the	white	maize	milling	cartel	to	settle	with	the	Commission	and	will	pay	

a	fine	of	R6.7	million.	

Other	 firms	 involved	 are	 currently	 negotiating	 settlements	 with	 the	

Commission.	The	Commission	 is	continuing	 to	 investigate	other	kinds	of	

anticompetitive	conduct,	 including	 the	exchange	of	 information	between	

competing	firms,	and	possible	collusive	conduct	by	firms	dealing	in	animal	

feed	for	which	milled	maize	is	an	important	input.

Fertiliser
The	fertiliser	industry	has	been	a	concern	of	the	Commission	for	a	number	

of	 years,	 with	 two	 complaints	 relating	 to	 collusive	 behaviour	 by	 firms	

referred	to	the	Tribunal	in	April	2005	and	May	2006.	

Fertiliser	is	the	single	largest	cost	in	agricultural	production	and	there	have	

been	 indications	 of	 extensive	 anticompetitive	 conduct	 over	many	 years.	

Long-running	investigations	by	the	Commission	led	to	some	of	the	cases	

coming	 close	 to	 being	 finalised	 in	 2009/10.	 It	 concluded	 a	 settlement	

agreement with Sasol Chemical Industries Limited on behalf of its operating 

division	 in	 the	 nitrogenous	 fertiliser	 market,	 Sasol	 Nitro.	 In	 terms	 of	 the	

agreement,	Sasol	admitted	to	its	collusive	conduct	in	two	separate	matters	

involving	nitrogenous	fertiliser	products	and	phosphoric	acid	and	agreed	

to	pay	a	penalty	of	R250.7	million.	This	was	the	highest	amount	ever	agreed	

between the Commission and a respondent.

In relation to the alleged cartel in nitrogenous fertiliser products, two 

respondents,	 Omnia	 Fertilizer	 and	 Yara	 South	 Africa	 (Pty)	 Ltd,	 are	 still	

defending the case. There are also remaining abuse of dominance charges 

against	Sasol	 for	excessive	pricing	and	exclusionary	conduct,	which	are	

due	to	be	heard	later	in	2010.	

Box 1: The Joint Food Project

In	 2009,	 the	 Competition	 Commission	 joined	 forces	 with	 the	 Egyptian	

Competition	 Authority	 and	 the	 Zambian	 Competition	 Commission	 in	

a	 project	 that	 aims	 to	 evaluate	 competition	 issues	 in	 the	 production,	

supply	 and	 pricing	 of	 staple	 food	 products	 through	 collaboration	 and	

information	sharing	workshops.	The	project	is	funded	by	the	International	

Development	Research	Centre	(IDRC).	It	has	been	organised	into	three	

phases:

•	 phase	one:	initiating	the	project	and	building	the	team	capacity	in	each	

competition	agency

•	 phase	two:	collating	the	available	information	and	analysis	related	to	

food	prices	in	each	country	leading	to	the	compilation	of	an	overview	

report

•	 phase	three:	examining	closely	competition	issues	in	a	selected	set	of	

markets.

South	 Africa	 and	 Zambia	 carried	 out	 studies	 to	 examine	 the	 factors	

affecting	 the	 fertiliser	 and	 maize	 milling	 sector,	 and	 South	 Africa	 and	

Egypt	 looked	at	 the	edible	oil	sector.	Egypt	also	examined	competition	

issues	 relating	 to	 food	 supply	 in	 the	 informal	 sector.	 These	 studies	

highlighted	the	importance	of	practitioners	having	a	deep	understanding	

of	market	dynamics,	and	the	ways	in	which	products	are	produced	and	

sold.	 The	project	 has	also	 identified	 the	need	 for	greater	 collaboration	

between competition authorities in the southern African region to deal 

more	 effectively	 with	 anticompetitive	 conduct	 by	 companies	 operating	

across the region.

Infrastructure and construction

The	Commission’s	work	into	collusion	in	the	infrastructure	and	construction	

sector	 is	 in	two	main	areas:	first,	the	Commission	has	identified	the	wide	

range of products used in infrastructure that it needs to monitor; and 

second,	it	is	looking	into	collusive	bid-rigging	by	construction	companies	

on	 a	 contract-by-contract	 basis.	 Anticompetitive	 conduct	 in	 both	 areas	

increases	the	costs	of	investment	in	new	and	improved	infrastructure.		It	is	

clear that collusion has been endemic in this broad sector for some time.
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In	relation	to	products,	there	have	been	a	number	of	referrals	and	settlements	

in cast concrete products, plastic pipes, bitumen and reinforcing steel. In 

addition,	 investigations	 into	 the	 cement,	 bricks	 and	 pilings	markets	 are	

ongoing. 

In	terms	of	bid-rigging,	the	increased	awareness	of	the	Commission’s	work	

in	 the	sector	appears	 to	have	persuaded	several	companies	 to	properly	

address	their	own	conduct	and	to	file	applications	for	leniency	where	they	

have	 identified	contraventions.	 The	Commission	 is	 allocating	 substantial	

resources	 to	 investigating	 all	 forms	 of	 anticompetitive	 conduct	 that	 are	

being	identified,	as	well	as	pursuing	wider	investigations	in	areas	already	

recognised as problematic.

In	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 Commissioner	 initiated	 five	 complaints	 in	

this	 sector.	Of	 the	 79	 corporate	 leniency	 applications	 received	 over	 the	

year,	 around	 two-thirds	 were	 in	 construction	 alone	 (see	 figure	 2	 in	 the	

Enforcement	and	Exemptions	section).	The	Commission	concluded	three	

consent agreements with respondents in two cartels relating to plastic 

pipes and concrete pipes. In the case of collusion in the manufacture and 

supply	of	plastic	pipes	made	of	polyvinylchloride	(PVC)	and	high	density	

polyethylene	 (HDPE),	Marley	Pipes	Systems	agreed	 to	pay	a	penalty	 of	

R31.1	million.	Other	firms	implicated	in	the	cartel	include	Petzatakis,	Swan	

Plastics,	DPI	Plastics,	Gazelle	Plastics	and	Amitech	South	Africa.

In precast concrete products, including pipes, two consent agreements 

were	confirmed	with	Cobro	Concrete	 (Pty)	 Ltd	and	Concrete	Units	 (Pty)	

Ltd	for	penalties	of	R4	million	and	R5.8	million	respectively.	In	March	2010,	

the	Commission	referred	its	findings	of	price	fixing	in	the	supply	of	bitumen	

against	Chevron	SA	(Pty)	Ltd,	Engen	Limited,	Shell	SA	(Pty)	Ltd,	Total	SA	

(Pty)	 Ltd,	Masana,	 Southern	African	Bitumen	Association,	 Sasol	 Limited	

and	Tosas	(Pty)	Ltd	to	the	Tribunal	for	adjudication.	This	followed	a	leniency	

application	by	Sasol	and	its	subsidiary	Tosas	in	January	2009.	

The	 Commission	 found	 that	 the	 respondents	 engaged	 in	 collusive	

conduct	from	around	2000	until	at	least	December	2009.	The	respondents	

collectively	 determined	 and	 agreed	 on	 pricing	 principles,	 including	

a	 starting	 reference	 price	 and	 monthly	 price	 adjustment	 mechanism.	

Discussions	and	agreements	were	facilitated	through	meetings	convened	

by	 the	Southern	African	Bitumen	Association	 (SABITA),	 correspondence	

through	 SABITA	 and	 direct	 communication	 between	 the	 oil	 companies.	

The	Commission’s	 investigation	 into	reinforcing	steel	was	also	one	of	 the	

results of the assessment of important construction products. There were 

four	referrals	to	the	Tribunal	in	this	sector	in	the	year	under	review,	which	

are discussed below under intermediate industrial products.

Box 2: Raids on firms in the cement industry and PPC’s admission

In	June	2009,	the	Competition	Commission	raided	the	offices	of	Pretoria	

Portland	 Cement	 Company	 Ltd	 (PPC),	 Afrisam,	 La	 Farge	 Industries	

South	 Africa	 (La	 Farge)	 and	 the	 Natal	 Portland	 Cement	 Company	

(NPC),	 following	 a	 complaint	 initiated	 by	 the	 Commissioner	 based	 on	

the	Commission’s	 research	 into	construction	products.	This	was	based	

on	 reasonable	 suspicion	 by	 the	 Commissioner	 that	 the	 four	 cement	

producers	colluded	to	control	quantities	of	cement	extenders	available	to	

the	downstream	industry,	fixed	prices	of	cement,	divided	cement	markets	

and	engaged	in	collusive	tendering.	The	complaint	was	also	initiated	on	

the	basis	of	there	being	possible	abuse	of	dominance	by	PPC	aimed	at	

foreclosing independent cement blenders.

Shortly	after	the	raid,	PPC	applied	for	corporate	leniency	for	its	collusive	

conduct,	and	was	granted	conditional	leniency	from	prosecution	in	relation	

to	 the	 division	 of	markets.	 The	 information	 that	 PPC	 provided	 showed	

that	 the	 four	 cement	 producers	 agreed	 to	 divide	 the	 cement	 market	

among	 themselves	 to	 maintain	 the	 market	 shares	 that	 each	 producer	

held	up	to	1996,	when	a	lawful	cement	cartel	existed.	The	market	division	

agreement	was	implemented	until	2009	through	the	highly	disaggregated	

sales information each producer submitted to the Cement and Concrete 

Institute	of	South	Africa.	In	addition,	PPC’s	information	revealed	that	there	

is	a	territorial	market	division	agreement	between	PPC	and	La	Farge	in	

terms of which the two parties agreed that PPC would not compete in the 

Northern	Kwa-Zulu	Natal	market	in	exchange	for	Lafarge	not	competing	

with	PPC	in	the	Botswana	market.

Intermediate industrial products

Intermediate	industrial	products	were	identified	as	a	key	area	of	investigation	

due	to	the	impact	that	anticompetitive	pricing	and	other	conduct	can	have	

on	those	downstream,	generally	more	labour-absorbing	industries	that	use	

the	products	as	inputs.	The	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry’s	industrial	

policy	has	repeatedly	identified	anticompetitive	conduct	as	an	obstacle	to	

growth	and	employment	creation	in	a	diversified	industry.	The	Commission’s	

work	has	focused	in	particular	on	steel	and	polymer	chemicals,	in	response	
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to formal requests from the department for the Commission to undertake 

investigations.	 Four	 referrals	 in	 relation	 to	 anticompetitive	 conduct	 in	

steel	 products	were	made	 to	 the	 Tribunal	 in	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 and	

investigations	into	the	polymer	chemicals	industry	are	continuing.	

Investigations	into	the	steel	sector
Over	the	past	two	years,	the	Competition	Commission	has	been	investigating	

various	parts	of	the	steel	industry.	An	example	is	the	downstream	supply	

of	reinforcing	bar,	steel	traders	and	tinplate.	In	the	latter	part	of	2009,	the	

Commission referred four separate cartel cases to the Tribunal in this sector. 

These	 relate	 to:	 the	 manufacturing	 and	 supply	 of	 long	 steel	 products;	

including	reinforcing	steel	bars;	the	supply	of	wire	and	wire	products,	the	

supply	of	mining	roof	bolts;	and	the	supply	of	reinforcing	wire	mesh.	Two	of	

the cases are highlighted below. 

•	 Competition	Commission	vs	ArcelorMittal	and	others:	long	steel

In	April	2008,	 the	Commission	 initiated	a	complaint	against,	 inter	alia,	

the producers of long steel products in South Africa: ArcelorMittal South 

Africa	Limited,	Cape	Gate	(Pty)	Ltd,	Cape	Town	Iron	Steel	Works	(Pty)	Ltd	

and	Scaw	South	Africa	(Pty)	Ltd.	The	complaint	related	to	their	alleged	

collusive	 conduct.	 The	 Commission	 decided	 to	 initiate	 the	 complaint	

following	concerns	raised	by	the	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry	and	

based	on	research	conducted	by	the	Commission,	which	showed	that	

for	many	years	the	steel	mills	had	been	charging	customers	at	close	to	

import	parity	 levels,	even	 though	South	Africa	has	always	been	a	net	

exporter	of	steel.		

After	 the	 search	 and	 seizure	 operation	 conducted	 at	 the	premises	 of	

Cape	Town	 Iron	&	Steel	Works	 (Cisco),	Highveld	Steel	and	Vanadium	

(a	producer	of	flat	steel)	and	the	South	African	Iron	and	Steel	Institute	

(SAISI),	the	Commission	received	an	application	for	corporate	leniency	

from	 the	 Scaw	 Metals	 Group	 regarding	 the	 conduct	 of	 price	 fixing,	

market-allocation	and	collusive	tendering	in	the	supply	of	products	such	

as	reinforcing	bar,	wire	rod	and	sections.	Based	on	evidence	provided	

by	Scaw,	as	well	 as	evidence	obtained	 through	 its	own	 investigation,	

in	 September	 2009,	 the	 Commission	 referred	 the	 complaint	 to	 the	

Competition	 Tribunal	 for	 adjudication.	 The	 Commission’s	 referral	

included	price	fixing,	market	allocation	and	collusive	tendering.	It	was	

found	that	SAISI	was	used	to	facilitate	these	collusive	practices	through	

facilitating	the	exchange	of	commercially	sensitive	information.		

•	 Competition	Commission	vs	Aveng	(Africa)	and	others:	reinforcing	mesh

This	 complaint	 was	 referred	 to	 the	 Tribunal	 in	 December	 2009	 and	

concerns	 the	 involvement	 of	 large	 reinforcing	 mesh	 suppliers	 in	

South	Africa	 in	 the	conduct	of	price	fixing	and	market	allocation.	The	

Commission’s	 investigation	 was	 triggered	 mainly	 by	 the	 leniency	

application	 filed	 by	 one	 of	 the	 participants	 in	 the	 cartel,	 BRC	 Mesh	

Reinforcing	(Pty)	Ltd,	a	subsidiary	of	Murray	&	Roberts	Steel.	

The	 Commission’s	 investigation	 revealed	 that	 the	 leniency	 applicant,	

Aveng	Africa	(trading	as	Steeledale),	Vulcania	Reinforcing	(Pty)	Ltd	and	

Capital	Africa	Steel	(Pty)	Ltd	(trading	as	Reinforcing	&	Mesh	Solutions),	

engaged	in	the	conduct	of	price	fixing	and	market	allocation	between	

2001	and	2008.	The	Commission	 found	 that	 the	cartel	was	 facilitated	

through	 formal	 meetings	 held	 under	 the	 auspices	 of	 the	 industry	

association, the South African Fabric Reinforcing Association. The 

meetings	were	later	replaced	by	informal	gatherings	in	places	like	pubs	

and	restaurants,	after	the	respondents	were	advised	that	their	conduct	

was	unlawful.	At	 these	meetings,	agreements	were	made	to	fix	prices	

and discount structures for reinforcing mesh products, and not to sell to 

each	other’s	customers.	

The	rejection	of	Allens	Meshco	exemption	application
Allens	Mescho	(Pty)	Ltd,	one	of	the	biggest	manufacturers	of	wire	and	wire	

products	in	South	Africa,	sought	a	two-year	exemption	enabling	it	to	discuss	

prices	and	exports	relating	to	wire	products	and	prices,	as	well	as	prices,	

profit	margins	and	vertical	agreements	with	Cape	Gate,	Consolidated	Wire	

Industries, ArcelorMittal SA and Scaw South Africa. Allens Meschco argued 

that	it	should	be	exempted	from	the	application	of	the	Competition	Act	on	

the grounds that the restriction on competition arising from its discussions 

with	competitors	was	necessary	to	promote	exports.	Further,	it	submitted	

that it is a small business and that the restriction was needed in order for it 

to	compete	effectively.

The	 Commission	 rejected	 the	 application	 after	 taking	 into	 account	 the	

various	submissions.	The	Commission	 found	 that	 the	objective	of	export	

promotion	 can	 be	 achieved	 without	 the	 coordinated	 conduct,	 and	 that	

Allens	Meshco	does	not	meet	the	statutory	definition	of	a	small	business	as	

defined	in	terms	of	the	National	Small	Business	Act	(1996),	as	amended.	

The	 Commission	 considered	 its	 findings	 in	 previous	 investigations	

which	revealed	a	history	of	collusion	 in	 the	wire	 industry	 involving	Allens	

Meshco.	An	approval	of	 this	exemption	application	could	undermine	 the	
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Commission’s	previous	findings	in	similar	matters	and	give	the	impression	

that	 the	 conduct	 previously	 found	 to	 have	 been	 a	 contravention	may	 in	

fact	be	justifiable.	In	addition,	Allens	Meshco	was	now	being	exposed	to	

greater	competition	given	that	its	preferential	supply	agreement	with	Mittal	

had come to an end.

Banking

The	Commission’s	work	in	retail	banking	in	the	reporting	period	continued	

to	focus	on	implementing	the	28	recommendations	of	the	Banking	Enquiry	

Panel.	The	Enquiry	identified	a	broad	range	of	consumer	and	competition	

concerns,	many	of	which	called	for	changes	that	the	Commission	cannot	

introduce	on	its	own.	A	steering	committee,	chaired	by	National	Treasury,	

was	established	to	review	each	of	the	28	recommendations,	and	provide	

an	 opportunity	 for	 the	 sector’s	 regulators	 to	 consider	 each	 from	 their	

respective	positions.	

The	 committee	met	 for	 the	 first	 time	 in	March	 2009,	 and	 approximately	

every	two	months	thereafter	throughout	the	year.

Steering	committee	meetings	were	supported	by	more	frequent	technical	

engagements	 between	 the	 Commission,	 National	 Treasury	 and	 the	

Department	of	Trade	and	 Industry,	 in	consultation	with	 the	South	African	

Reserve	 Bank	 where	 necessary.	 To	 facilitate	 debates	 the	 Commission	

generated	six	discussion	papers	that	covered:	ATM	pricing;	penalty	fees	

for dishonoured debit orders and problems with debit order management; 

competition	 in	 the	national	payment	system;	 recommendations	aimed	at	

improving	the	consumer	experience;	and	two	papers	on	the	issues	related	

to	payment	cards	and	electronic	payments.	

The	overall	goal	was	to	generate	enough	consensus	among	the	institutions	

involved	on	 the	best	way	 forward	 for	each	set	of	 recommendations.	 It	 is	

commonly	understood	that	banking	is	different	from	most	other	industries	

as aiming for more competition cannot compromise on the need to maintain 

financial	stability,	a	proven	strength	of	South	Africa’s	banking	regulators.	

It	has	been	the	Commission’s	 job	to	show	that	changes	can	be	made	to	

improve	the	competitive	environment	without	significantly	 increasing	risk.	

Rates	 of	 progress	 in	 the	different	 areas	 varied,	but	by	 early	 2010,	most	

of the technical work had been completed and communication with 

industry	participants	and	associations	had	improved.	The	Commission	is	

confident	that,	overall,	the	process	is	moving	in	the	right	direction,	but	is	

still	maintaining	a	vigilant	position	and	responding	to	complaints.

The	Commission’s	overarching	objective	is	to	increase	competition	in	retail	

banking,	 which	 will	 benefit	 the	 consumer.	 Where	 prospects	 of	 greater	

competition	 are	 limited,	 more	 direct	 consumer-friendly	 interventions	 are	

being	introduced.	For	example,	South	African	consumers	can	look	forward	

to	greater	control	over	their	debit	orders,	and	it	will	be	easier	to	compare	

banking	products	and	switch	banks.	 It	 is	 crucial,	 however,	 that	National	

Treasury	 takes	 the	 lead	 in	 ensuring	 better	 consumer	 protection	 in	 retail	

banking.	 The	 Commission	 is	 not	 a	 consumer	 protection	 authority	 and	

cannot respond to this kind of complaint. 

The	Commission	continues	to	work	with	National	Treasury	and	consult	with	

the	 South	 African	 Reserve	 Bank	 on	 the	 recommendations	 that	 banking	

industry	participants	can	do	little	about	on	their	own.	It	is	clear	that	these	

issues	will	 require	 the	ongoing	attention	of	policymakers	and	 regulators;	

that this is now happening is one of the most important legacies of the 

Banking	Enquiry.

Healthcare

As	with	the	telecommunications	sector,	(covered	in	the	Enforcement	and	

Exemptions	section)	complex	competition	matters	arising	in	the	healthcare	

sector	have	demanded	the	Commission’s	attention.	

Aspen/GlaxoSmithKline	merger
In	 2009,	 the	 Competition	 Commission	 had	 to	 consider	 the	 merger	

transaction between Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Limited (Aspen) and 

GlaxoSmithKline	 South	 Africa	 (Pty)	 Limited	 (GSK).	 Aspen	 is	 a	 generic	
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pharmaceutical	 company	 and	 GSK	 is	 an	 originator	 pharmaceutical	

company.	

In	 terms	of	 the	 transaction	 filed	 in	South	Africa	 (which	 formed	part	 of	 a	

broader	 international	 transaction),	 Aspen	 acquired	 control	 over	 the	

pharmaceutical	business	of	GSK	in	South	Africa.	In	return,	GSK	became	

the	single	 largest	shareholder	 in	Aspen,	holding	16	percent	of	 the	entire	

issued share capital of Aspen. 

The	Commission	found	that	the	sufficient	number	of	competitors	remaining	

in	these	markets	post-merger	will	be	able	to	constrain	the	merged	entity’s	

behaviour	and	concluded	that	the	merger	is	unlikely	to	substantially	prevent	

or lessen competition in these markets.

During	 the	 investigation,	 GSK	 publicly	 announced	 its	 commitment	 to	

voluntarily	 license	an	antiretroviral	product,	Abacavir,	on	a	non-exclusive	

basis	to	Aspen.	Abacavir	is	a	GSK	patented	product	used	mainly	for	the	

treatment	of	children	with	HIV.	GSK	is	the	only	supplier	of	this	product	in	

South	 Africa	 at	 present.	 The	 Commission	 voiced	 its	 concern	 about	 the	

merging	parties’	agreement	that	Abacavir	would	be	licensed	only	to	Aspen	

and	not	other	generic	firms.	GSK	then	extended	the	voluntary	licences	to	

Adcock	 Ingram,	Cipla	Medpro,	Ranbaxy,	Biotech	Laboratories	and	Feza	

Pharmaceuticals	and	provided	the	Commission	with	copies	of	the	licensing	

agreements	signed	by	GSK	in	August	2009.	The	Commission	expects	that	

the	finalised	 licence	agreements	will	ensure	 that	Abacavir	will	be	priced	

more	competitively	due	 to	 the	 increased	competition	among	 the	generic	

manufacturers. 

Rejection	of	the	Board	of	Healthcare	Funders’	exemption	
application
The	Commission	received	an	application	for	an	exemption	from	the	Board	

of	Healthcare	Funders.	The	board	is	an	industry	body	representing	more	

than 85 percent of medical schemes in South Africa. Its main functions 

include	lobbying	government	and	other	organisations	to	influence	policies	

on	behalf	of	the	industry.	

The	board	filed	the	application	on	behalf	of	its	members,	requesting	to	be	

exempted	from	the	provisions	of	Section	4	of	 the	Act,	 to	enable	medical	

aid	schemes	to	engage	collectively	in	a	way	that	may	contravene	the	Act.	

The	 Commission	 decided	 not	 to	 grant	 the	 exemption	 on	 a	 number	 of	

grounds. First, it acknowledged that the healthcare market is unique in 

that	 it	 covers	a	combination	of	 services	and	products	and	has	complex	

institutional	arrangements,	like	those	involving	medical	aid,	and	managed	

healthcare	 providers.	 But	 this	 does	 not	 exempt	 it	 from	being	 subject	 to	

competition	 scrutiny	 like	 other	 industries.	 Further,	 the	 Commission	 took	

the	view	that	the	“rule	of	reason”	provisions	in	the	Act,	which	allow	for	the	

Commission	to	consider	technological,	efficiency	or	other	pro-competitive	

benefits,	 are	 sufficient	 to	 cater	 for	 the	 peculiarities	 found	 within	 the	

healthcare	industry.	

Second,	 in	 the	 competitive	 analysis,	 the	 Commission	 found	 that	 the	

conduct	 that	 the	 Board	 of	 Healthcare	 Funders	 was	 proposing	 would	

amount	 to	a	contravention	of	sections	4(1)(b)(i)	and/or	section	4(1)(b)(ii)	

of	 the	Act,	 and	could	also	have	 the	effect	 of	 substantially	preventing	or	

lessening competition in the medical schemes market. The other grounds 

for	the	exemption	were	not	convincing;	the	assertion	that	the	industry	is	in	

a declining state could not be substantiated.

The	 Commission	 also	 engaged	 the	 Ministry	 and	 Department	 of	 Health	

on	competition	 in	 the	health	care	sector,	particularly	 related	 to	prices	 in	

the	 industry.	The	Commission	will	continue	 these	discussions	 in	 the	next	

financial	year.
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Enforcement	and	Exemptions
The	division’s	main	function	is	investigating	and	prosecuting	prohibited	practices	as	set	out	in	Chapter	2	

of	the	Competition	Act.	Chapter	2	prohibits	three	classes	of	anticompetitive	conduct:	restrictive	horizontal	

practices,	restrictive	vertical	practices,	and	the	abuse	of	a	dominant	position.	Complaints	are	either	initiated	

by	the	Commissioner	or	filed	by	members	of	the	public	or	private	firms.	Where	a	prohibited	practice	has	

been	established,	the	matter	is	referred	to	the	Competition	Tribunal	for	adjudication.		

During	 the	period	under	 review,	 the	Commission	 received	172	complaints	 from	 the	general	public.	The	

Commissioner	 initiated	 31	 complaints	 and	 86	 cases	 were	 carried	 over	 from	 investigations	 in	 previous	

years.	Of	the	289	cases	under	investigation	during	the	reporting	period,	27	complaints	were	included	in	the	 

13	referrals	to	the	Tribunal	for	adjudication,	102	cases	were	closed	at	screening,	15	cases	were	closed	after	

further	investigation,	6	cases	were	withdrawn	and	consent	agreements	were	concluded	in	5	cases.		
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Figure 2: Enforcement cases under investigation, by year

Source: Competition Commission
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Most	of	 the	31	 investigations	 initiated	 in	 the	reporting	period	were	 in	 the	

priority	 sectors	 identified	 in	 the	 Commission’s	 strategic	 plan	 (see	 figure	

3).	 The	 investigations	 initiated	 in	 other	 sectors	were	mainly	 into	 cartels,	

which	is	consistent	with	the	Commission’s	priority	focus	on	tackling	cartel	

conduct. 

Figure 3: Cases initiated in 2009/10, classified by sector

Source: Competition Commission

Figure 4: Corporate leniency applications received, by year 

Source: Competition Commission

Investigations	into	cartels
The	Commission’s	 corporate	 leniency	policy	 has	proven	 to	 be	 effective,	

with	79	leniency	applications	made	during	the	period	under	review.	Each	

leniency	application	reveals	an	alleged	cartel	and	must	be	evaluated,	either	

as	a	separate	investigation	or,	 in	some	cases,	as	multiple	contraventions	

forming	part	of	a	large	investigation	into	a	particular	sector.	In	the	period	

under	review,	broad	investigations	were	initiated	into	alleged	cartel	conduct	

in	sectors	as	diverse	as	construction	and	poultry.	

As	figure	4	shows,	the	division	has	experienced	a	substantial	increase	in	

the	number	of	 leniency	applications,	 resulting	 in	a	very	steep	rise	 in	 the	

number	of	cartel	cases	under	investigation.	The	investigation	of	cartels	is	at	

the core of competition regulation because it deals with the most egregious 

form	of	anticompetitive	conduct,	including	price	fixing,	customer	allocation,	

and	bid-rigging.	As	this	kind	of	conduct	undermines	economic	growth	and	

development,	 the	 division	 continues	 to	 carry	 out	 its	 investigations	 and	

prosecutions	with	vigour.	However,	the	substantial	increase	in	the	number	

of	cases	has	placed	a	considerable	burden	on	the	division’s	resources.	

Of	 the	 13	 cases	 referred	 to	 the	 Tribunal	 for	 adjudication,	 12	 included	

findings	of	cartel	activity.	The	31	 investigations	 initiated	this	year	are	still	

under	investigation,	with	26	out	of	the	31	involving	cartel	conduct.	Included	

in	the	26	cartel	cases	 is	one	broad	investigation	that	has	attracted	more	

than	50	leniency	applications,	in	the	construction	sector.	These	are	among	

the	79	leniency	applications	that	are	still	being	evaluated.	

The	success	of	the	leniency	policy	has	created	a	backlog	of	applications	and	

investigations	that	have	to	be	completed,	which	has	placed	considerable	

strain	on	the	resources	of	the	division	and	the	Commission.	
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Figure 5: Corporate leniency policy applications by sector for 
2009/10

Source: Competition Commission 

The	 Commission	 is	 committed	 to	 increasing	 its	 enforcement	 capacity,	

particularly	in	the	area	of	cartel	investigations.	To	this	end,	the	division	has	

established	a	special	investigative	unit	dedicated	to	cartel	investigations.	

This	is	providing	the	necessary	focus	for	dealing	with	the	increased	number	

of	cartel	related	cases.	But	the	division	has	been	constrained	in	hiring	the	

required	number	of	staff,	which	is	affecting	its	ability	to	execute	its	mandate	

optimally.	The	unit	is	currently	housed	in	the	Enforcement	and	Exemptions	

division,	and	the	aim	is	for	it	to	become	a	standalone	division.	

Investigations	into	abuse	of	dominance
In	 the	 period	 under	 review,	 7	 of	 the	 investigations	 initiated	 by	 the	

Commissioner	 involved	 allegations	 of	 abuse	 of	 dominance,	 and	

these	 investigations	 are	 still	 ongoing.	 This	 was	 in	 addition	 to	 a	 further	

36	investigations	involving	allegations	of	abuse	of	dominance	carried	over	

from	the	previous	financial	year.	While	9	of	these	were	completed	and	were	

not	referred	to	the	Tribunal	as	the	Commission	did	not	find	any	contravention	

of	the	Act,	22	complaints	are	still	under	investigation.	The	investigation	of	 

5	complaints	was	completed	and	they	were	referred	to	the	Tribunal.	

In	 October	 2009,	 the	 Commission	 referred	 5	 complaints	 involving	 

allegations of abuse of dominance against Telkom (including those lodged 

by	 Internet	 Solutions,	 Verizon	 South	 Africa	 Ltd,	 MultiChoice	 Subscriber	

Management	Services	 (MWeb)	and	 Internet	Solutions) as one referral as 

the complaints all dealt with conduct relating to the backbone required for 

the	provision	of	internet	and	data	services.	

These	complaints	were	lodged	at	different	times	between	2005	and	2007	

but	for	purposes	of	investigation	the	Commission	combined	the	complaints,	

as	they	raised	overlapping	issues.

Addressing	this	conduct	decisively	should	contribute	to	the	promotion	of	

competitive	outcomes	in	the	ICT	industry	to	the	benefit	of	the	economy.

Box 3:  Supreme Court of Appeal confirms the Commission’s 
jurisdiction in telecommunications

In	relation	to	a	matter	referred	by	the	Commission	against	Telkom	to	the	

Tribunal	in	February	2004,	the	Competition	Commission	has	been	fighting	

various	 legal	 challenges	 brought	 by	 Telkom.	 In	 the	 reporting	 period,	

the Commission won its appeal in the Supreme Court of Appeal in the 

decision	of	 the	High	Court	 to	 review	and	set	aside	 its	decision	 to	 refer	

certain	complaints	of	anticompetitive	conduct	by	Telkom.	

In	 its	 application	 to	 the	 High	 Court,	 Telkom	 challenged	 the	 Tribunal’s	

jurisdiction	to	hear	the	complaint	and	had	sought	an	order	setting	aside	

the	 decision	 to	 refer	 it	 to	 the	 Tribunal	 on	 the	 basis	 that	 it	 was	 vitiated	

by	bias	or	prejudice	and	by	other	procedural	irregularities.	The	Supreme	

Court	of	Appeal	held	that	the	Tribunal	had	competence	to	adjudicate	the	

complaint	 and	 that	 there	were	no	grounds	 to	 review	 the	Commission’s	

decision to refer. The effect of this decision was that Telkom was obliged to 

answer	to	the	merits	of	the	Commission’s	complaint	referral,	filed	with	the	

Tribunal	in	February	2004.	This	matter	is	still	pending	before	the	Tribunal.

Abuse	of	dominance	cases	are	complex,	involving	a	combination	of	legal,	

economic,	 and	 investigative	 skills.	 Unlike	 cartel	 infringements,	 abuse	 of	

dominance is not per se	 illegal.	Mere	 evidence	 of	 an	 agreement	 (to	 fix	

prices	 for	 example)	 is	 not	 sufficient	 to	 establish	 a	 contravention;	 the	

Commission	 is	 required	 to	 weigh	 up	 anticompetitive	 effects	 against	 the	

claimed	efficiencies	and	other	benefits	 that	may	arise	as	a	 result	 of	 the	

unilateral	 conduct	 of	 dominant	 firms.	 This,	 in	 turn,	 places	 considerable	

strain	on	the	Commission’s	resources	as	these	cases	tend	to	take	longer	

to	 investigate	 and	 often	 require	 larger	 teams	 with	 a	 wider	 set	 of	 skills.	

Construction

Intermediate industrial 
products

Food	and	agro-processing

Others



16

Nevertheless,	effective	enforcement	of	the	Chapter	2	provisions	on	abuse	

of	dominance	remains	an	important	component	of	promoting	competitive	

outcomes	in	the	South	African	economy.	

The	way	forward
It	 is	 imperative	 that	 the	Commission	 continue	 to	 build	 capacity.	 It	 plans	

to	 do	 this	 by	 developing	 the	 cartels	 unit	 into	 a	 standalone	 division	

specialising	in	cartel	investigation	and	enforcement.	Emphasis	will	also	be	

placed	on	deepening	capacity	and	expertise	in	the	investigation	of	abuse	

of	dominance	and	restrictive	vertical	and	horizontal	practices	that	require	

the	 Commission	 to	 show	 that	 the	 anticompetitive	 effects	 outweigh	 any	

efficiency	justifications.		

The	 Enforcement	 and	 Exemptions	 division,	 and	 the	 Commission	 as	 a	

whole,	will	continue	to	be	frustrated	in	achieving	these	objectives	if	human	

resource	capacity	 is	not	 improved	and	 increased.	This	will	 involve	hiring	

more	 staff	 and	 devoting	 more	 resources	 to	 training	 and	 development.	

Although	important	steps	have	been	taken	to	do	this,	the	current	resources	

and	 budgetary	 limitations	 are	 preventing	 the	 levels	 of	 success	 that	 the	

organisation would like.

Enforcement and Exemptions
Front row: Neo	Chabane;	Mapato	Rakhudu;	Vanessa	Kruger;	Cassandra	Mongake;	Sally	Mashiane;	Xolela	Nokele;	Mosima	Tambani;	
Keith Weeks 
Second row: William	Kganare;	Nyadzani	Mabasa;	Thapi	Matsaneng;	Samantha	Niemann;	Nompucuko	Nontombana;	Lameez	Vania;	
Makgale	Mohlala;	Shadrack	Rambau;	Edwina	Ramohlola
Third row: Sipho	Mtombeni;	Perceive	Maswanganyi;	Phil	Alves;	Johan	Liebenberg;	Kwena	Mahlakoana;	Nelly	Sakata;	Katlego	Monareng	
Back row: Elphus	Mudimeli;	Anthony	Ndzabandzaba;	Neo	Molefe;	Thabelo	Masithulela;	Lebogang	Madiba;	Toto	Fiduli;	Marlon	Dasarath	
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Mergers and Acquisitions 
The	 Mergers	 and	 Acquisitions	 division	 is	 responsible	 for	 administering	

Chapter	 3	 of	 the	 Competition	 Act.	 The	 division’s	 core	 function	 is	 to	

investigate	and	analyse	mergers.

Chapter	 3	 of	 the	Competition	 Act	 requires	merging	 parties	 to	 notify	 the	

Commission of a merger before it is implemented if the proposed merger 

meets	 or	 exceeds	 the	 threshold	 stipulated	by	 the	Minister	 of	 Trade	 and	

Industry	for	 intermediate	and	large	mergers.	The	threshold	relates	to	the	

turnover	and	asset	values	of	the	acquiring	and	target	firms.	Small	mergers	

may	be	notified	voluntarily	or	on	the	Commission’s	directive.	

The	 Commission	 investigates	 all	 notified	mergers	 to	 determine	 whether	

the	 transaction	 is	 likely	 to	 lead	 to	 a	 substantial	 prevention	 or	 lessening	

of	competition,	or	have	a	negative	effect	on	the	public	 interest.	Similarly,	

it	 seeks	 to	 encourage	 a	 dynamic	 environment	 by	 evaluating	 mergers	

that	 may	 result	 in	 innovation	 or	 efficiency	 gains,	 and	 hence	 contribute	

to	 a	more	 competitive	 landscape.	 The	Commission	 has	 the	 authority	 to	

approve,	 approve	with	 conditions,	 or	 prohibit	 intermediate	mergers.	 For	

large mergers the Commission makes a recommendation to the Tribunal to 

approve,	approve	with	conditions,	or	prohibit	the	merger.

Activities	
In	the	year	under	review,	two	factors	resulted	in	fewer	merger	notifications	 

to	the	Commission.	First,	the	threshold	for	notifying	mergers	increased;	and	

second,	 the	 economy	was	 just	 beginning	 to	 recover	 from	 the	economic	

slowdown.	 From	 1	 April	 2009,	 the	 combined	 threshold	 for	 mandatory	

notification	 of	 intermediate	 mergers	 increased	 to	 R560	 million	 from	 the	

previous	 R200	 million,	 with	 the	 threshold	 for	 the	 target	 firm	 increasing	

from	 R30	million	 to	 R80	million.	 The	 combined	 threshold	 for	mandatory	

notification	of	large	mergers	increased	from	R3.5	billion	to	R6.6	billion,	with	

the	threshold	for	the	target	firm	increasing	from	R100	million	to	R190	million.	

The	aim	of	the	significant	increase	in	merger	thresholds	is	to	decrease	the	

number	of	mergers	that	require	notification	and	to	lighten	the	administrative	

load	of	the	Commission.	While	this	change	definitely	affected	the	number	

of	merger	notifications	in	the	period	under	review,	the	depressed	economic	

environment	also	contributed	to	the	sharp	decline	(see	table	1).

Table 1:  Number of notified mergers over a three year period

Year 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10

Small 13 9 10

Intermediate 394 303 136

Large 106 103 44

Total 513 415 190

Source: Competition Commission

About	 8	 percent	 of	 the	 total	 number	 of	 transactions	 notified	 to	 the	

Commission	related	to	firms	in	financial	distress.	

Table	2	shows	that	some	of	the	merger	and	acquisition	transactions	resulted	

in	about	2,000	job	losses,	summarising	the	number	of	skilled	and	unskilled	

jobs	 lost	as	a	 result	of	merger	activity.	The	 losses	occurred	 in	19	of	 the	 

190	transactions	notified	to	the	Commission	during	the	period	under	review.	

Figure 6:  Outcome of merger reviews for 2007/08, 2008/09 and 
2009/10 

Source: Competition Commission
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Most	job	losses	in	both	the	skilled	and	unskilled	categories	were	a	result	

of	 two	 transactions:	 Nedbank	 acquiring	 Imperial	 Bank,	 and	 Harmony	

acquiring	Pamodzi	Free	State	(Pty)	Ltd	(see	boxes	4	and	5).

Table 2: Job losses arising from mergers

Skilled Unskilled

Total	number	of	anticipated	job	losses	 715 1,542

Job	losses	(excluding	the	transactions	covered	in	boxes	
4 and 5)

251 342

Source: Competition Commission

During	the	reporting	period,	11	transactions	were	approved	on	the	condition	

that	 the	 likely	 effect	 of	 the	 transaction	 on	 employment	 be	 mitigated.	 In	

order	 to	 try	 and	 reduce	 the	 number	 of	 job	 losses	 occurring	 as	 a	 result	

of	mergers,	or	mitigate	their	effects,	the	Commission	restricted	job	losses	

by	conditionally	approving	mergers	and	forcing	parties	to	up-skill	affected	

employees	to	enable	them	to	get	work	elsewhere	or	become	self-employed.	

 
Box 4:  Nedbank and Imperial Bank: 464 job losses for skilled 

employees 

The	Commission	approved	this	merger	despite	the	estimated	retrenchment	

of	260	permanent	employees	and	204	temporary	employees	that	would	

result	 from	 the	merger.	 In	 approving	 the	merger,	 the	Commission	 took	

into consideration that the retrenchments affected less than 1 percent of 

the entire workforce of the merging parties. And out of the permanent 

employees	that	would	be	affected,	most	are	skilled,	qualified	individuals	

with	years	of	experience,	and	 they	would	be	able	 to	find	work	at	other	

institutions. The Commission was mindful of an agreement with the union 

to	 redeploy	and	 re-skill	 staff	 to	minimise	 the	negative	effects	as	 far	 as	

possible. The Competition Tribunal made adherence to the agreement a 

condition	on	which	the	merger	was	approved.

Box 5:  Harmony and Pamodzi Free State: 1,200 job losses for 
unskilled employees 

This	merger	was	approved	by	the	Commission	despite	the	resulting	job	

losses	of	approximately	1,200.	In	approving	the	merger,	the	Commission	

was	mindful	of	 the	 fact	 that	 if	 the	merger	was	not	approved,	a	 total	of	

3,606	 employees	 of	 Pamodzi	 Free	 State	 would	 have	 permanently	 lost	

their	 jobs,	 as	 Pamodzi	 Free	 State	 was	 facing	 final	 liquidation.	 At	 the	

time	 the	 merger	 transaction	 was	 notified,	 employment	 contracts	 had	

already	 been	 suspended.	 The	 National	 Union	 of	 Mineworkers	 and	

Solidarity,	 the	 two	 unions	 representing	 the	 largest	 number	 of	 Pamodzi	

employees	 had	 signed	 agreements	 with	 Harmony	 Gold	 Mining	

Company	 Limited	 in	 terms	 of	 which	Harmony	 undertook	 to	 re-engage	  

2,400	employees	within	24	months.	The	unions	provided	letters	of	comfort	

in	 support	 of	 the	 merger.	 The	 Competition	 Tribunal	 made	 Harmony’s	

undertakings	conditions	for	the	approval	of	the	merger			

Merger	activity	by	sector	
Figure	7	shows	the	industries	in	which	the	Commission	decided	on	mergers	

and	acquisitions.	There	was	a	marked	increase	in	activity	in	the	wholesale	

sector	(increasing	to	12	percent	from	5	percent	in	2008/09).	A	particularly	

active	 firm	 was	 Massmart.	 The	 only	 transaction	 that	 the	 Commission	

prohibited	in	the	reporting	period	was	Massmart’s	proposed	acquisition	of	

Finro	Cash	&	Carry.	The	Competition	Tribunal	subsequently	approved	the	

transaction	without	conditions	(see	box	6).	

Figure 7:  Merger decisions by sector 
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Box 6: Massmart and Finro Cash & Carry

The Commission recommended to the Tribunal that it prohibit the proposed 

transaction	between	Massmart	and	Finro	Cash	&	Carry.	The	Commission	

was	of	the	view	that	the	transaction	would	result	in	higher	wholesale	prices	

of	grocery	products	to	the	detriment	of	low	income	consumers.	The	Tribunal	

subsequently	 approved	 the	 transaction	 unconditionally	 after	 the	 hearing	

that	was	held	on	the	matter	in	August	2009.	The	main	focus	of	the	Tribunal’s	

decision	was	the	analysis	of	the	potential	anticompetitive	horizontal	unilateral	

effects	arising	in	the	relevant	market	as	a	result	of	the	merger.	

The	 Tribunal	 found	 that	 Finro	 is	 undoubtedly	 an	 effective	 competitor	 to	

Massmart	 in	 the	 Port	 Elizabeth	 grocery	 wholesale	 market.	 However,	 the	

Tribunal	stated	that	this	factor	and	the	fact	that	the	market	would	be	highly	

concentrated	 post-merger	 must	 be	 assessed	 in	 the	 context	 of	 other	

evidence.	This	was	on	 the	basis	 that	 there	 is	 substantial	differentiation	 in	

this	market,	with	significant	differences	in	individual	firms	in	terms	of	product	

range	 and	 product	 mix,	 customer	 profiles,	 margins,	 location,	 delivery	

arrangements	 and	 credit	 terms.	 It	 stated	 that	 post-merger,	 there	 would	

still	be	significant	competitors	in	the	relevant	market,	 including	three	large	

wholesalers	 effectively	 competing	 with	 the	merged	 entity	 as	 well	 as	 four	

smaller competitors. 

Evidence	provided	in	the	hearing	and	which	the	Tribunal	accepted	showed	

that a number of constraints that the Commission had disputed in its 

recommendations	 were	 in	 fact	 relevant	 and	 could	 collectively	 inhibit	 the	

merged	 entity’s	 ability	 to	 raise	 prices	 post-merger.	 These	 are:	 the	 ability	

of	 incumbent	 firms	 to	 expand	 and/or	 reposition	 their	 competitive	 offering	

in	response	to	a	price	incentive	(for	example,	rival	firms	may	reposition	or	

expand	their	product	ranges);	the	significant	direct	supply	of	certain	product	

lines	by	grocery	manufacturers	to	grocery	retailers;	and	retailers’	procurement	

of	 suppliers	 through	buying	groups,	which	 is	 a	distinct	 alternative	 for	 the	

larger retailers. 

The	Tribunal	concluded	that	the	Commission’s	scenario	of	the	merged	entity’s	

ability	to	unilaterally	increase	prices	post-merger	was	weak.	It	also	maintained	

that there was no basis to conclude that consumers would be worse off as a 

result	of	this	acquisition,	either	from	a	pricing	or	service	delivery	perspective.	

It	acknowledged	that	there	are	indeed	high	barriers	to	entry	in	the	relevant	

market,	but	concluded	that,	based	on	the	available	evidence,	the	acquisition	

was	unlikely	to	result	in	a	substantial	prevention	or	lessening	of	competition	

in	the	relevant	market,	either	from	a	horizontal	or	vertical	perspective.	In	its	

decision,	 the	 Tribunal	 also	provided	 some	guidance	 on	 the	 future	 use	 of	

economic	modelling	and	customer	survey	and	statistical	data	analysis.	

Tracking	merger	activity	
The	division	has	 improved	its	processes	for	 tracking	merger	activity	with	

the	 aim	 of	 ensuring	 not	 only	 that	 there	 is	 compliance	 with	 the	 Act,	 but	

also	 to	review	and	consider	small	mergers	 that	are	 likely	 to	substantially	

prevent	or	lessen	competition.	To	create	awareness	of	this,	the	Commission	

published	a	guide	to	small	merger	activity,	which	indicates	that	firms	that	

are	 subject	 to	 current	 enforcement	 investigation	 and/or	 prosecution	 are	

requested	 to	 inform	 the	Commission	of	 any	 small	mergers	 that	 they	are	

proposing, after which the Commission will inform the parties whether or 

not	they	need	to	notify	the	Commission.	The	reaction	to	the	guide	was	slow	

at	 first,	 but	with	more	 firms	coming	 forward,	 there	 is	 clearly	 a	culture	of	

compliance	developing.	The	Commission	received	16	requests	in	the	year	

under	review.

Mergers and Acquisitions
Front row:	Maarten	van	Hoven;	Brenda	Maseko;	Lindiwe	Khumalo;	
Themba	Mahlangu;	Nazeera	Ramroop;	Grashum	Mutizwa	
Back row:	Alex	Constantinou;	Thabelo	Ravhugoni;	Francina	Yedwa;	
Mfundo Ngobese 
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Legal	Services
The	 Legal	 Services	 division’s	 primary	 responsibility	 is	 managing	 all	 the	

Commission’s	litigation	before	the	Tribunal	and	courts.	It	serves	as	the	exit	

point	 for	complex	 large	mergers,	 intermediate	merger	decisions	 that	are	

appealed,	 and	 complaints	 that	 are	 referred	 to	 the	 Tribunal.	 The	division	

also manages litigation in the Competition Appeal Court, the High Court 

and	 the	 Supreme	 Court	 of	 Appeal.	 The	 division	 assists	 the	 Mergers	

and	 Acquisitions,	 and	 Enforcement	 and	 Exemptions	 divisions	 with	 their	

respective	 investigations	 of	 mergers	 and	 complaints	 by	 participating	 in	

investigations	as	team	members	and	providing	legal	support	and	analysis.	

The	division	also	provides	advisory	opinions	and	clarifications	to	external	

stakeholders	and	non-case	related	legal	advice	to	the	Commission.		

In	the	year	under	review,	the	division	saw	a	steady	increase	in	its	involvement	

in	enforcement	cases	and	a	decline	 in	merger-related	cases.	This	 trend	

mirrors	the	Commission’s	strategic	decision	to	shift	its	focus	to	addressing	

competition	concerns	in	the	identified	priority	sectors,	particularly	in	relation	

to enforcement.

Activities

Prosecution 

In	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 division	 had	

a caseload of 148 cases, of which 41 were 

merger	 cases	 and	 107	 were	 enforcement	

cases.	 Of	 the	 enforcement	 cases,	 32	 were	

referrals,	 6	 investigations	 were	 finalised	

and	 69	 are	 still	 under	 investigation.	 Of	 the	

32	 referrals,	 20	 were	 carried	 over	 from	 the	

previous	 financial	 year	 and	 12	 were	 new	

referrals.	 A	 record	 16	 complaints	 were	

referred to the Competition Tribunal. Of these 

complaints, 9 related to cartel conduct, the 

investigations	 of	 which	 were	 prompted	 by	 applications	 for	 leniency	 in	

terms	of	the	Commission’s	corporate	leniency	policy	in	various	industries,	

which	included:	maize	and	wheat	milling,	the	production	and	distribution	of	

tyres,	the	production	and	supply	of	bitumen	products,	the	production	and	

supply	of	mining	roof	bolts,	reinforcing	mesh	and	fencing	products,	and	the	

production	of	long	steel	products	such	as	rebar	by	primary	steel	producers.	

Five	 of	 the	 complaints	 referred	 to	 the	 Tribunal	 pertained	 to	 allegations	

of	 Telkom’s	 abuse	 of	 dominance	 behaviour	 in	 the	 telecommunications	

industry,	 including	 exclusionary	 conduct	 and	 excessive	 pricing,	 and	

the	 remaining	 2	 involved	 allegations	 of	 resale	 price	 maintenance.	 In	

the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 division	 also	 attended	 to	 the	 prosecution	 of	 

5 matters before the Competition Appeal Court and 1 before the Supreme 

Court	 of	 Appeal.	 Two	 of	 these	 matters	 pertained	 to	 the	 interlocutory	

applications	 that	 have	 been	 mounted	 by	 the	 respondents	 against	 the	

Commission’s	prosecution	of	the	milk	cartel	which,	despite	being	referred	

to	the	Tribunal	in	2007,	has	yet	to	be	heard	on	the	merits.	

The	Tribunal’s	findings	in	the	Commission’s	referral	against	Senwes	Limited	

were	 also	 the	 subject	 of	 appeals	 to	 the	 Competition	 Appeal	 Court	 and	

the Supreme Court of Appeal. All these matters are still pending before 

the Supreme Court of Appeal.In the course of its prosecution of pending 

complaints,	the	division	has	attended	to	defending	the	Commission	against	

a	number	of	interlocutory	challenges	that	have	been	filed	by	respondents.	

These	cases	have	mainly	sought	 to	challenge	 the	Commission’s	 internal	

procedures	and	to	obtain	access	to	the	Commission’s	investigation	record	

prior	to	the	close	of	pleadings.	Interlocutory	applications	delay	the	hearing	

of	cases	on	their	merits	and	add	to	the	Commission’s	high	litigation	costs.	

Settlement 

Where	possible,	 the	Commission	uses	settlement	as	an	appropriate	way	

of curtailing proceedings in the Competition Tribunal. This is dependent 

on	the	Commission	being	able	to	negotiate	with	a	willing	party	appropriate	

terms	 of	 settlement	 that	 address	 the	 anticompetitive	 conduct	 and	 that	

enable	 the	 Commission,	 through	 negotiation,	 to	 achieve	 an	 outcome	

it	 would	 probably	 have	 achieved	 if	 it	 had	 prosecuted	 the	matter	 in	 the	

Tribunal.	 Invariably,	when	 settling	matters,	 the	Commission	 requires	 that	

the agreement incorporates, among others, the following material terms: 

an	admission	of	a	contravention	of	the	Act;	payment	of	an	administrative	

penalty	and/or	where	appropriate,	the	implementation	of	any	other	remedy;	

cessation	of	the	anticompetitive	conduct;	implementation	of	a	compliance	

programme	as	a	tool	to	empower	employees,	management	and	directors	

and	enable	the	monitoring	and	detection	of	any	future	contraventions	of	the	
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Act;	and	the	party’s	full	cooperation	with	the	Commission	in	its	prosecution	

of	any	other	respondents.		

 

In	 the	 period	 under	 review,	 the	 division	 assisted	 the	 Commission	 in	

negotiating and concluding 5 consent and settlement agreements. The 

most	 significant	 was	 the	 agreement	 concluded	 with	 Sasol	 Chemical	

Industries	Limited	on	behalf	of	Sasol	Nitro,	its	operating	division	active	in	the	

nitrogenous fertiliser market. This agreement was concluded in settlement 

of	 that	 part	 of	 the	 complaints	 referred	 to	 the	 Tribunal	 in	 April	 2005	 and	

May	20061,	relating	to	a	contravention	of	section	4(1)(b)	of	the	Act.	Sasol	

paid	a	record	penalty	of	R250	680	000.00	(two	hundred	and	fifty	million,	

six	hundred	and	eighty	thousand	rands).	Despite	the	obvious	benefits	of	

early	cooperation	and	settlement,	the	Commission’s	experience	has	been	

that the settlement negotiations it engages in with respondents tend to be 

protracted	and	time-consuming,	even	in	circumstances	where	a	party	does	

not	dispute	the	Commission’s	findings.	Through	the	Legal	Services	division	

together	 with	 team	members	 from	 other	 divisions,	 the	 Commission	 has	

adopted	a	strategy	that	seeks	to	ensure	that	the	prosecution	of	cases	is	not	

delayed	due	to	protracted	negotiations.	This	includes	the	principle	that	the	

level	of	penalty	imposed	reflects	the	value	that	the	Commission	places	on	

cooperation	and	early	settlement.	It	is	hoped	that	all	these	measures	yield	

an	increase	in	the	number	of	finalised	consent	and	settlement	agreements	

increasing	 in	 the	 next	 financial	 year,	 which	 should	 be	 evident	 in	 more	

matters	being	resolved	through	negotiated	settlement.

Table 3: Consent agreements (R million)

Respondent
Market/

sector
Description of  

conduct
Conditions of 

the order

Penalty 
amounts  

(R million)

Cobro Concrete 
(Pty)	Ltd Construction

Price	fixing	and	
fixing	of	trading	

conditions, market 
allocation and col-
lusive	tendering

Penalty,	admis-
sion of guilt, 
compliance 
programme

R4,023

Marley	Pipe	 
Systems	(Pty)	

Ltd

Steel tubes and 
pipes

Price	fixing	and	
fixing	of	trading	

conditions, market 
allocation and col-
lusive	tendering

Penalty,	admis-
sion of guilt, 
compliance 
programme

R31,078

BMW	South	Af-
rica	(Pty)	Ltd	t/a	
BMW	Motorrad	
and 13 others

Retail motor 
cycles

Abuse of dominance 
and customer fore-

closure

Behavioural	
remedy No	penalty

Sasol Chemi-
cal Industries 

Limited
Gas

Price	fixing	and	
fixing	of	trading	

conditions

Penalty,	admis-
sion guilt, 

compliance 
programme

R250,680

Concrete	Units Construction
Price	fixing	and	
fixing	of	trading	

conditions

Penalty,	admis-
sion of guilt, 
compliance 
programme

R5,764

Source: Competition Commission

Figure 8: Total administrative penalties levied by the 
 Commission through consent orders  

Advisory opinions and clarifications

Through	the	Legal	Services	division,	the	Commission	provides	non-binding	

advisory	opinions	and	clarifications	on	the	interpretation	of	the	Act.

In	the	reporting	period,	the	Commission	received	32	requests	for	advisory	

opinions	 and	 150	 requests	 for	 clarifications.	 The	 substantial	 increase	 in	

requests	 was	 unexpected	 and	 the	 result	 of	 the	 growing	 awareness	 of	

the	Commission’s	work	and	 role	 in	 regulating	competition	 in	 the	market.	

Advisory	 opinions	 are	 largely	 sought	 by	 firms	 of	 attorneys	 on	 behalf	

of	 their	 clients,	 while	 clarifications	 are	 submitted	 by	 individuals.	 The	

issues	 raised	 in	 advisory	 opinions	 range	 from	 the	acquisition	 of	 control,	

exclusive	 agreements,	 exclusionary	 conduct	 and	 the	 vexed	 topic	 of	

information	 exchange.	With	 regard	 to	 clarifications,	 however,	 it	 is	 noted	

that	approximately	90	percent	of	these	pertain	to	non-competition	related	

matters	 such	 as	 sms	 competitions,	 disputes	with	 service	 providers	 and	

concerns about unfairness in the awarding of tenders.

1 Nutriflo	CC	vs.	Sasol	Chemical	Industries	(Pty)	Ltd,	Omnia	Fertiliser	Ltd	and	Yara	South	Africa	(Pty)	Ltd	CC	case	number	2003Dec770	referred	to	the	Tribunal	on	4	May	2005	and	
Profert	(Pty)	Ltd	vs	Sasol	Chemical	Industries	(Pty)	Ltd	,	Omnia	Fertiliser	Ltd	and	Yara	South	Africa	(Pty)	Ltd	CC	case	number	2004	Aug1148	referred	to	the	Tribunal	on	25	May	
2006

Source: Competition Commission

R99,	384,870

R331,	423,	704

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10

R487,	262,	183
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Figure 9: Number of advisory opinions and clarifications issued

Source: Competition Commission

Highlighted cases

Competition	Commission	vs	Pioneer	Foods	Pty	Ltd

The Commission prosecuted the remaining member of the bread cartel, 

Pioneer	Foods	(Pty)	Ltd	over	a	period	of	six	days	in	June	2009.	In	February	

2010,	the	Tribunal	handed	down	its	decision,	in	which	it	found	that	Pioneer	

Foods	had	contravened	section	4(1)(b)	of	the	Act.	In	its	decision,	the	Tribunal	

awarded	a	record	breaking	10	percent	of	the	relevant	turnover	of	Sasko,	

Pioneer’s	bread	division,	 in	 respect	of	one	of	 the	complaints.	This	 is	 the	

highest	percentage	penalty	that	the	Tribunal	has	awarded	to	date.	Despite	

this, the Commission has appealed this decision as it concluded that the 

Tribunal	misconstrued	its	powers	when	determining	that	the	penalty	should	

be	based	only	on	the	firm’s	turnover	from	the	bread	division.	The	penalty	

it	 imposed	was	 therefore	 not	 a	 sufficient	 deterrent	 and	 the	Commission	

contends	that	 it	should	rather	be	based	on	the	firm’s	wider	turnover.	The	

appeal is pending before the Competition Appeal Court and will be heard 

in	September	2010.	

Competition	Commission	vs	Telkom	Ltd	and	
another 

The Competition Commission appealed the decision of the High Court to 

review	and	set	aside	its	decision	to	refer	certain	complaints	of	anticompetitive	

conduct	 by	 Telkom	 to	 the	Competition	 Tribunal.	 In	 its	 application	 to	 the	

High	Court,	Telkom	had	challenged	the	Tribunal’s	 jurisdiction	 to	hear	 the	

complaint and had sought an order setting aside the decision to refer on 

the	basis	that	it	was	vitiated	by	bias	or	prejudice	and	by	other	procedural	

irregularities. 

The Supreme Court of Appeal held that the Tribunal had competence to 

adjudicate	 the	 complaint	 and	 that	 there	 were	 no	 grounds	 to	 review	 the	

Commission’s	decision	to	refer	the	complaint	to	the	Tribunal.	In	terms	of	this	

decision,	Telkom	was	obliged	to	answer	to	the	merits	of	the	Commission’s	

complaint	referral,	which	it	had	filed	with	the	Tribunal	in	February	2004.	This	

matter is pending before the Tribunal.

Competition	Commission	vs	Senwes	and	another	

In	December	2006,	the	Commission	referred	a	complaint	against	Senwes,	a	

dominant supplier of grain storage facilities, to the Tribunal. In its complaint, 

the	Commission	alleged	that	Senwes	was	engaged	in	exclusionary	conduct	

as it had induced farmers not to deal with its competitors in the market 

for	the	trading	of	physical	grain.	In	addition,	through	its	differential	pricing	

policy	 in	 which	 it	 charged	 farmers	 and	 traders	 a	 different	 price	 for	 the	

same	service,	the	Commission	alleged	that	the	firm	was	engaged	in	price	

discrimination. The Commission further claimed that Senwes was engaging 

in	a	margin	squeeze	as	it	was	charging	grain	traders	a	higher	fee	than	its	

trading arm, Senwes Trading, paid for the storage of grain. All this resulted 

in the undermining of competition in the grain trading market.  

In	February	2009,	the	Tribunal	found	that	Senwes’	conduct	did	not	constitute	

a	contravention	of	sections	8(d)(i)	and	9(1)	as	pleaded	by	the	Commission,	

but	instead	constituted	a	margin	squeeze	in	contravention	of	the	general	

prohibition	 against	 exclusionary	 conduct	 contained	 in	 section	 8(c)	 as	 it	

pleaded	in	the	alternative.	This	decision	is	important	in	that	it	recognises	

margin	squeeze,	which	is	not	expressly	mentioned	in	the	Act,	as	a	class	of	

exclusionary	conduct	that	contravenes	the	Act	under	section	8(c).	

Senwes	 appealed	 the	 Tribunal’s	 decision	 of	 February	 2009	 to	 the	

Competition	Appeal	Court	 in	November	2009.	The	Commission	opposed	

Senwes’	appeal	and	in	turn	cross-appealed	the	Tribunal’s	dismissal	of	the	

inducement	 complaint.	 In	 its	decision	handed	down	 in	November	2009,	

the	Competition	Appeal	Court	dismissed	the	appeal	and	the	Commission’s	

cross	appeal.	Senwes	appealed	the	Competition	Appeal	Court’s	decision	

on	merit	and	its	application	for	special	leave	to	appeal	is	pending	before	

the Supreme Court of Appeal.
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Policy	and	Research
The	Policy	and	Research	division	is	responsible	for	undertaking	economic	

analysis	for	merger	and	enforcement	cases.	Division	members	work	with	

teams	from	the	different	divisions.	

The	 division	 continued	 to	 grow	 its	 capacity	 and	 expertise	 to	 undertake	

economic	 analysis	 of	 competition	 matters.	 This	 was	 matched	 by	 the	

demands	 for	 this	 expertise	 in	 complex	 cases	 under	 investigation	 such	

as	 on	 information	 exchange	 between	 competitors	 which	 might	 lead	 to	

collusion.	Other	highlights	included	several	papers	presented	at	local	and	

international	conferences,	contributions	to	the	Commission	and	Tribunal’s	

Ten	 Year	 Review,	 and	 work	 on	 the	 Joint	 Food	 Project	 together	 with	 the	

competition	authorities	of	Egypt	and	Zambia.

The	major	 analyses	 for	 cases	 of	 possible	 anticompetitive	 conduct	 were	

those	 in	 the	 Commission’s	 priority	 sectors,	 discussed	 elsewhere	 in	 this	

report.	 In	 addition,	 the	 division	 undertook	 in-depth	 economic	 analysis	

for	 investigations	 into	 telecommunications.	 These	 included	 looking	 into	

conduct on the part of Telkom where the Commission concluded that Telkom 

had	charged	excessive	prices	for	high	bandwidth	for	national	leased	lines	

and	had	excluded	its	competitors	in	downstream	markets	such	as	in	the	

supply	of	virtual	private	networks	and	related	services.

The	division	has	also	been	 involved	 in	substantial	work	on	cartel-related	

investigations.	Many	cartel	cases	related	to	agreements	on	price	fixing	or	

customer allocation, that are prohibited per se and do not require economic 

analysis.	However,	the	Commission	is	increasingly	focusing	on	information	

exchange	arrangements	that	may	amount	to	an	agreement	to	coordinate	

pricing	and/or	market	shares.	The	division	 is	also	examining	 factors	 that	

facilitate	 ongoing	 coordination.	 Without	 addressing	 these	 factors,	 firms	

can	 continue	 to	 charge	 above	 competitive	 prices	 through	 dampening	

competitive	rivalry	between	themselves.	Over	the	year,	the	division	worked	

on	29	merger	cases,	several	of	which	involved	economic	evidence	being	

presented at the Competition Tribunal.

International networks
The	 field	 of	 competition	 economics	 research	 is	 international	 both	 because	

markets	and	firms	operate	across	borders	and	because	the	body	of	literature	

and	analysis	is	international	in	nature.	

In	 terms	 of	 economic	 research,	 the	 division	 has	 been	 part	 of	 the	

Commission’s	 team	working	on	 the	Joint	Food	Project	with	authorities	 in	

Egypt	 and	 Zambia.	 The	 project	 involved	 studies	 of	 the	 same	 products	

across	the	different	countries.	Maize	milling	and	fertiliser	were	studied	in	

both	Zambia	and	South	Africa,	and	edible	oil	was	studied	 in	Egypt	and	

South	Africa,	while	Egypt	also	looked	at	the	implications	of	a	large	informal	

sector	 for	 competition	 analysis	 of	 food	 markets.	 The	 project	 provided	

insights	into	the	nature	of	competition	and	possible	anticompetitive	conduct	

in food markets. 

Over	 time,	 the	 division	 has	 been	 building	 wider	 international	 networks	

to	 build	 its	 analytical	 capabilities	 through	 learning	 from	 international	

experience	 and	 drawing	 on	 international	 expertise.	 In	 2009/10,	 the	

Commission	drew	on	leading	international	competition	experts	to	assist	in	

key	competition	issues,	including	information	exchange	and	exclusionary	

abuse of dominance cases. These included professors Massimo Motta, 

expert	 in	 competition	 and	market	 regulation	 at	 the	 Barcelona	Graduate	

School of Economics; Joseph Harrington, professor of economics at 

Johns	Hopkins	University	and	Kai	Uwe-Kühn,	competition	and	regulatory	

specialist	at	the	University	of	Michigan.		All	provided	high	level	training	and	

advice	to	case	teams.

Conferences, publications and  
economic briefs
An	important	part	of	the	division’s	work	is	contributing	to	the	understanding	

of	 competition	 more	 widely.	 This	 includes	 commenting	 on	 all	 policies,	

legislation	and	regulations	that	have	a	bearing	on	competition.	The	division	

submitted	several	comments	on	issues	of	telecommunications	regulation,	

and	 also	 commented	 on	 the	 Department	 of	 Trade	 and	 Industry’s	 new	

Industrial	Policy	Action	Plan	for	2010/11	to	2012/13.	Analyses	and	reviews	

were	done	 for	 the	Department	of	Economic	Development	on	 the	Eskom	

proposed	electricity	price	 increases,	and	on	competition	 issues	 in	 food,	

infrastructure and telecommunications.

The	division’s	staff	presented	papers	at	local	and	international	conferences	

on	a	variety	of	 topics	ranging	from	competition	 in	banking	to	 information	

exchange	(see	table	4).	Three	papers	were	published	as	 journal	articles	
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or	book	chapters.In	 the	year	under	 review.	The	division	also	wrote	eight	

briefing	 papers	 on	 key	 competition	 questions	 for	 internal	 use	 in	 the	

Commission	and	hosted	a	series	of	seminars	with	external	presenters.	

Table 4: Conference papers and publications

Author Publication

L. Mncube &  
H. Ratshisusu

‘On merger simulation and its potential role in South African 
merger	controls’,	South African Journal of Economic and Man-
agement Sciences

C.	Lavoie ‘South	Africa’s	Corporate	Leniency	Policy:	A	Five-Year	Review’,	
World Competition

S. Roberts &  
Z.	Rustomjee*

‘Industrial	policy	under	democracy:	apartheid’s	grown	up	infant	
industries?	Iscor	and	Sasol’,	Transformation 

S. Roberts

‘Competition	policy,	competitive	rivalry	and	a	developmental	
state	in	South	Africa’,	in	O.	Edigheji	ed.	Constructing a Demo-
cratic Development State in South Africa: Potentials and Chal-
lenges, HSRC Press, Pretoria

S. Roberts
‘Food production in South Africa: corporate conduct and eco-
nomic	policy’,	Initiative	for	Policy	Dialogue	Task	Force	on	Africa,	
Pretoria,	9-10	July,	2009

R. das Nair &  
L. Mncube

‘The	role	of	information	exchange	in	facilitating	collusion	–	in-
sights	from	selected	cases’,	Competition	Commission	and	Com-
petition	Tribunal	Ten	Year	Review	Conference,	3	-	4	September	
2009,	Pretoria

L. Mncube, M. 
Ngobese & L. 
Khumalo

‘Do	vertical	mergers	facilitate	upstream	collusion?’,	Competition	
Commission	and	Competition	Tribunal	Ten	Year	Review	Confer-
ence,	3	-	4	September	2009,	Pretoria

R. Hawthorne

‘Local	loop	unbundling	versus	encouraging	the	growth	of	wire-
less	local	loops:	lessons	for	South	Africa	from	other	countries’,	
Competition	Commission	and	Competition	Tribunal	Ten	Year	
Review	Conference,	3	-	4	September	2009,	Pretoria

K.	Moodaliyar*	
&	K.	Weeks

‘A framework for promoting competition in electronic communi-
cations:	clarifying	the	role	of	the	competition	authority	and	the	
sector	regulator’,	Competition	Commission	and	Competition	
Tribunal	Ten	Year	Review	Conference,	3	-	4	September	2009,	
Pretoria

P. Ncube &  
T. Paremoer

‘Competition	policy	in	South	Africa	and	small	business:	A	review	
of	enforcement	cases’,	Competition	Commission	and	Competi-
tion	Tribunal	Ten	Year	Review	Conference,	3	-	4	September	2009,	
Pretoria

H. Ratshisusu

‘The	use	of	behavioural	remedies	in	the	review	of	vertical	merg-
ers	in	South	Africa’,	Competition	Commission	and	Competition	
Tribunal	Ten	Year	Review	Conference,	3	-	4	September	2009,	
Pretoria

J. Greenberg
‘Testing	for	competition	in	the	South	African	banking	sector’,	
Economic	Society	of	South	Africa	conference,	30	September	
2009,	Cape	Town	

Source: Competition Commission

Notes: These include papers by employees of the Competition Commission and not only of the Policy 
and Research division

* Not an employee of the Competition Commission

Information resource centre 
Due	to	the	convergence	of	competition	law	worldwide,	the	Commission	has	

been	 following	 the	 jurisprudence	of	a	number	of	competition	authorities.	

More	 recently,	 following	 a	 comparison	 of	 Westlaw	 International	 and	

LexisNexis	 International,	 the	 two	 major	 international	 legal	 databases,	

the	 Competition	 Commission	 took	 out	 a	 company-wide	 subscription	 to	

LexisNexis	International.	During	the	rollout	of	the	service	and	throughout	the	

year,	68	staff	members	from	the	Commission	and	the	Tribunal	were	trained	

on	the	database.	 In	addition,	30	new	staff	members	received	orientation	

training	on	 the	centre’s	 resources.	 In	 total,	 the	 resource	centre	 recorded	

1,048	loans	of	publications,	added	18	new	titles	to	the	book	collection	and	

dealt with 398 requests for information.

Knowledge	management
In	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 planned	 implementation	 of	 an	 upgraded	

case	 management	 system	 with	 an	 enhanced	 knowledge	 management	

functionality	 was	 slowed	 down	 by	 technical	 problems,	 which	 the	

Commission	could	not	solve	on	its	own.	In	anticipation	of	the	implementation	

and	training	needs	for	the	new	system,	a	system	“super	user”	group	was	

established,	which	began	to	use	the	system	and	attempt	to	iron	out	some	

of	the	problems.	The	group	is	made	up	of	members	from	each	division.

While	 the	 primary	 focus	 of	 the	 knowledge	 management	 sphere	 was	 to	

resolve	 the	 problems	 of	 the	 implementation	 of	 the	 case	 management	

system,	and	 to	prepare	 for	 the	eventual	 transition	 into	 the	Commission’s	

environment,	 the	 Commission’s	 strategic	 goals	 in	 relation	 to	 knowledge	

management	 were	 also	 addressed.	 These	 included	 ongoing	 divisional	

capacity	 building	 sessions,	 internal	 and	 external	 knowledge	 sharing	

sessions, and the sharing and retention of materials and related knowledge 

gained	via	the	available	systems.

The	current	case	and	knowledge-based	systems	were	improved	throughout	

the	year,	enabling	improved	collaboration	for	cases	and	projects,	improved	

accessibility	and	improved	reporting	on	management	information	systems.	

Moreover,	 the	 existing	 system	 that	 supports	 improved	 knowledge	

management	 was	 enabled	 and	 exploited	more	 vigorously.	 This	 has	 led	

to	more	available	 information	being	completed	 in	 the	shared	knowledge	

space,	 and	 an	 increase	 in	 the	 use	 of	 the	 Commission’s	 organisational	

knowledge.
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Strategic planning
This	division	is	housed	within	the	Commissioner’s	office.	A	core	responsibility	

during	 the	 reporting	 period	 was	 to	 plan	 for	 the	 Commission’s	 strategic	

priorities	 for	 2010	 to	 2013.	 A	 planning	 workshop	 was	 held	 with	 all	 the	

middle	managers	and	the	executive.	It	was	addressed	by	Minister	of	Trade	

and	Industry	Rob	Davies	and	the	former	chairperson	of	the	Tribunal,	David	

Lewis.	The	focus	was	on	improving	efficiencies	and	ensuring	competitive	

outcomes	to	make	a	positive	impact	on	the	economy	in	the	context	of	the	

global economic recession. The strategic planning workshop determined 

three	key	strategic	priorities	for	the	Commission	over	the	next	three	years.	

These	are	for	the	Commission	to:	achieve	demonstrable	outcomes	through	

the continuous prioritisation of sectors and cases and the assessment of its 

impact	on	the	economy;	increase	its	engagements	with	key	stakeholders	

in	the	economy	to	influence	policy	formulation	and	decision-making;	and	

build	a	high	performance	competition	authority	through	efficient	business	

processes,	staff	development	and	retention,	and	effective	decision	making.	

Advocacy	and	education
The	Commission’s	advocacy	strategy	aims	to:	raise	awareness	about	the	

Competition	 Act	 and	 the	 role	 of	 the	 Commission;	 mobilise	 civil	 society	

organisations’	 active	 participation	 in	 the	 Commission’s	 processes	 and	

encourage	 voluntary	 compliance	by	business;	 and	 influence	policy	 and	

legislation	 to	 ensure	 synergy	 between	 the	 Competition	 Act	 and	 other	

policies	and	legislation.	(To	that	end,	the	Commission	engages	government	

departments, sector regulators and legislatures on its positions in relation 

to	 existing	 or	 proposed	 legislative	 amendments).	 Also,	 in	 the	 course	 of	

enforcement	and	legislation	in	all	industrial	sectors,	policy	issues	arise	and	

the	aim	of	the	Commission	is	to	bring	these	to	the	attention	of	the	relevant	

government	department	or	sector	regulator.

Although	the	Commission	has	a	dedicated	advocacy	division,	this	function	

happens	as	a	matter	of	course	in	the	Commission’s	work.	The	Commissioner	

and	the	Deputy	Commissioner	undertake	important	advocacy	work,	as	do	

other	divisional	managers	and	case	teams.	As	it	is	not	possible	to	record	all	

advocacy	activities,	this	report	provides	the	highlights	of	our	engagements	

with stakeholders.

Government

The	 Commission’s	 public	 sector	 consultative	 forum	 engages	 national	

government	 departments,	 state	 owned	 enterprises	 and	 municipalities.	

The	main	project	for	the	year	under	review	was	the	focus	on	bid-rigging.	

The	 Commission’s	 investigation	 into	 a	 range	 of	 infrastructure	 projects	

revealed	that	bid-rigging	has	been	widely	practised,	where	parties	collude	

and	deliberately	mislead	government	in	their	tender	documentation.	One	

practice	involves	the	direct	rigging	of	contracts	in	order	to	achieve	agreed	

market-share	positions.	The	other	relates	to	“cover	pricing”,	where	bidders	

appear	 to	be	acting	competitively,	while	 in	 fact	 tender	prices	have	been	

devised	to	ensure	that	only	one	of	 the	bidding	firms	is	successful.	While	

it	has	been	particularly	prevalent	in	infrastructure	tenders,	bid-rigging	has	

also	been	practised	 in	other	sectors.	Clearly,	 this	kind	of	anticompetitive	

behaviour	practised	on	a	wide	scale	 is	a	great	cost	 to	government.	The	

bid-rigging	awareness	project	has	 three	elements:	 training	and	capacity	

building;	policy	and	 legislative	 reforms;	and	encouraging	government	 to	

claim	back	damages	from	the	conspiring	firms	(see	box	7).

Business

The	 Commission	 reached	 out	 to	 the	 business	 community	 to	 propagate	

the	 idea	 of	 voluntary	 compliance	 and	 to	 increase	general	 awareness	 of	

the	Competition	 Act.	 The	Commission’s	 work	with	 business	 has	 yielded	

important outcomes, such as the increased number of applications for 

corporate	leniency.	The	division	makes	contact	with	business	in	a	variety	

of	ways,	 such	as	engaging	with	particular	 firms	and	meeting	with	 trade	

associations.	While	over	the	years,	the	Commission	had	focused	on	small	

and	medium	enterprises,	 the	highlight	of	 the	year	under	 review	was	 the	

Commission’s	meeting	with	big	business	(see	box	8).

Strategy	and	Stakeholder	Relations
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Box 7: The Commission’s war on bid-rigging intensifies 

Enforcement	and	advocacy	are	regarded	as	the	twin	pillars	of	competition	

compliance.	 Through	 its	 advocacy	 section,	 the	Strategy	 and	Stakeholder	

Relations	 division	 has	 tackled	 bid-rigging,	 a	 current	 component	 of	 the	

Commission’s	 enforcement	 strategy,	 both	 from	 a	 policy	 and	 education	

perspective.	The	division	has	developed	a	bid-rigging	brochure	and	held	

various	 workshops	 with	 business	 and	 government	 departments	 on	 bid-

rigging	in	the	period	under	review.	In	January	2010,	the	Commission	made	a	

submission	to	National	Treasury	on	the	use	of	the	Certificate	of	Independent	

Bid	 Determination	 in	 the	 procurement	 process.	 The	 certificate	 requires	

bidders	to	disclose	all	material	facts	about	any	communication	that	they	have	

had	with	competitors	pertaining	to	the	invitation	to	tender.		The	objective	of	

the	submission	was	to	influence	National	Treasury’s	procurement	policy	to	

address	that	the	gaps	that	have	been	identified	by	adopting	the	necessary	

measures	to	prevent	bid-rigging	before	bids	are	submitted.	The	certificate	

will	assist	purchasers	by	informing	bidders	about	the	illegality	of	bid-rigging	

and	provide	for	additional	penalties.	In	response	to	the	submission,	National	

Treasury	developed	a	practice	notice	in	terms	of	section	76(4)	of	the	Public	

Finance Management Act (PFMA). The note is an instruction to accounting 

officers	in	all	spheres	of	government	to	ensure	compliance	with	section	4(1)

(b)(iii)	of	the	Competition	Act.	The	note	will	be	officially	issued	by	the	Minister	

of	Finance	 in	2010/11.	The	general	conditions	of	contract	have	also	been	

amended	 to	 include	clause	34,	which	covers	 the	prohibition	of	 restrictive	

practices. 

Clause	 34	 now	 provides	 for	 the	 prohibition	 of	 collusive	 tendering	 and	

the	 referral	 of	 bidder(s)	 who	 have	 engaged	 in	 collusive	 tendering	 to	 the	

Commission	for	 investigation	and	the	possible	 imposition	of	administrative	

penalties.	These	developments	are	significant	victories	for	the	Commission	

and	should	have	far-reaching	consequences	for	public	sector	procurement.		

The	Commission	has	commented	on	the	following	procurement	policy	and	

legislation:	 the	Guidelines	on	Supply	Chain	Management,	 the	Preferential	

Procurement	Policy	Framework	Act	(2000),	the	Public	Finance	Management	

Act	 (1999)	 and	 the	 Prevention	 and	 Combating	 of	 Corrupt	 Activities	 Act	

(2004).	Competition	concerns	in	relation	to	the	legislation	and	policies	were	

submitted	 to	National	Treasury.	 In	 the	year	under	 review,	 the	Commission	

provided	 training	 to	 procurement	 officers	 from	 the	 private	 and	 public	

sectors	 on	 the	 prevention,	 detection	 and	 reporting	 of	 bid-rigging	 during	

the	 tendering	 process.	 The	 Commission	 started	 conducting	 bid-rigging	

training	workshops	for	the	provincial	sphere	of	government.	This	was	done	

through	provincial	bid-rigging	workshops	in	KwaZulu-Natal;	Western	Cape;	

Gauteng	 and	 Eastern	Cape,	 in	 partnership	with	 the	 provincial	 treasuries.	

A	total	of	243	procurement	officials	were	reached.	The	division	also	made	

presentations	 and	 held	 workshops	 with	 the	 business	 community	 through	

breakfast	meetings	with	company	directors.	The	objective	of	the	workshops	

was	to	educate	business	about	the	Competition	Amendment	Act	(2009)	and	

its implications for directors of companies, as the Act introduces criminal 

liability	for	individuals	involved	in	bid-rigging.	This	resulted	in	an	increase	in	

applications	for	leniency	from	firms.

Box 8:  The Commission reaches out to the business 
community 

The	Commission	held	its	first	business	consultative	forum	in	Johannesburg,	

in	November	2009.	The	forum	was	attended	by	90	business	delegates.	

The	 objective	 of	 the	 forum	 was	 to	 establish	 relations	 with	 the	 South	

African	business	community,	to	develop	a	relationship	that	is	not	based	

solely	on	enforcement	action,	but	to	foster	a	mutual	understanding	of	the	

respective	environments	and	challenges,	as	well	as	to	identify	competition	

champions	within	the	business	community.	The	Commission	hosted	the	

forum	in	partnership	with	Business	Unity	South	Africa.
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Trade unions

The	Commission	regards	trade	unions	as	a	key	stakeholder	to	be	engaged.	

The	 aim	 of	 interacting	 with	 the	 trade	 union	 movement	 is	 to	 increase	

awareness and mobilise trade union participation in merger processes as 

required	by	the	Competition	Act.	Trade	unions	also	have	a	vested	interest	

in	the	Commission’s	enforcement	and	investigation	work.	The	Commission	

has established the trade union forum and the working committee to ensure 

regular	interaction	and	information	sharing.	The	Commission	also	provided	

training in mergers and acquisitions to shop stewards and other trade 

union	officials	for	them	to	understand	their	role	and	the	Commission’s	role	

in these transactions. 

Consumers

The Commission interacts with consumer organisations from time to time 

to	 highlight	 key	 consumer	 issues	 emanating	 from	 its	 investigations	 and	

enforcement	work.	An	active	consumer	movement	is	vital	to	the	competitive	

process,	 and	 can	 give	 impetus	 to	 firms	 to	 compete	 by	 offering	 better	

prices	and	quality.	While	much	work	remains	to	be	done	in	this	area,	non-

governmental	 organisations	 and	 consumer	 forums	 that	 take	 an	 active	

interest	in	the	Commission’s	work	include	the	South	African	Human	Rights	

Commission,	the	Black	Sash	and	the	Confederation	of	South	Africa	Trade	

Unions	(COSATU).

Table 5: The Commission’s key engagements with stakeholders

Stakeholders Type of interaction Outcome

Government	

Third	public	sector	consultative	forum	 59	delegates	from	government	departments,	regulatory	bodies,	state	
owned enterprises  and public entities

Presentation	on	bid-rigging	at	the	public	sector	summit 120	procurement	officials

Provincial	bid-rigging	workshops 243	procurement	officials	in	KwaZulu-Natal,	Eastern	Cape,	Gauteng	
and Western Cape 

Submission	to	National	Treasury	on	the	use	of	the	certificate	of	independent	bid	
determination in their general conditions of tender N/A

Capacity	building	to	employees	of	the	National	Liquor	Authority’s	licensing	department	on	the	
general assessment of competition issues and the application of competition principles of 
law and economics 

N/A

Business

Breakfast	meetings	with	business.	The	objective	was	to	educate	company	directors	about	
the	implications	for	not	complying	with	the	Competition	Act.	Meetings	were	co-hosted	with	
the	Institute	of	Directors	and	the	provincial	Chambers	of	Commerce		

150	delegates	in	KwaZulu-Natal,	Limpopo,	Eastern	Cape	and	
Mpumalanga 

Presentation	to	construction	company	on	the	voluntary	compliance	with	the	Competition	Act 60	stakeholders	reached

Mining	managers	on	bid-rigging 59 stakeholders reached

South African Institute of Internal Auditors 100	stakeholders	reached

Trade unions

Federation	of	Unions	of	South	Africa	(FEDUSA)	 19 stakeholders reached

National	Union	of	Metalworkers	of	South	Africa	(NUMSA)	 39 stakeholders reached

Workshops	with	provincial	and	regional	trade	unions	on	how	to	participate	in	merger	
proceedings and to encourage whistle blowing 

243	trade	unionists	reached	in	Gauteng,	KwaZulu-Natal,	Limpopo	and	
North West 

Establishment of the trade union working committee. The committee will implement decisions 
taken	at	the	annual	trade	union	consultative	forum	and	to	tackle	competition	related	
challenges 

N/A
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Stakeholders Type of interaction Outcome

Consumers

Meetings	to	communicate	consumer	issues,	developments	and	highlights	of	what	other	
institutions	have	done	for	consumer	protection	 49 delegates attended from Gauteng and Western Cape

The Commission attended and participated in the following consumer protection 
conferences:2009	consumer	rights	conference,	hosted	by	the	national	consumer	forumFirst	
African	dialogue	consumer	conference,	hosted	by	the	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry

100	stakeholders	reached

Consumer	advocacy	workshops	 133	consumers	reached	in	North	West	province	

Two	competition	law	presentations	on	consumer	advocacy	 49 stakeholders reached

Small and 
medium  
enterprises 

Seven	presentations	with	SMEs	held	in	KwaZulu-Natal	and	Gauteng 229	stakeholders	reached

Franchise 
industry	

Participation	in	the	international	franchise	expo	 100	stakeholders	reached

Participation in the franchise breakfast seminar 80	franchises	attended,	32%	were	not	members	of	the	Franchise	
Association of South Africa

Participated	in	the	franchise	workshops	hosted	by	the	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry	on	
the new Consumer Protection Act 20	stakeholders	reached

Source: Competition Commission

Table 5: The Commission’s key engagements with stakeholders (continued)

Source:	own	calculations	from	data	supplied	by	Newsclip	media	monitoring

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10

2002

3652

2492

3369

3878

3425

Broadcast	Media

Print Media

Communication

Media relations

The	period	under	review	has	seen	the	Commission	continuing	to	receive	

wide	coverage	from	the	media,	evident	 in	 the	number	of	news	clippings	

for both the print and electronic media. According to Newsclip media 

monitoring,	 the	 Commission	 was	 covered	 in	 7,303	 news	 clippings	

compared	to	5,861	in	2008/09.	The	 increase	can	be	largely	attributed	to	

the	Commission’s	media	outreach	and	information	sharing	initiative,	which	

aims to: 

•	 enrich	 the	media’s	 knowledge	of	 the	work	 of	 the	Commission	 and	 its	

purpose

•	 improve	 the	 Commission’s	 understanding	 the	 media’s	 needs	 in	 its	

interaction with the Commission

•	 update	 the	 media	 on	 the	 Commission’s	 programme	 in	 the	 identified	

priority	sectors.

In	the	year	under	review,	outreach	workshops	were	held	in	Johannesburg,	

Cape	 Town	 and	 Durban	 with	 a	 total	 of	 34	 journalists	 who	 report	 on	

competition	 related	 issues.	 In	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 19	media	 releases	

were	issued	and	181	radio	and	73	television	interviews	were	conducted.		

Figure 10: Media coverage: number of news items 
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Publications

The	Commission	uses	various	publications	to	communicate	with	external	

stakeholders. The following publications were printed and distributed in 

the reporting period: 

Table 6: Publications

Publication Number printed

Competition News 8,000*

SME Guide (reprint) 5,000	

Franchise Notice (reprint) 2,000

Pocket Act (reprint) 1,500

Bid-rigging	Guide 2,000

Ten-Year	Review 2,000

2008/09	Annual	Report	 2,000

Source: Competition Commission  

Note: * 4 per year at around 2,000 per batch.

The	Commission	publishes	Competition	News	on	a	quarterly	basis.	 The	

aim	of	the	journal	 is	to	highlight	key	cases	and	other	key	developments.	

This	also	serves	as	a	vehicle	for	feedback	from	key	stakeholders.

Website

The	Commission	launched	its	revamped	website	(www.compcom.co.za)	in	

December	2009.	The	new	website	is	more	user-friendly	and	aims	to	cater	

for	the	needs	of	the	frequent	visitor.	The	number	of	hits	to	the	Commission’s	

website	has	grown	considerably:	in	2009/10	visits	to	the	website	trebled	to	

106,738	from	27,400	in	2008/09,	and	the	number	of	visitors	increased	from	

11,930	to	45,619.	There	was	also	an	increase	in	the	number	of	returning	

visitors,	 from	 2,840	 in	 2008/09	 to	 11,630.	 Most	 visitors	 are	 from	 South	

Africa	(79	percent),	and	then	from	the	United	Kingdom,	United	States,	Italy,	

Germany	and	other	countries.

Internal communication

The	 Commission’s	 efforts	 to	 improve	 internal	 communication	 are	 bearing	

fruit.	 In	an	effort	 to	 improve	 internal	communication	and	create	a	healthy	

and	open	working	environment,	the	Commission	has	undertaken	a	number	

of	initiatives.	In	the	year	under	review,	22	discussion	forums	were	organised	

and	attended	by	staff	members.	Other	 team	building	 initiatives	 included	 

13	staff	meetings	and	events	such	as	an	award	ceremony/year	end	function,	

participation in the Cell C Take a Girl Child to Work and a team and brand 

building	 race.	 There	 were	 12	 issues	 of	 the	 Competition	 Commission’s	

internal	newsletter	Newsflash.	

International relations
In	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 division	 continued	 its	 role	 of	 coordinating	

and	implementing	the	Commission’s	international	agenda.	There	is	a	very	

strong	 international	 community	 in	 the	 area	 of	 competition	 law	 practice,	

because	 although	 enforcement	 takes	 place	 at	 the	 national	 level,	 many	

businesses	are	competing	in	international	markets,	where	cartels	may	form	

and	 cross-border	mergers	 take	 place.	 So	 international	 cooperation	 and	

networks	not	only	involve	members	learning	from	each	other,	but	are	also	

concerned	with	 joint	enforcement	projects	and	ensuring	the	smooth	and	

consistent	review	of	international	mergers.

The consolidation of the African Agenda, as the principal focus of South 

Africa’s	foreign	policy,	has	become	one	of	the	Commission’s	priority	areas.	

Significant	effort	has	gone	 into	hosting	staff	exchanges	and	 fact	 finding	

missions	 involving	 staff	 members	 from	 competition	 agencies	 on	 the	

continent.	 In	 line	with	 its	commitment	 to	 the	economic	development	and	

economic integration of the SADC, South Africa chaired the meeting of the 

SADC	 regional	workshop	on	 competition	 law	and	policy	 in	Botswana	 in	

August	2009.	It	is	part	of	South	Africa’s	foreign	policy	to	play	an	active	in	

the	different	forums	of	the	United	Nations,	particularly	in	relation	to	issues	of	

global	governance.	The	Commission	therefore	continues	to	participate	in	

United	Nations	Conference	on	Trade	and	Development’s	(UNCTAD)	annual	

intergovernmental	expert	meeting	on	competition	law	and	finds	this	to	be	

a	valuable	forum	where	member	states	can	share	experiences,	successes	

and challenges in the world of competition. 

Specific activities in the international arena

Joint Food Project:	This	is	covered	in	the	Prioritisation	and	Impact	section	

of this report. The Commission is engaging its peers in the SADC region to 

implement	a	similar	project	on	identified	food items.

International publications: The Commission submitted a contribution to 

the	 2009	 edition	 of	 the	Global	 Competition	 Review’s	 Rating	 Enforcement	

publication,	which	 is	 an	annual	 survey	of	 the	world’s	 leading	competition	

authorities.
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The prospect of an African competition forum: In	 March	 2010,	 the	

Commissioner	 attended	 the	 African	 stakeholders’	 workshop’	 in	 Nairobi,	

Kenya.	The	meeting	focused	on	the	formation	of	an	African	competition	forum	

which	will	focus	on	Africa-specific	projects,	activities,	needs	and	challenges	

in	competition.	The	Commissioner	has	been	appointed	as	vice-chair	on	the	

interim steering committee that has been tasked to set up the forum. 

The Namibian Competition Commission: The	Commissioner	gave	 the	

opening address at the launch of the Namibian Competition Commission in 

October	2009.

Capacity	building

Facilitated	 by	 the	 SADC,	 the	 Commission’s	 principal	 investigator	 at	 the	

Competition Commission was attached to the Competition Commission 

of	 Mauritius	 in	 July	 2009	 to	 provide	 technical	 assistance	 to	 the	 newly	

established	institution.	In	September	2009,	the	Commission	hosted	a	study	

tour for delegates from the Fair Competition Commission and Tribunal of 

Tanzania	in	September	2009.	This	visit	was	facilitated	by	Professor	Eleanor	

Fox,	 professor	 of	 trade	 regulation	 at	 New	 York	 University	 School	 of	 Law.	

The	Commission	also	hosted	a	study	tour	for	delegates	from	the	Gambian	

Competition	 Commission	 in	 December	 2009.	 The	 Commission	 hosted	

three	 officers	 from	Botswana	 for	 capacity	 building	 for	 the	 new	Botswana	

competition	authority.	They	were	based	in	the	Policy	and	Research	division	

from	February	to	March	2010.

Participation in international organisations
International Competition Network: The Competition Commission is 

an	active	member	of	 the	 International	Competition	Network	 (ICN)	and	 the	

Commissioner is a member of its steering group. A delegation from the 

Commission	 attended	 the	 network’s	 eighth	 annual	 conference	 in	 Zurich,	

Switzerland	in	June	2009.	Staff	members	from	relevant	divisions	participated	

in	the	ICN’s	cartels	working	group	in	October	2009	in	Egypt.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): 

The	Commission	and	the	Tribunal	have	participated	 in	 the	OECD’s	Global	

Competition Forum since 1999, when the South African competition 

authorities were established and participated at its meetings held in June 

and	October	2009	and	February	2010.

Southern and Eastern Africa Competition Forum: South Africa is a 

member of the Southern and Eastern Africa Competition Forum and the 

Commissioner	and	Deputy	Commissioner	attended	its	inaugural	meeting	in	

May	2009.

SADC: The Commission chaired the second meeting of the SADC regional 

workshop	on	competition	law	and	policy	in	Botswana	in	August	2009.

Strategy and 
Stakeholder Relations
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Our People and Resources
The	Commission’s	human	capital	asset	is	the	lifeblood	of	the	organisation.	

The	Human	Resources	division	is	responsible	for	a	wide	scope	of	activities	

with	specific	emphasis	on	the	performance	management	and	learning	and	

development	 of	 the	 organisation’s	 primary	 asset,	 its	 staff.	 Performance	

contracts	are	drawn	up	annually	and	are	aligned	with	 the	Commission’s	

strategic	objectives.	One	of	the	Commission’s	core	strategic	objectives	is	

to	achieve	and	maintain	a	high	performing	institution.	This	is	being	realised	

through	achieving	individual	and	organisational	performance	goals	through	

performance	contracts	and	divisional	business	plans.	

Human capital
At	the	end	of	the	period	under	review,	the	Commission’s	staff	complement	

was 138. This includes the 11 graduate trainees which had been recruited 

as	part	of	 the	successful	graduate	 trainee	programme.	Overall,	 the	 total	

number	of	staff	increased	by	19	percent	from	2008/09.	The	total	numbers	

for	 2007/08,	 2008/09	 and	 2009/10	 are	 116,	 132	 and	 138.	 The	graduate	

trainees	provide	a	pool	of	skilled	and	qualified	people	that	the	Commission	

can	 draw	 from	 for	 permanent	 junior	 positions.	 During	 the	 period	 under	

review,	 four	 graduates	 were	 absorbed	 into	 the	 Commission’s	 structure.	

As	the	organisation’s	case	load	is	putting	increasing	pressure	on	the	staff	

complement,	more	 staff	 will	 have	 to	 be	 hired	 over	 the	 next	 three	 years	

for	 the	Commission	to	continue	to	deliver	effectively	on	its	mandate.	The	

number	 of	 staff	 is	 thus	 expected	 to	 grow	 to	 about	 190	 over	 this	 three-

year	period.	Most	of	the	new	staff	will	bring	legal	and	economic	expertise	

as	 the	Commission’s	 enforcement	 activities	 become	more	 complex	 and	

demanding, although there will also be a need for more support staff. 

Learning and development

The	 Commission	 encourages	 the	 personal	 development	 and	 growth	 of	

its	employees.	The	 learning	and	development	 function	within	 the	Human	

Resources	 division	 supports	 this	 objective	 and	 has	 helped	 to	 establish	

the	Commission	as	a	learning	organisation.	Interventions	include	internal	

capacity	building	programmes,	training	abroad,	study	loan	assistance	and	

local	customised	training	interventions	in	identified	priority	areas.

Learning	 and	 development	 initiatives	 support	 the	 retention	 of	 the	

organisation’s	 skilled	 and	 professional	 staff	 complement.	 As	 part	 of	 its	

commitment	 to	 retain	 and	 nurture	 high	 quality	 people,	 the	 Commission	

emphasises	 its	 growth	 and	 development	 interventions	 to	 current	 and	

prospective	employees.		

Figure 11: Staff profile as a percentage of total staff,  
as at 31 March 2010

Source: Competition Commission

Box 9:  The Commission’s management development 
programme 

During	the	period	under	review,	a	successful	management	development	

programme	was	launched	and	attended	by	20	senior	staff	members.	The	

programme	kicked	off	 in	September	2009	and	was	hosted	off	site	with	

leading	 subject	matter	 experts	making	 presentations.	 This	 customised	

programme was aimed at equipping senior staff members with the 

necessary	skills	for	managing	subordinates,	thus	strengthening	all	levels	

of	 the	 organisation’s	 management.	 Participants	 submitted	 portfolios	 of	

evidence	as	part	of	the	programme	and	their	high	standard	points	to	the	

programme’s	success.	The	programme	will	be	extended	to	other	senior	

employees	in	the	next	financial	year.	

51%
Graduates

Man

Support

Law & Econ

36%
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The	 Deloitte	 employer	 survey	 showed	 that	 the	 Commission’s	 efforts	 in	

developing	 its	 staff	 had	 yielded	 high	 levels	 of	 job	 satisfaction.	 In	 2009,	

the	Commission	won	the	Deloitte	Best	Company	To	Work	For	award	in	its	

industry	sector	for	the	second	consecutive	year.	The	Deloitte	survey	results	

are	shared	with	all	staff	and	are	used	as	a	valuable	tool	for	guiding	future	

initiatives	within	the	Commission.	Monthly	staff	meetings	and	different	forms	

of	ongoing	communication	with	staff	are	part	of	ensuring	that	employees	

enjoy	 good	 levels	 of	 job	 satisfaction.	 The	 declining	 staff	 turnover	 rate	

suggests	that	levels	of	job	satisfaction	are	increasing	(see	table	7).

Table 7: Staff turnover over the past three years

Year % Turnover

2007/08 26%

2008/09 16%

2009/10 15%

Source: Competition Commission

Employment	equity	and	transformation
As	a	relatively	new	institution,	the	Commission	has	had	the	advantage	of	not	having	

to	deal	with	issues	of	transformation	and	equity.	The	staff	profile	largely	reflects	

South	African	demographics.	Black	 female	professionals	are	well	 represented	

at	the	management	level	and	black	employees	overall	comprise	78	percent	of	

the	senior	tier	in	the	organisation.	The	staff	complement	of	138	employees	is	

made	up	of	66	females	(47.8	percent)	and	72	males	(52.2	percent).	This	

shows	that	the	Commission	is	not	far	from	achieving	its	target	of	50	percent	

females	and	50	percent	males,	in	line	with	government	guidelines.	

Table 8: Employment equity comparison for 2008/09 and 2009/10

Year % Females % Males

2008/09 45% 55%

2009/10 47.2% 52.2%

Source: Competition Commission

Figure 12: Employment equity (race and gender) over a  
three year period

Source: Competition Commission

Employment	equity	reports	are	submitted	to	the	Department	of	Labour	as	

per	the	requirements	of	the	Employment	Equity	Act	(1998).

Remuneration
The	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry	approved	the	implementation	of	the	

results	of	a	salary	benchmarking	exercise	across	all	tiers	of	the	Commission	

in	August	2009.	

The	benchmarking	exercise	aligned	 the	Commission’s	salary	bands	with	

the	 public	 sector.	 This	 will	 also	 serve	 the	 Commission	 in	 retaining	 and	

attracting	 staff,	 as	 staff	 are	 assured	 that	 they	 are	 being	 remunerated	 at	

market	related	levels.	

Employee	wellbeing
The Commission takes a keen interest in the wellbeing of its staff members 

and	supports	a	comprehensive	service	at	no	cost	to	its	employees.	

The	following	staff	members	have	been	at	the	Commission	for	10	years	and	
received	certificates	for	long	service:	from	left	Mogalane	Matsimela,	Brian	
Moeng, Binu Idiculla, Bellah Kekana, Nomsa Zilindile, Wilfred Steenkamp, 

Leon	Rossouw	and	Annalee	van	Reenen*.	
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* Missing from the photo are Johan Dreyer, Brenda Maseko, Charlie Ndlovu, Mittah Sibanyoni 
and Johnny Wilke.
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Through	 the	 Independent	 Counselling	 and	 Advisory	 Services,	 staff	

members	have	24/7	access	to	a	toll	free	helpline	that	offers	services	and	

counselling	on	a	range	of	matters.	Employees	are	frequently	reminded	of	

the	benefits	of	 the	programme.	The	annual	Health	Days,	where	staff	are	

able	 to	 have	 health	 screenings,	 are	 another	 successful	 intervention	 that	

contribute	to	the	wellbeing	of	the	Commission’s	staff.	

Employees	receive	regular	feedback	on	their	health	status	through	email	

desk drops.

The	 Commission	 supports	 annual	 HIV/AIDS	 awareness	 initiatives	 and	

speakers	 on	 various	 health-related	 topics	 have	 been	 invited	 to	 help	

increase awareness of health related issues.

Employee	relations
The	Commission’s	disciplinary	and	grievance	policies	have	been	reviewed	

to ensure that best practice is followed at all times. Labour related matters 

that	may	arise	in	the	Commission	are	settled	as	amicably	and	as	promptly	

as possible. 

Apart	from	minor	grievances	lodged	and	resolved	during	the	period	under	

review,	no	 formal	disciplinary	enquiries	were	 instituted.	The	Commission	

has	not	had	any	majority	union	operating	in	its	environment	since	2008.	

Information	technology
The	 IT	 department	 provides	 a	 secure,	 user	 friendly	 and	 efficient	 IT	

environment	 for	all	employees.	 It	has	 introduced	various	 information	and	

communication	technologies	to	ensure	better	efficiency	and	productivity	in	

the	organisation.	The	case	management	system	and	the	share	point	portal	

server	were	revamped	during	the	year	under	review,	enabling	interactive	

information management. The department has also acquired a knowledge 

management	system	with	various	workflow	and	collaboration	technologies.

Any	 upgrade	 of	 computer	 equipment	 is	 scheduled	 for	 the	 forthcoming	

year,	with	80	computers	due	to	be	replaced.	

Securities and facilities
As the Commission is a growing organisation with an increasing workload, 

so	its	needs	in	relation	to	office	space	and	facilities	are	changing.	It	is	the	

function	of	the	security	and	facilities	business	unit	to	address	these	needs.	

The	 unit	 has	 focused	 on	 improving	 the	 facilities	 management	 system,	

exploring	 ways	 of	 acquiring	 more	 facilities	 and	 resources	 that	 include	

office	space,	furniture,	accommodation,	construction,	design	and	parking.	

The	anticipated	growth	in	staff	numbers	over	the	next	few	years	is	the	main	

challenge	for	the	Commission’s	facilities.

The	current	office	space	of	4,700m2	makes	it	difficult	for	the	organisation	

to	meet	all	its	objectives	optimally.	For	this	to	happen	it	will	need	6,000m2 

and	specific	space	standards	for	different	levels	of	staff.	The	Commission	

is	currently	occupying	 two	buildings,	which	 is	not	 ideal	as	 this	can	slow	

down	processes	and	interrupt	the	work	flow.	The	unit	is	looking	into	ways	of	

addressing the space constraints, which will get more pressured as more 

staff	are	hired	over	the	next	few	years.	

Corporate Governance
Front row: Tsholofelo	Sebiloane;	Tshepiso	Diremelo;	Wilfred	Steenkamp;	
Charlie	Ndlovu;	Layla	Sadick
Middle row: Joe	Phele;	Suzan	Nyamane;	Caroline	Legwai;	Bellah	Kekana;	
Pinky	Nxumalo;	Bonolo	Suping;	Nicole	Gounder;	Karen	Hudson;	
Kelebogile Mekoa
Back row:	Leon	Rossouw;	Elmarie	Wiehahn;	Nomsa	Zilindile;	Alet	Aucamp;	
Rhime	Letsoalo;	Binu	Idiculla;	Abram	Tiro
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Corporate	Governance
Structures	and	decision-making
The	powers	of	the	Commission	are	vested	in	the	Commissioner,	who,	as	chief	executive	officer,	is	responsible	

to	 the	Minister	of	Trade	and	 Industry	 (In	 the	next	 reporting	period,	 this	will	be	 the	Ministry	of	Economic	

Development).	The	Commissioner	is	responsible	for	the	general	administration	of	the	Commission	and	for	

performing	any	functions	assigned	to	it	 in	terms	of	the	Competition	Act.	According	to	the	Act,	decisions	

on	cases	must	be	taken	by	both	the	Commissioner	and	the	Deputy	Commissioner,	who	together,	form	the	

Commission.	To	this	end,	there	are	weekly	Commission	meetings	during	which	decisions	on	cases	are	taken.	

The	Commission’s	meetings	 are	 attended	by	divisional	managers	 and	 if	 necessary,	 case	 teams,	which	

advise	the	Commissioner	and	Deputy	Commissioner.	In	addition,	executive	committee	(Exco)	meetings	are	

held	on	a	monthly	basis	to	decide	on	administrative,	human	resources	and	financial	issues.	

Oversight	responsibilities

The audit committee

The	audit	committee	supports	the	Commission’s	executive	committee	in	fulfilling	its	oversight	responsibilities	

relating	 to	 internal	 controls,	 risk	 management,	 financial	 management	 and	 compliance	 with	 laws	 and	

regulations.

An	independent	non-executive	member	chairs	the	committee	and	both	internal	and	external	auditors	have	

unrestricted access to the committee. The audit committee held four meetings in the reporting period. It 

reviewed	quarterly	internal	audit	reports,	 internal	and	external	audit	plans,	the	risk	assessment	plan	and	

financial	statements	for	the	period	ending	31	March	2010.	

Audit committee members

Mr Jeff Rapoo (chairperson)

Mr	Victor	Nondabula	(external	member)

Ms	Karen	Teixera	(external	member)

Ms	Maleshini	Naidoo	(external	member)

Mr	Herman	de	Jager	(external	member,	resigned	March	2010)

Mr	Johan	Dreyer	(management	representative)
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Internal auditors

The internal auditing function for the Commission is outsourced, and in the 

period	under	review	was	carried	out	by	Ngubane	&	Co.	During	the	internal	

audit	 process	 the	 company	 provided	 reports	 on	 the	 Enforcement	 and	

Exemption	and	Legal	Services	divisions,	and	the	Commissioner’s	office.	

Internal	financial	controls
The	 Commission	 has	 policies,	 procedures	 and	 systems	 designed	 to	

provide	reasonable	assurance	of	the	integrity	and	reliability	of	its	financial	

statements,	and	to	adequately	protect,	verify	and	maintain	accountability	

for	 its	 assets.	 These	 internal	 financial	 controls	 are	 implemented	 by	

qualified	and	trained	personnel	within	a	system	characterised	by	checks	

and	balances.	The	effectiveness	of	internal	financial	controls	is	monitored	

by	the	Commission’s	management,	as	well	as	by	the	internal	auditors.	All	

significant	findings	are	reported	to	the	audit	committee	and	Commissioner.

The	Commissioner	and	the	external	and	internal	auditors	are	not	aware	of	

any	material	breakdown	 in	 the	 functioning	of	 these	 internal	controls	and	

systems	in	the	period	under	review.

Risk management
With the assistance of the internal auditors, management is responsible 

for	 proactively	 identifying,	 evaluating,	 and	managing	 and	monitoring	 all	

significant	 risks	 faced	by	 the	Commission.	 Some	of	 the	 significant	 risks	

to	which	the	Commission	was	exposed	in	the	period	under	review	include	

operational,	technological	and	regulatory	risks.	A	revised	risk	management	

strategy	was	drawn	up	in	2009	with	a	view	to	safeguarding	the	Commission’s	

staff,	assets,	corporate	credibility	and	reputation.	In	the	year	under	review,	

the	Commission	started	 to	 implement	 the	risk	management	strategy	and	

integrate	it	into	the	Commission’s	activities.	

Compliance with legislation
The	Commission	is	bound	by	the	following	legislation:

Public	Finance	Management	Act	(1999)	 
and Treasury regulations

In	 accordance	 with	 the	 Public	 Finance	 Management	 Act	 and	 Treasury	

regulations, the Commission submitted the following documents to the 

Department	of	Trade	and	Industry	for	approval	in	the	period	under	review:

•	 Memorandum	of	agreement	with	the	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry

•	 Request	to	retain	surpluses	generated	as	at	31	March	2009	

•	 Quarterly	reports	on	the	Commission’s	expenditure,	budget	variance,	

activities	and	performance	against	set	targets

•	 Monthly	expenditure	reports

•	 Strategic	plan	and	budget	for	the	three-year	period	2009	to	2012.

Skills	Development	Act	(1998)

The annual training report and annual workplace skills plan was submitted 

on	30	June	2009.

Skills	Development	Levies	Act	(1999)

A	 skills	 development	 levy	 equal	 to	 1	 percent	 of	 the	 total	 payroll	 is	 paid	

monthly	 to	 the	 South	 African	 Revenue	 Service.	 The	 Commission’s	

contribution	to	the	skills	levy	fund	was	R562,959.		There	were	no	refunds.

Employment	Equity	Act	(1998)

With	 under	 150	 employees,	 the	 Commission	 is	 obliged	 to	 submit	 an	

employment	 equity	 report	 every	 alternate	 year.	 An	 employment	 equity	

report	was	submitted	in	October	2008,	and	the	next	one	is	due	in	October	

2010.

Compensation	for	Occupational	Injuries	and	
Diseases	Act	(1993)

A	return	of	earnings	was	submitted	in	March	2010.	This	provides	an	estimated	

cost of possible claims that can be lodged against the Compensation Fund 

in terms of this Act. 
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Unemployment	Insurance	Act	(2001)	

For	the	period	under	review	all	contributions	to	the	Unemployment	Insurance	

Fund	were	paid	over	on	a	monthly	basis.	These	contributions	consist	of	

an	employee	contribution	of	1	percent	and	an	employer	contribution	of	1	

percent,	capped	at	a	maximum	of	R124.78.

Occupational	Health	and	Safety	Act	(1993)

In	the	year	under	review,	the	Commission	took	all	reasonable	precautions	

to	ensure	a	safe	working	environment	and	conducted	its	business	with	due	

regard	 for	 environmental	 issues.	 The	 Commission’s	 occupational	 health	

and	 safety	 policy	was	 reviewed	 and	 included	 in	 the	Commission	 policy	

manual.

 

Income	Tax	Act	(1962)

The	South	African	Revenue	Service	exempted	the	Commission	in	terms	of	

section	10(1)(A)(i)	of	the	Income	Tax	Act	(1962).	

Levies and taxes

The Commission has registered for, and met its obligations in relation to the 

following	levies	and	taxes:

•	 Skills	development	levy

•	 Workmen’s	compensation

•	 Unemployment	Insurance	Fund

•	 Pay-as-you-earn	(PAYE).
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Accounting	Authority’s	Responsibilities	and	Approval	

The	Accounting	Authority	is	required	by	the	Public	Finance	Management	

Act (1999), to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible 

for	the	content	and	integrity	of	the	annual	financial	statements	and	related	

financial	 information	 included	 in	 this	 report.	 It	 is	 the	 responsibility	of	 the	

Accounting	Authority	 to	ensure	 that	 the	annual	financial	statements	 fairly	

present	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	entity	as	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	

and	the	results	of	its	operations	and	cash	flows	for	the	period	then	ended.	

The	external	auditors	are	responsible	for	reporting	on	the	fair	presentation	

of	the	annual	financial	statements.

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	

the	 effectiveStandards	 of	 Generally	 Recognised	 Accounting	 Practice	

(GRAP),	 issued	by	 the	Accounting	Standards	Board	 in	accordance	with	

Section	55	of	 the	Public	Finance	management	Act	(Act	No.	29	of	1999). 

 

Accounting	 policies	 for	 material	 transactions,	 events	 or	 conditions	 not	

covered	 by	 the	 GRAP	 reporting	 framework	 have	 been	 developed	 in	

accordance	with	paragraphs	7,	 11	and	12	of	GRAP3	and	 the	hierarchy	

approved	in	Directive	5	issued	by	the	Accounting	Standards	Board.

The	annual	financial	statements	are	based	upon	appropriate	accounting	

policies	consistently	 applied	and	 supported	by	 reasonable	and	prudent	

judgements	and	estimates.

The	 going	 concern	 basis	 has	 been	 adopted	 in	 preparing	 the	 financial	

statements.	The	Accounting	Authority	has	no	reason	to	believe	that	the	

Commission will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based 

on	 forecasts	 and	 available	 cash	 resources.	 These	 financial	 statements	

support	the	viability	of	the	Commission.

The	 external	 auditors	 are	 responsible	 for	 independently	 reviewing	 and	

reporting	on	the	entity’s	annual	financial	statements.	The	annual	financial	

statements	have	been	examined	by	the	entity’s	external	auditors	and	their	

report	is	presented	on	page	49-50.

The	annual	financial	statements	set	out	on	page	51-77,	which	have	been	

prepared	on	the	going	concern	basis,	were	approved	by	the	accounting	

authority	:

Mr. M Ramburuth
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Report	of	the	Audit	Committee	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2010	

Report	of	the	Audit	Committee	of	the	Competition	
Commission	

The	Audit	Committee	is	pleased	to	report	that,	for	the	year	under	review,	it	

has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 55 (1)(b) of the 

PFMA	and	Treasury	Regulations	27.1.7	and	27.1.10(b)	and	(c).

Audit	Committee	members	and	attendance:

The	Audit	 Committee	 of	 the	Competition	Commission	 (the	 “Committee”)	

consists of the members listed hereunder and is required to meet four 

times	per	annum	as	per	its	approved	terms	of	reference.	During	the	year	

under	review	four	meetings	were	held.

Name of member
Number of 
meetings 
attended

Number of 
meetings 

held

J. Rapoo (Chairperson) Non-executive 4 4

M. Naidoo Non-executive 1 4

Prof. H. de Jager Non-executive 2 4

V.	Nondobula	 Non-executive 3 4

K.	Teixeira* Non-executive 1 4

J.	Dreyer	(Company	Secretary) Executive 4 4

The	 Committee’s	meetings	 have	 regularly	 included	 the	 internal	 auditors	

and	representatives	from	the	Auditor	General’s	Office.	

Responsibilities	of	the	Audit	Committee

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities 

arising	from	section	55	(1)(b)	of	the	PFMA	and	Treasury	Regulations	27.1.7.	

and	27.1.10(b)	and	(c).

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal 

terms of reference as its audit committee charter, has regulated its affairs 

in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities 

as contained therein.

Accordingly,	the	Committee	operates	in	accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	

said	charter	 and	 is	 satisfied	 that	 it	 has	discharged	 its	 responsibilities	 in	

compliance therewith.

The quality of in year management and monthly/
quarterly reports submitted in terms of the PFMA 
and	the	Division	of	Revenue	Act

The	Audit	Committee	 is	satisfied	with	 the	content	and	quality	of	monthly	

and	quarterly	reports	prepared	and	issued	by	the	Accounting	Authority	of	

the	Commission	during	the	year	under	review.

The effectiveness of internal control

The	system	of	controls	 is	designed	to	provide	cost	effective	assurance	that	

assets	are	safeguarded	and	that	liabilities	and	working	capital	are	effectively	

managed.	 In	 line	 with	 the	 PFMA	 and	 the	 King	 III	 Report	 on	 Corporate	

Governance	requirements,	Internal	Audit	provides	the	Audit	Committee	and	

management with the assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and 

effective.	This	is	achieved	by	means	of	the	risk	management	process,	as	well	

as	 the	 identification	 of	 corrective	 actions	 and	 suggested	enhancements	 to	

the	controls	and	processes.	From	the	various	reports	of	the	Internal	Auditors,	

the	Audit	Report	 on	 the	annual	 financial	 statements,	 and	 the	management	

report	of	the	Auditor-General,	it	was	noted	that	no	significant	or	material	non-

compliance	 with	 prescribed	 policies	 and	 procedures	 have	 been	 reported.	

Accordingly,	we	can	report	that	system	of	internal	control	for	the	period	under	

review	was	efficient	and	effective.

* Appointed 3 September 2009
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Evaluation of the annual financial statements 

The Audit Committee has:

•	 reviewed	 and	 discussed	 the	 audited	 annual	 financial	 statements	 to	

be	 included	 in	 the	 annual	 report,	 with	 the	 Auditor-General	 and	 the	

Accounting	Authority;

•	 reviewed	the	Auditor-General’s	management	report	and	management’s	

response thereto;

•	 reviewed	changes	in	accounting	policies	and	practices;	and.

•	 reviewed	significant	adjustments	resulting	from	the	audit.

The Audit Committee would like to highlight that the Competition Commission 

is	highly	dependent	on	the	approval	of	the	retention	of	accumulated	surplus	

from	National	Treasury,	as	well	as	the	approval	of	the	annual	grants	from	

the	Department	of	Economic	Development	 in	order	 to	maintain	 its	going	

concern status.

The	 Audit	 Committee	 concurs	 and	 accepts	 the	 Auditor-General’s	

conclusions	on	the	annual	financial	statements,	and	is	of	the	opinion	that	

the	 audited	annual	 financial	 statements	be	accepted	and	 read	 together	

with	the	report	of	the	Auditor-General.

Mr. J.R Rapoo

Chairperson of the Audit Committee

Date:	29	July	2010
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Accounting	Authority’s	Report	

Report	by	the	Accounting	Authority	to	the	Executive	Authority	and	Parliament	of	the	Republic	of	South	Africa.

1.	 Nature	of	business

The	Commission	derives	its	mandate	from	the	Competition	Act	No.	89	of	1998,	as	amended.		The	main	objectives,	as	determined	by	the	Competition	Act,	

are the following: 

•	 Promote	efficiency,	adaptability	and	development	of	the	economy;

•	 Provide	consumers	with	competitive	prices	and	product	choices;

•	 To	promote	employment,	and	advance	social	and	economic	welfare	of	South	Africans;

•	 To	expand	opportunities	for	South	African	participation	in	world	markets	and	recognise	the	role	of	foreign	competition	in	the	Republic;

•	 To	ensure	that	small	and	medium	sized	enterprises	have	an	equitable	opportunity	to	participate	in	the	economy;	and	

•	 To	promote	the	greater	spread	of	ownership,	in	particular	to	increase	the	ownership	stakes	of	historically	disadvantaged	persons.

2. Financial	overview	/	performance

2.1.		Financial	Highlights 2010

 ‘000

2009

 ‘000

Revenue	 111	305 94	719

Interest	received	 1	987 4	526

Total Revenue 113 292  99 254

Expenditure 128 673 110 638

Net deficit  (15 381)  (11 393)

Total assets  26 509  37 826

Total liabilities  20 675  16 609

No. of Merger cases filed 181  415

	 2.2.		Total	Revenue

Total	revenue	increased	from	R95	million	in	2009	to	R111	million	in	2010.		Income	from	the	grant	increased	by	83%	from	R44	million	in	2009	to	R80,7	

million	in	2010	whilst	income	from	filing	fees	reduced	by	40%	from	R50,5million	in	2009	to	R30,3million	in	2010.

Merger	cases	filed	during	the	year	decreased	by	56%	to	181	(2009:	415).

Interest	earned	on	temporarily	available	funds	decreased	by	56%	and	other	income	received	due	to	repayment	of	study	loans	as	well	as	a	refund	

from SASSETA remained constant. 
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	 2.3		Expenditure

Expenditure	 increased	from	R111	million	in	2009	to	R128	million	in	2010	reflecting	an	overall	 increase	of	15%.	This	amounted	to	the	Commission	

spending	86%	of	its	budgeted	expenditure.	The	increase	in	expenditure	was	as	a	result	of	the	growing	staff	numbers	within	the	Commission	to	assist	

with	the	increased	enforcement	activity,	and	the	commensurate	increase	in	litigation	and	consulting	fees	due	to	the	complexity	of	cases.	

	 2.4		Financial	Performance

The	Commission	generated	a	deficit	of	R15,3	million	(2009:	R11,4	m	deficit)	for	the	current	year.		The	costs	of	running	the	Commission	are	increasing	

annually	due	to	increased	activity	resulting	in	an	increase	in	the	demand	for	human	resource	capacity.	

The	Commission	received	additional	 funding	of	R13	million	to	assist	with	 the	 increase	 in	 litigation	costs	 incurred	on	high	profile	cases	before	the	

Tribunal.	The	Commission	carries	forward	an	accumulated	surplus	of	R5,8m	(Cash	surplus	of	R2,5	million	after	expenditure	on	fixed	assets)	for	the	

current	financial	year.	

The	approved	grant	funding	from	government	for	the	year	2010-11	amounting	to	R80,7m,	income	from	filing	fees	plus	any	accumulated	surplus	that	

the Commission is allowed to retain will ensure that the Commission is able to continue as a going concern. 

3.	 Executive	committee

The	composition	of	the	current	executive	committee	during	the	period	under	review	is	as	follows	

Member Title

Mr. M. Ramburuth Commissioner 

Mr.	T.	Bonakele Deputy	Commissioner	

Mr.	J.	Dreyer Commission	Secretary

Mr. S. Roberts Manager:		Policy	&	Research	

Ms.	N.	Pillay Manager	:	Corporate	Services	and	CFO

Ms.	W.	Mkwananzi Manager:	Legal	Service	

Ms. N. Mokoena Manager:	Strategic	and	Stakeholder	Relations		(Resigned	28	February	2010)

Mr.	M.	van	Hoven Manager: Mergers & Acquisitions 

Mr.	K.	Weeks Manager:	Enforcement	and	Exemptions	(Appointed	1	August	2009)

4.	 Changes	in	nature	of	property,	plant	and	equipment

No	major	changes	in	the	nature	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	or	changes	in	the	policy	relating	to	the	use	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	took	

place	during	the	year	under	review.	Changes	regarding	the	estimated	useful	life	of	the	asset	have	been	taken	into	account	in	the	calculation	of	the	

depreciation	values	of	the	asset.

Computer	equipment	not	in	use	and	with	a	zero	net	value	has	been	donated	and	all	assets	broken	and	in	disrepair	has	been	disposed	off.	
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5.	 Materiality	framework

The	Commission	determined	a	planning	materiality	 figure	of	R	340	292	 for	 the	year	under	 review.	 	The	Commission’s	business	 is	 such	 that	 it	 is	

not	capital	 intensive	and	revenue	was	regarded	as	the	best	 indicator	of	business	activity	and	therefore	1%	of	budgeted	fee	 income	was	used	 in	

determining	the	materiality	figure.

Material	facts	and	losses	of	a	quantitative	nature	are	disclosed	when	the	materiality	figure	is	exceeded,	or	if	they	arose	through	criminal	conduct,	

irregular/fruitless	and	wasteful	expenditure.		

Disposal	of	significant	assets	when	overall	operational	functions	of	the	Commission	changes,	are	disclosed.

6.	 Events	subsequent	to	financial	position	date

No	events	took	place	between	the	year-end	date	(31st	March	2010)	and	the	date	on	which	the	financial	statements	were	signed	that	were	sufficiently	

material to warrant disclosure to interested parties.

However	it	is	to	be	noted	that	the	Manager	Corporate	Service	and	CFO	-	N.	Pillay,	and	the	Commission’s		Secretary-	J	Dreyer,	resigned	in	May	2010.

7.	 Expenditure	related	to	2010	Soccer	World	Cup

The	Commission	did	not	incur	any	expenditure	in	the	2009/10	financial	year	related	to	the	Soccer	World	Cup.	The	following	expenditure	was	incurred	

in	the	2010/11	financial	year,	which	related	to	the	purchase	of	Soccer	World	Cup	merchandise:

2010/11

Purchase of World Cup apparel Quantity R’000

Items purchased:

			Boogie	Blaster	/	Vuvuzelas 150 4

   Drawstring bags 150 5

			Beanies 150 8

			T-shirts 150 15

			Scarves 150 11

Total World Cup expenditure 750 43
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8.	 Commission	secretary	(acting)

The	details	of	the	Commission’s	secretary	are	as	follows:

Ms.	Anisa	Kessery	

Business	address:	 The	dti	campus

	 	 	 Building	C:	Mulayo

	 	 	 77	Meintjies	Street

	 	 	 Sunnyside

   TSHWANE

Postal	address:	 Private	Bag	X23

	 	 	 Lynnwood	Ridge

	 	 	 0040

   TSHWANE

Telephone	 	 +27-12-3943336

Fax	 	 +27-12-3944336

Email	address:	 AnisaK@compcom.co.za

The	previous	incumbent	Mr.	Johan	Dreyer	served	during	the	period	under	review	but	subsequently	resigned	on	14	May	2010.

9.	 Address

The	Commission’s	registered	offices	are	situated	at:	-

  The dti campus    

	 	 Building	C:	Mulayo	 	 	

	 	 77	Meintjies	Street

	 	 Sunnyside

  TSHWANE

with the postal address

	 	 Private	Bag	X23

	 	 Lynwood	Ridge

	 	 0040

  TSHWANE

Web	address:	www.compcom.co.za
Mr. M Ramburuth

Accounting Authority
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Report	of	the	Auditor-General	to	Parliament	
on	the	financial	statements	of	the	Competition	Commission	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2010

Report on the financial statements

Introduction
I	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	the	Competition	

Commission,	which	comprise	the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	

March	2010,	and	the	statement	of	financial	performance,	the	statement	of	

changes	in	net	assets	and	the	cash	flow	statement	for	the	year	then	ended,	

and	a	summary	of	 significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	

information,	as	set	out	on	pages	55	to	61.

The	Accounting	Authority’s	responsibility	for	the	financial	
statements
The	 Accounting	 Authority	 is	 responsible	 for	 the	 preparation	 and	 fair	

presentation	 of	 the	 financial	 statements	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 South	

African	 Standards	 of	 Generally	 Recognised	 Accounting	 Practice	 (SA	

Standards	 of	GRAP)	 and	 in	 the	manner	 required	 by	 the	 Public	 Finance	

Management	Act	 of	 South	Africa.This	 responsibility	 includes:	 designing,	

implementing	and	maintaining	internal	control	relevant	to	the	preparation	

and	 fair	 presentation	 of	 financial	 statements	 that	 are	 free	 from	material	

misstatement,	 whether	 due	 to	 fraud	 or	 error;	 selecting	 and	 applying	

appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 

reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor-General’s	responsibility
As	required	by	section	188	of	the	Constitution	of	South	Africa	and	section	4	

of	the	Public	Audit	Act	of	South	Africa	and	section	40(10)	of	the	Competition	

Act,	my	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	

based	on	my	audit.

I	 conducted	 my	 audit	 in	 accordance	 with	 International	 Standards	 on	

Auditing	and	General	Notice	1570	of	2009	issued	in	Government	Gazette	

32758	of	27	November	2009.		Those	standards	require	that	I	comply	with	

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance	about	whether	 the	financial	 statements	are	 free	 from	material	

misstatement.

An	audit	 involves	performing	procedures	 to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	

the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements.		The	procedures	

selected	depend	on	the	auditor’s	judgement,	including	the	assessment	of	

the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	

to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 entity’s	 preparation	 and	 fair	 presentation	

of	 the	 financial	 statements	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	 procedures	 that	 are	

appropriate	 in	 the	circumstances,	but	not	 for	 the	purpose	of	expressing	

an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	

includes	evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	

the	 reasonableness	 of	 accounting	 estimates	made	 by	management,	 as	

well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.	

I	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	I	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	

to	provide	a	basis	for	my	audit	opinion.

Opinion
In	my	opinion,	the	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	

the	financial	position	of	the	Competition	Commission	as	at	31	March	2010,	

and	its	financial	performance	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended	

in	 accordance	 with	 South	 African	 Standards	 of	 Generally	 Recognised	

Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and in the manner required 

by	the	Public	Finance	Management	Act	of	South	Africa.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In	terms	of	the	PAA	of	South	Africa	and	General	notice	1570	of	2009,	issued	

in	Government	Gazette	No.	32758	of	27	November	2009,	I	include	below	

my	findings	on	 the	 report	on	predetermined	objectives,	compliance	with	

the	PFMA,	the	Competition	Act	and	financial	management	(internal	control).
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Findings
Pre-determined	objectives

Usefulness of reported performance information

The following criteria were used to assess the usefulness of the planned 

and reported performance:

•	 Consistency:	Has	the	entity	reported	on	its	performance	with	regard	to	

its	objectives,	indicators	and	targets	in	its	approved	strategic	plan,	i.e.	

are	the	objectives,	indicators	and	targets	consistent	between	planning	

and reporting documents?

•	 Relevance:	 Is	 there	 a	 clear	 and	 logical	 link	 between	 the	 objectives,	

outcomes, outputs, indicators and performance targets?

•	 Measurability:	Are	objectives	made	measurable	by	means	of	indicators	

and	targets?	Are	indicators	well	defined	and	verifiable,	and	are	targets	

specific,	measurable,	and	time	bound?

The	following	findings	relate	to	the	above	criteria:	

Planned and reported performance targets not specific/measurable/

time bound 

For	 the	selected	objectives:	mergers	and	acquisitions,	enforcement	and	

exemptions	and	legal	services,	23%	of	the	planned	and	reported	targets	

were not: 

•	 specific	 in	 clearly	 identifying	 the	 nature	 and	 the	 required	 level	 of	

performance;

•	 measurable	in	identifying	the	required	performance;	

•	 time	bound	in	specifying	the	time	period	or	deadline	for	delivery.

Internal control 

I	considered	internal	control	relevant	to	my	audit	of	the	financial	statements	

and	the	report	on	predetermined	objectives	and	compliance	with	the	PFMA	

and	Competition	Act,	but	not	for	the	purposes	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	

the	effectiveness	of	internal	control.	The	matters	reported	below	are	limited	

to	the	deficiencies	identified	during	the	audit.

Leadership
The	Competition	Commission	did	not	 have	sufficient	monitoring	controls	

to	ensure	the	proper	implementation	of	the	overall	process	of	reporting	on	

pre-determined	objectives.

Pretoria

30	July	2010
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Statement of Financial Position

2010 2009

Note(s)  ‘000  ‘000

ASSETS 

Current Assets 

Inventory	 	 165  55

Trade	and	other	receivables	from	exchange	transactions	 11 	 652  119

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 12  18,855 	 32,658

  19,672  32,832

Non-Current	Assets	

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 13 	 4,987 	 3,461

Intangible assets 14 	 1,850  1,533

  6,837  4,994

Total Assets  26,509  37,826

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 

Finance lease obligation 15 	 880 	 23

Trade	and	other	payables	from	exchange	transactions	 17 	 18,480 	 14,474

Provisions	 16  154 	 2,112

Unspent	Donor	Funds	 28  5 	 -

  19,519  16,609

Non-Current	Liabilities	

Finance lease obligation 15 	 1,156 	 -

Total Liabilities  20,675  16,609

Net Assets  5,834  21,217

NET ASSETS 

Accumulated surplus  5,834 	 21,217
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Statement of Financial Performance

2010 2009

Note(s)  ‘000  ‘000

Revenue 

Government	grants	&	subsidies	 2 	 80,739 	 44,000

Fee income  3 	 30,380 	 50,506

Other Income 5 	 186  183

Surplus on disposal of assets 	 - 	 30

Total Revenue  111,305  94,719

Expenditure 

Employee	related	costs	 6 	 71,557  54,938

Administrative	expenses	 7 	 3,263 	 2,458

Depreciation and amortisation 	 2,431 	 808

Impairment  	 - 	 75

Finance costs 8 	 228 	 25

Operating		expenses	 9  51,194 	 52,334

Total Expenditure  (128,673)  (110,638)

Interest	received	 4 	 1,987 	 4,526
Deficit for the year  (15,381)  (11,393)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Accumulated 
surplus

Total net assets

 ‘000  ‘000

Balance at 01 April 2008  32,610  32,610

Changes in net assets 

Deficit	for	the	year	  (11,393)  (11,393)

Total changes  (11,393)  (11,393)

Balance at April 01, 2009  21,215  21,215

Changes in net assets 

Deficit	for	the	year	  (15,381)  (15,381)

Total changes  (15,381)  (15,381)

Balance at March 31, 2010  5,834  5,834
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Cash Flow Statement
2010 2009

Note(s)  ‘000  ‘000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts 

Sale	of	goods	and	services	 	 30,380 	 50,506

Grants 	 80,739 	 44,000

Interest income 	 1,987 	 4,526

Other receipts 	 295 	 580

 	 113,401 	 99,612

Payments 

Employee	costs	 	 (71,578)  (54,938)

Suppliers  (53,143) 	 (54,015)

Finance costs 	 (228) 	 (25)

 	 (124,949) 	 (108,978)
Net cash flows from operating activities 18  (11,548)  (9,366)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Addition	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 13  (3,315) 	 (1,691)

Proceeds	from	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 13 	 - 	 228

Addition of other intangible assets 14 	 (960) 	 (1,475)

Net cash flows from investing activities  (4,275)  (2,938)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Movement	in	unspent	donor	funds	  5 	 -

Finance	lease	repayments	 	 2,015 	 (260)

Net cash flows from financing activities  2,020  (260)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (13,803)  (12,564)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	year	 	 32,658 	 45,222

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12  18,855  32,658
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1.	Basis	of	preparation
The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	

the	 effective	 Standards	 of	 Generally	 Recognised	 Accounting	 Practice	

(GRAP),	 issued	by	 the	Accounting	Standards	Board	 in	accordance	with	

Section	55	of	the	Public	Finance	management	Act	(Act	No.	29	of	1999).

Accounting	 policies	 for	 material	 transactions,	 events	 or	 conditions	 not	

covered	 by	 the	 GRAP	 reporting	 framework	 have	 been	 developed	 in	

accordance	with	paragraphs	7,	 11	and	12	of	GRAP3	and	 the	hierarchy	

approved	in	Directive	5	issued	by	the	Accounting	Standards	Board.

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	an	accrual	basis	

of	accounting	and	are	in	accordance	with	historical	cost	convention,	unless	

specifically	stated	otherwise.	The	principal	accounting	policies	adopted	in	

the	preparation	of	these	financial	statements	are	set	out	below.

Asset,	 liabilities,	 revenues	 and	 expenses	 have	 not	 been	 offset	 except	

where	offsetting	is	required	or	permitted	by	a	Standard	of	GRAP.

The	accounting	policies	are	applied	consistently	with	those	used	to	present	

the	previous	year’s	financial	statements,	unless	explicitly	stated.	The	details	

of	any	changes	in	accounting	policies	are	explained	in	the	relevant	policy.

These	accounting	policies	are	consistent	with	the	previous	period.	

	 1.1		Presentation	currency

These	financial	statements	are	presented	in	South	African	Rands.	

	 1.2		Revenue

Revenue	 is	 recognised	 to	 the	 extent	 that	 it	 is	 probable	 that	 the	

economic	benefits	will	flow	and	can	be	reliably	measured.	Revenue	is	

measured	at	fair	value	of	the	consideration	receivable	on	an	accrual	

basis.	 The	 following	 specific	 recognition	 criteria	must	 also	 be	met	

before	revenue	is	recognised:

Filing fees

Revenue	 comprises	 of	 case	 notification	 fees	 and	 facility	 charges	

received.	Revenue	from	case	notification	fees	is	recognised	when	the	

case	 is	 accepted	by	 the	Commission.	 Facility	 fees	 are	 recognised	

on	 a	 monthly	 basis	 for	 services	 rendered	 by	 the	 Commission	 for	

infrastructure	 usage	 by	 the	 Competition	 Tribunal.	 Other	 income	 is	

recognised	as	and	when	received

Government	grant

Government	grants	are	recognised	in	the	year	to	which	they	relate,	

once reasonable assurance has been obtained that all conditions of 

the	grants	have	been	complied	with	and	the	grant	has	been	received.

Interest income

Revenue	is	recognised	as	interest	accrues	using	the	effective	interest	

rate.

Other income

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

	 1.3		Irregular	expenditure

Irregular	expenditure	means	expenditure	incurred	in	contravention	of,	

or	not	in	accordance	with	a	requirement	of	any	applicable	legislation	

including the PFMA.

Irregular	expenditure	 is	recognised	as	expenditure	 in	the	statement	

of	 financial	performance.If	 the	expenditure	 is	not	 condoned	by	 the	

relevant	authority	it	is	treated	as	an	asset	until	it	is	recovered	or	written	

off	as	irrecoverable.

On	 discovery	 of	 alleged	 irregular	 expenditure,	 such	 expenditure	

will	 be	 left	 in	 the	expense	account	 and	 the	Accounting	Officer	will	

record	 the	 details	 of	 the	 expenditure	 in	 the	 irregular	 expenditure	

register.	 The	 Accounting	 Officer	 will	 must	 investigate	 the	 alleged	

irregular	expenditure	to	determine	whether	the	expenditure	meets	the	

definition	of	irregular	expenditure.	During	the	period	of	investigation	

the	 expenditure	will	 remain	 in	 the	 expense	 account.	 The	 results	 of	

the	 investigation	 will	 determine	 the	 appropriate	 action	 to	 be	 taken	

regarding	the	expenditure.	

Should	 the	 investigation	 reveal	 that	 the	 expenditure	 is	 in	 fact	 valid	

expenditure	and	 therefore	does	not	constitute	 irregular	expenditure	

the	details	of	 the	expenditure	will	be	retained	 in	 the	register	 for	 the	

purposes	of	 completion	 (and	 to	provide	an	appropriate	audit	 trail).	

The	 register	 will	 then	 be	 updated	 to	 reflect	 the	 outcome	 of	 the	

investigation.	 If	 the	 investigation	 indicates	that	 the	expenditure	 is	 in	

fact	 irregular	 expenditure	 the	 Accounting	 Officer	 will	 immediately	

report,	 in	writing,	 the	 particulars	 of	 the	 expenditure	 to	 the	 relevant	

Accounting Policies
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Treasury.	In	addition	the	irregular	expenditure	will	also	be	included	in	

the	entity’s	monthly	report	on	revenue	and	expenditure	as	submitted	

by	the	Accounting	Officer	to	the	relevant	Treasury.

If	 the	 irregular	 expenditure	 is	 subsequently	 condoned	 by	 the	

appropriate	authority	no	further	action	is	required	by	the	department	

as	 the	 amount	 has	 already	 been	 expensed	 in	 the	 statement	 of	

financial	performance.	The	register	will	be	updated	to	reflect	the	fact	

that	the	irregular	expenditure	was	condoned.	If,	however,	the	amount	

is	not	condoned	by	the	appropriate	authority	the	Accounting	Officer	

will	take	effective	and	appropriate	action	to	recover	the	amount	from	

the	responsible	person,	these	actions	may	also	include	disciplinary	

steps.

	 1.4		Fruitless	and	wasteful	expenditure

Fruitless	expenditure	means	expenditure	which	was	made	in	vain	and	

would	have	been	avoided	had	reasonable	care	been	exercised.

The	 expenditure	 portion	 of	 any	 	 fruitless	 and	wasteful	 expenditure	

is charged against income and the capital portion of irregular 

expenditure	 is	 charged	 against	 the	 related	 liability	 in	 the	period	 in	

which	they	are	determined.

	 1.5		Employee	benefits

Short term employee benefits

The	cost	of	short-term	employee	benefits,	 (those	payable	within	12	

months	after	 the	service	 is	 rendered,	 such	as	paid	vacation	 leave,	

bonuses,	 and	 nonmonetary	 benefits	 such	 as	 medical	 care),	 are	

recognised	in	the	period	in	which	the	service	is	rendered	and	are	not	

discounted.	The	expected	cost	of	bonus	payments	is	recognised	as	

an	expense	when	there	is	a	legal	or	constructive	obligation	to	make	

such	payments	as	a	result	of	past	performance.

Pension and post-retirement benefits

Payments	to	defined	contribution	retirement	benefit	plans	are	charged	

as	an	expense	as	they	fall	due.	Payments	made	to	industry-managed	

(or	state	plans)	retirement	benefit	schemes	are	dealt	with	as	defined	

contribution	 plans	where	 the	 entity’s	 obligation	 under	 the	 schemes	

is	 equivalent	 to	 those	 arising	 in	 a	 defined	 contribution	 retirement	

benefit	plan.The	entity	operates	a	defined	contribution	plan	for	all	its	

employees.	

Contributions	 to	 the	 defined	 contribution	 plan	 are	 charged	 to	 the	

statement	of	financial	performance	in	the	year	to	which	they	relate.

	 1.6		Property,	plant	and	equipment

The	cost	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	recognised	as	

an asset when:

•	 it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	

item	will	flow	to	the	entity;	and

•	 the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.

Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 are	 stated	 at	 historical	 cost	 less	

accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is calculated on a 

straight-line	 basis	 at	 rates	 considered	 appropriate	 to	 reduce	 the	

cost	of	the	assets	less	their	residual	value	over	the	estimated	useful	

life.	Useful	life,	depreciation	policy	and	residual	value	are	assessed	

annually.

The	period	over	which	various	categories	of	assets	are	depreciated	

is detailed below:

Item Average useful life

Furniture	and	fixtures 10-14	years

Motor	vehicles 5-7	years

Office	equipment 5-11	years

IT equipment

•		Computer	Equipment 3-8	years

Leased Assets Period of the lease

The	 residual	value	and	 the	useful	 life	of	each	asset	 is	assessed	at	

each	financial	period-end.	Each	part	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	

equipment	with	a	cost	that	is	significant	in	relation	to	the	total	cost	of	

the	item	shall	be	depreciated	separately.	The	depreciation	charge	for	

each	period	is	recognised	in	surplus	or	deficit	unless	it	is	included	in	

the	carrying	amount	of	another	asset.	The	gain	or	 loss	arising	from	

the	 derecognition	 of	 an	 item	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 is	

included	in	surplus	or	deficit	when	the	item	is	derecognised.	The	gain	

or	loss	arising	from	the	derecognition	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	

equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds,	if	any,	and	the	carrying	amount	of	the	item.

 



57

1.7		Intangible	assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

•	 it	 is	probable	 that	 the	expected	 future	economic	benefits	 that	

are	attributable	to	the	asset	will	flow	to	the	entity;	and

•	 the	cost	of	the	asset	can	be	measured	reliably.

Intangible	assets	are	 initially	 recognised	at	cost	and	are	carried	at	

cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Computer 

software	 costs	 that	 exceed	 beyond	 one	 year	 are	 recognised	 as	

intangible assets. These assets are amortised from the date the asset 

is	brought	 into	use,	using	 the	straight-line	method	over	 their	useful	

lives.	The	estimated	useful	life	of	computer	software	is	3	years.	The	

useful	 lives	of	 the	assets	are	 reviewed	at	each	balance	sheet	date	

and	adjusted	if	appropriate.	Computer	software	has	no	residual	value	

as the software is not resaleable. 

Expenditure	 on	 research	 (or	 on	 the	 research	 phase	 of	 an	 internal	
project)	is	recognised	as	an	expense	when	it	is	incurred.
An	intangible	asset	arising	from	development	(or	from	the	development	
phase	of	an	internal	project)	is	recognised	when:
•	 it	 is	technically	feasible	to	complete	the	asset	so	that	it	will	be	

available	for	use	or	sale.
•	 there	is	an	intention	to	complete	and	use	or	sell	it.
•	 there	is	an	ability	to	use	or	sell	it.
•	 it	will	generate	probable	future	economic	benefits.
•	 there	 are	 available	 technical,	 financial	 and	other	 resources	 to	

complete	the	development	and	to	use	or	sell	the	asset.
•	 the	expenditure	attributable	to	the	asset	during	its	development	

can	be	measured	reliably.

Intangible	assets	are	carried	at	cost	less	any	accumulated	amortisation	
and	any	impairment	losses.

An	 intangible	 asset	 is	 regarded	 as	 having	 an	 indefinite	 useful	 life	
when,	based	on	all	relevant	factors,	there	is	no	foreseeable	limit	to	the	
period	over	which	the	asset	is	expected	to	generate	net	cash	inflows.	
Amortisation	is	not	provided	for	these	property,	plant	and	equipment.	
For	all	other	intangible	assets	amortisation	is	provided	on	a	straight	
line	basis	over	their	useful	life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible 
assets	 are	 assessd	 period-end.	 Reassessing	 the	 useful	 life	 of	 an	
intangible	 asset	 with	 a	 definite	 useful	 life	 after	 it	 was	 classified	 as	
indefinite	is	an	indicator	that	the	asset	may	be	impaired.	As	a	result	

the	asset	is	tested	for	impairment	and	the	remaining	carrying	amount	
is	amortised	over	its	useful	life.

Amortisation	 is	 provided	 to	 write	 down	 the	 intangible	 assets,	 on	 a	
straight	line	basis,	to	their	residual	values	as	follows:

Item Useful Life

Computer software 3	years

 1.8		Leases	

A	lease	is	classified	as	a	finance	lease	if	it	transfers	substantially	all	
the	risks	and	rewards	incidental	to	ownership.	A	lease	is	classified	as	
an	operating	lease	if	it	does	not	transfer	substantially	all	the	risks	and	
rewards incidental to ownership.

Leased assets

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
statement	of	financial	position	at	amounts	equal	to	the	fair	value	of	the	
leased	property	or,	 if	 lower,	the	present	value	of	the	minimum	lease	
payments.	The	corresponding	liability	to	the	lessor	is	included	in	the	
statement	of	financial	position	as	a	finance	lease	obligation.

Leases	 of	 assets	 are	 classified	 as	 finance	 leases	 whenever	 the	
terms	of	 the	 lease	transfer	substantially	all	 the	risks	and	rewards	of	
ownership to the lessee

Assets	held	under	finance	 leases	are	recognised	as	assets	at	 their	
fair	value	at	the	inception	of	the	lease	or,	if	lower	at	the	present	value	
of	 the	minimum	 lease	 payments.	 The	 corresponding	 liability	 to	 the	
lessor	is	included	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	as	a	finance	
lease	obligation.	Lease	payments	are	apportioned	between	finance	
charges	 and	 reduction	 of	 the	 lease	 obligation	 so	 as	 to	 achieve	
a	constant	 rate	of	 interest	 on	 the	 remaining	balance	of	 the	 liability.	
Finance	charges	are	charged	to	surplus	or	deficit.

The	finance	leases	are	measured	at	fair	value	in	subsequent	periods.	
Leases	under	which	the	lessor	effectively	retains	the	risks	and	benefits	
of	ownership	are	classified	as	operating	leases.		Obligations	incurred	
under	 operating	 leases	 are	 charged	 to	 the	 statement	 of	 financial	
performance	in	equal	instalments	over	the	period	of	the	lease.

Operating leases – Lessee

Operating	 lease	 payments	 are	 recognised	 as	 an	 expense	 on	 a	
straight-line	basis	 over	 the	 lease	 term.	 The	difference	between	 the	
amounts	 recognised	as	an	expense	and	 the	contractual	 payments	
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are	 recognised	 as	 an	 operating	 lease	 asset.	 This	 liability	 is	 not	
discounted.

Any	contingent	rents	are	expensed	in	the	period	they	are	incurred.

	 1.9		Inventory

Inventory	are	measured	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realisable	value.
Net	realisable	value	for	consumables	is	assumed	to	approximate	the	
cost	price	due	to	the	relatively	short	period	that	these	assets	are	held	
in stock.

Inventory	are	measured	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realisable	value	
on	the	first-in-first-out	basis.

Net	 realisable	 value	 is	 the	 estimated	 selling	 price	 in	 the	 ordinary	
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated	costs	necessary	to	make	the	sale.
The cost of reporting date comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of 
conversion	and	other	costs	incurred	in	bringing	the	inventory	to	their	
present location and condition.

The	cost	of	inventories	is	based	on	the	first-in-first-out	(FIFO)	method	
and	includes	expenditure	incurred	in	acquiring	the	consumables	and	
other	 costs	 incurred	 in	bringing	 them	 to	 their	 existing	 location	and	
condition

When	consumables	are	donated	or	issued	to	other	entities	for	no	cost/
nominal	values,	consumables	shall	be	measured	at	the	lower	of	cost	
and	net	realisable	value.

	 1.10		Provisions	and	contingencies

Provisions	are	recognised	when:
•	 the	entity	has	a	present	obligation	as	a	result	of	a	past	event;
•	 it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	embodying	economic	

benefits	 or	 service	 potential	 will	 be	 required	 to	 settle	 the	
obligation; and

•	 a	reliable	estimate	can	be	made	of	the	obligation.

The	 amount	 of	 a	 provision	 is	 the	 best	 estimate	 of	 the	 expenditure	
expected	 to	 be	 required	 to	 settle	 the	 present	 obligation	 at	 the	
reporting date.

Where	 the	effect	of	 time	value	of	money	 is	material,	 the	amount	of	
a	provision	is	the	present	value	of	the	expenditures	expected	to	be	
required to settle the obligation.

The	 discount	 rate	 is	 a	 pre-tax	 rate	 that	 reflects	 current	 market	
assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	
liability.

Where	some	or	all	of	 the	expenditure	 required	 to	settle	a	provision	
is	expected	 to	be	 reimbursed	by	another	party,	 the	 reimbursement	
is	 recognised	 when,	 and	 only	 when,	 it	 is	 virtually	 certain	 that	
reimbursement	will	be	received	if	the	entity	settles	the	obligation.	The	
reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised 
for	the	reimbursement	does	not	exceed	the	amount	of	the	provision.

Provisions	are	reviewed	at	each	reporting	date	and	adjusted	to	reflect	
the	 current	 best	 estimate.	 Provisions	 are	 reversed	 if	 it	 is	 no	 longer	
probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	embodying	economic	benefits	
or	service	potential	will	be	required,	to	settle	the	obligation.

Where	 discounting	 is	 used,	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 a	 provision	
increases	in	each	period	to	reflect	the	passage	of	time.	This	increase	
is	recognised	as	an	interest	expense.

A	provision	is	used	only	for	expenditures	for	which	the	provision	was	
originally	recognised.

Provisions	are	not	recognised	for	future	operating	deficits.

If	an	entity	has	a	contract	that	is	onerous,	the	present	obligation	(net	
of	recoveries)	under	the	contract	 is	recognised	and	measured	as	a	
provision.

No obligation arises as a consequence of the sale or transfer of an 
operation	until	the	entity	is	committed	to	the	sale	or	transfer,	that	is,	
there is a binding agreement.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised 
in	 business	 combinations	 that	 are	 recognised	 separately	 are	
subsequently	measured	at	the	higher	of:
•	 	the	amount	that	would	be	recognised	as	a	provision;	and
•	 	the	amount	initially	recognised	less	cumulative	amortisation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. 
Contingencies	are	disclosed	in	note	24.
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	 1.11		Financial	instruments

Classification

The	 Commission’s	 	 principal	 financial	 instruments	 are	 receivables,	
cash	and	cash	equivalents,	payables	and	lease	liabilities.
Classification	 depends	 on	 the	 purpose	 for	 which	 the	 financial	
instruments	 were	 obtained	 /	 incurred	 and	 takes	 place	 at	 initial	
recognition.	Classification	is	re-assessed	on	an	annual	basis,	except	
for	derivatives	and	financial	assets	designated	as	at	fair	value	through	
surplus	or	deficit,	which	shall	not	be	classified	out	of	 the	 fair	value	
through	surplus	or	deficit	category.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial	 assets	 are	 recognised	 in	 the	 Commission’s	 statements	
of	 financial	position	when	 the	Commission	becomes	a	party	 to	 the	
contractual	provisions	of	an	instrument.	

Financial	 instruments	 are	 initially	 recognised	 using	 the	 trade	 date	
accounting method.
Financial	assets	are	classified	as	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	
surplus	or	deficit,	loans	and	receivables	or	held	to	maturity	investment	
as	appropriate.	When	financial	assets	are	initially	recognised	they	are	
measured	at	fair	value.

The	Commission	determines	the	classification	of	its	financial	assets	on	
initial	 recognition	and,	where	allowed	and	appropriate,	re-evaluates	
this	designation	at	each	financial	year	end.

Impairment of financial assets

At	each	end	of	the	reporting	period	the	entity	assesses	all	financial	
assets,	 other	 than	 those	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 surplus	 or	 deficit,	 to	
determine	whether	there	is	objective	evidence	that	a	financial	asset	
or	group	of	financial	assets	has	been	impaired.

Impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	surplus	or	deficit.

Impairment	 losses	 are	 reversed	 when	 an	 increase	 in	 the	 financial	
asset’s	 recoverable	 amount	 can	 be	 related	 objectively	 to	 an	 event	
occurring	 after	 the	 impairment	 was	 recognised,	 subject	 to	 the	
restriction	that	the	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	at	the	date	
that	 the	 impairment	 is	 reversed	shall	not	exceed	what	 the	carrying	
amount	would	have	been	had	the	impairment	not	been	recognised.

Reversals	of	 impairment	 losses	are	 recognised	 in	surplus	or	deficit	
except	for	equity	investments	classified	as	available	for	sale.

Impairment	 losses	 are	 also	 not	 subsequently	 reversed	 for	

available-for-sale	equity	investments	which	are	held	at	cost	because	
fair	value	was	not	determinable.

Asset carried at amortised cost

In	 relation	 to	 receivables	 a	provision	 for	 impairment	 is	made	when	
there	is	objective	evidence	(such	as	the	probability	of	insolvency	or	
significant	financial	difficulties	of	the	debtor)	that	the	Commission	will	
not be able to collect all the amounts due under the original terms of 
the	invoice.	The	carrying	amount	of	the	receivable	is	reduced	through	
use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when 
they	are	assessed	as	uncollectible.

Loans and other receivables

Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	
or	determinable	payments	 that	are	not	quoted	 in	an	active	market.	
After	 initial	 measurement	 loans	 and	 receivables	 are	 carried	 at	
amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method	less	any	allowance	
for	impairment.	Gains	and	losses	are	recognised	in	surplus	or	deficit	
when	 the	 receivables	 are	 derecognised	 or	 impaired,	 as	 well	 as	
through the amortisation process.

Trade	and	other	receivables	are	classified	as	loans	and	receivables.

Payables

Trade	 payables	 are	 initially	 measured	 at	 fair	 value,	 and	 are	
subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost,	using	the	effective	interest	
rate method.

After	 initial	 recognition,	 payables	 are	 subsequently	 measured	 at	
amortised	 cost	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	 method.	 Gains	 and	
losses	are	 recognised	 in	surplus	and	deficit	when	 the	 liabilities	are	
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 

Cash	and	cash	equivalents

Cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 in	 the	 statement	 of	 financial	 position	
comprise	cash	at	banks	and	on	hand	and	cash	equivalents	with	an	
original	maturity	of	three	months	or	less.	For	the	purpose	of	the	cash	
flow	statement,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	consist	of	cash	and	cash	
equivalents	as	defined	above,	net	of	outstanding	bank	overdrafts.

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	recognised	at	fair	value.

1.12		Impairment	of	cash‑generating	assets

Cash-generating	 assets	 are	 those	 assets	 held	 by	 the	 entity	 with	
the	 primary	 objective	 of	 generating	 a	 commercial	 return.	When	 an	
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asset	 is	 deployed	 in	 a	 manner	 consistent	 with	 that	 adopted	 by	 a	
profit-orientated	entity,	it	generates	a	commercial	return.

Impairment	 is	 a	 loss	 in	 the	 future	 economic	 benefits	 or	 service	
potential	of	an	asset,	over	and	above	 the	systematic	 recognition	of	
the	 loss	of	 the	asset’s	 future	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	
through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying	amount	 is	 the	amount	 at	which	an	asset	 is	 recognised	 in	
the	statement	of	financial	position	after	deducting	any	accumulated	
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A	 cash-generating	 unit	 is	 the	 smallest	 identifiable	 group	 of	 assets	
held	 with	 the	 primary	 objective	 of	 generating	 a	 commercial	 return	
that	 generates	 cash	 inflows	 from	 continuing	 use	 that	 are	 largely	
independent	of	the	cash	inflows	from	other	assets	or	groups	of	assets.

Costs	 of	 disposal	 are	 incremental	 costs	 directly	 attributable	 to	 the	
disposal	of	an	asset,	excluding	finance	costs	and	income	tax	expense.

Depreciation	 (Amortisation)	 is	 the	 systematic	 allocation	 of	 the	
depreciable	amount	of	an	asset	over	its	useful	life.

Fair	 value	 less	costs	 to	sell	 is	 the	amount	obtainable	 from	 the	sale	
of	an	asset	 in	an	arm’s	 length	 transaction	between	knowledgeable,	
willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

Recoverable	 amount	 of	 an	 asset	 or	 a	 cash-generating	 unit	 is	
the	 higher	 its	 fair	 value	 less	 costs	 to	 sell	 and	 its	 value	 in	 use. 
Useful	life	is	either:
(a)	 	the	period	of	time	over	which	an	asset	is	expected	to	be	used	

by	the	entity;	or
(b)	 	 the	 number	 of	 production	 or	 similar	 units	 expected	 to	 be	

obtained	from	the	asset	by	the	entity.

Cash	generating	units

If	there	is	any	indication	that	an	asset	may	be	impaired,	the	recoverable	
amount	 is	 estimated	 for	 the	 individual	 asset.	 If	 it	 is	 not	possible	 to	
estimate	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 the	 individual	 asset,	 the	 entity	
determines	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 the	 cash-generating	 unit	 to	
which	the	asset	belongs	(the	asset’s	cash-generating	unit).

If	 an	 active	 market	 exists	 for	 the	 output	 produced	 by	 an	 asset	 or	
group	of	assets,	that	asset	or	group	of	assets	is	identified	as	a	cash-

generating	unit,	even	 if	 some	or	all	of	 the	output	 is	used	 internally.	
If	 the	cash	 inflows	generated	by	any	asset	or	cash-generating	unit	
are	affected	by	internal	transfer	pricing,	the	entity	use	management’s	
best	estimate	of	future	price(s)	that	could	be	achieved	in	arm’s	length	
transactions in estimating:
•	 the	 future	cash	 inflows	used	to	determine	 the	asset’s	or	cash-

generating	unit’s	value	in	use;	and
•	 the	future	cash	outflows	used	to	determine	the	value	in	use	of	

any	other	assets	or	cash-generating	units	 that	are	affected	by	
the internal transfer pricing.

Cash-generating	units	are	identified	consistently	from	period	to	period	
for	the	same	asset	or	types	of	assets,	unless	a	change	is	justified.

The	carrying	amount	 of	 a	 cash-generating	unit	 is	determined	on	a	
basis	consistent	with	 the	way	 the	 recoverable	amount	of	 the	cash-
generating unit is determined.

An	 impairment	 loss	 is	 recognised	 for	 a	 cash-generating	 unit	 if	 the	
recoverable	amount	 of	 the	unit	 is	 less	 than	 the	carrying	amount	of	
the	unit.	The	impairment	is	allocated	to	reduce	the	carrying	amount	
of	the	cash-generating	assets	of	the	unit	on	a	pro	rata	basis,	based	
on	 the	carrying	amount	of	each	asset	 in	 the	unit.	These	 reductions	
in	carrying	amounts	are	 treated	as	 impairment	 losses	on	 individual	
assets.
In	 allocating	 an	 impairment	 loss,	 the	 entity	 does	 not	 reduce	 the	
carrying	amount	of	an	asset	below	the	highest	of:
•	 its	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	(if	determinable);
•	 its	value	in	use	(if	determinable);	and
•	 zero.

The	amount	of	the	impairment	 loss	that	would	otherwise	have	been	
allocated	to	the	asset	is	allocated	pro	rata	to	the	other	cash-generating	
assets of the unit.

Where	a	non-cash-generating	asset	contributes	to	a	cash-generating	
unit,	a	proportion	of	the	carrying	amount	of	that	non-cash-generating	
asset	is	allocated	to	the	carrying	amount	of	the	cash-generating	unit	
prior	to	estimation	of	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	cash-generating	
unit.

	 1.13		Related	parties

A	 related	party	 transaction	 is	a	 transfer	of	 resources	or	obligations	
between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
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Parties	 are	 considered	 to	 be	 related	 if	 one	 party	 has	 the	 ability	 to	
control	the	other	party	or	exercise	significant	influence	over	the	other	
party	 in	making	 financial	 and	 operating	 decisions	 or	 if	 the	 related	
party	entity	and	another	entity	are	subject	to	common	control.

Related parties include:
(a)		 Entities	 that	 directly,	 or	 indirectly	 through	 one	 or	 more	

intermediaries,	control,	or	are	controlled	by	the	entity;
(b)  Associates (International Public Sector Accounting Standard 

(IPSAS)	7,	“Accounting	for	Investments	in	Associates”);
(c)		 Individuals	 owning,	 directly	 or	 indirectly,	 an	 interest	 in	 the	

reporting	entity	that	gives	them	significant	influence		
over	 the	 entity,	 and	close	members	 of	 the	 family	 of	 any	 such	
individual;

(d)	 Key	management	personnel,	and	close	members	of	the	family	of	
key	management	personnel;	and

(e)	 Entities	in	which	a	substantial	ownership	interest	is	held,	directly	
or	indirectly,	by	any	person	described	in	(c)	or	(d),	or	over	which	
such	a	person	is	able	to	exercise	significant	influence

 The following are deemed not to be related parties:
(a)	 (i)	 	Providers	of	finance	in	the	course	of	their	business	in	that	

regard; and
 (ii)  Trade unions; in the course of their normal dealings with 

an	entity	by	virtue	only	of	 those	dealings	(although	they	
may	circumscribe	 the	 freedom	of	action	of	 the	entity	or	
participate	in	its	decision-making	process);	and

(b)	 An	entity	with	which	the	relationship	is	solely	that	of	an	agency.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2010 2009

 ‘000  ‘000

2. Government grants and subsidies

Government	grants	and	subsidies	 	 80,739 	 44,000

3. Fee Income

Facility	fee	  1,891 	 1,688

Filing fees 	 28,489  48,818

 	 30,380 	 50,506

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange 
Transactions are as follows: 
Government	grants	&	subsidies	 	 80,739 	 44,000

Fee income 	 30,380 	 50,506

  111,119  94,506

4. Interest received

Interest Revenue 

Interest	received	on	investments	 	 1,987 	 4,526

5. Other Income

Conferences,	skills	levy	refund	and	recoveries	from	insurance	 	 186  183

6. Employee related costs

Basic	 	 55,962 	 42,041

Performance bonus 	 7,163 	 4,635

Cellphone allowance 	 715 	 579

Group life and pension administration 	 1,186 	 873

Other 	 6,531 	 6,810

  71,557  54,938
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Accounting Authority’s emoluments

Annual Remuneration 	 1,054  959

Performance	Bonus	  145 	 79

Group Life and pension admin cost 	 23 	 21

Cell phone allowance 	 22 	 16

  1,244  1,075

Executive Committee emoluments

Annual Remuneration 	 7,003  5,354

Performance	Bonus	 	 900 	 638

Group life and pension admin costs 	 163 	 112

Cell phone allowance 	 77 	 80

  8,143  6,184

Other employees

Annual Remuneration 	 47,905 	 35,728

Performance	Bonus	 	 6,118  3,918

Group life an pension admin coss 	 1,000 	 740

Cell phone allowance 	 616  483

Other staff related costs 	 6,531 	 6,810

  62,170  47,679

Included	in	other	costs	are	costs	related	to	employment	of	graduate	trainees,	training	and	development,	social	events	and	teambuilding,	staff	recruitment	

costs,	employee	assistance	program,	temporary	staff		costs	and	contributions	to	skills	levy	and	workmen’s	compensation.

7. Administrative expenditure

General	and	administrative	expenses	 	 2,698 	 2,095

Auditors	remuneration	-	External	audit	fees	 	 565 	 363

  3,263  2,458

8. Finance costs

Leased assets (Photocopiers) 	 228 	 25

9. Operating expenses

Audit committee fees 	 247 	 66

Internal audit fees 	 926 	 480

Consulting and professional fees  5,941 	 9,620

Case related costs 	 20,622  19,849

Property	rental		 	 7,048  5,891
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Research	and	development	costs	  185 	 109

Travel	and	accommodation	 	 2,384 	 2,447

Education and awareness 	 2,133 	 2,431

Maintenance, repairs and running costs  444 	 497

Fees paid to Tribunal 	 5,203  8,814

Other	expenses	 	 6,061 	 2,130

  51,194  52,334

Included	in	other	expenses	are	costs	related	to	catering,	security,	storage,	corporate	gifts,	subscriptions,	books	and	publications,	software	licences	and	

upgrades	and	costs	related	to	the	Commission’s	10	year	review	amounting	to	R2,759	

10. Comparative figures

There	have	been	no	adjustment	to	prior	year	figures.

11. Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions

Trade	debtors	from	exchange	transactions	 	 190  99

Sundry	debtors	 	 462 	 20

  652  119

Trade and other receivables pledged as security

None	of	the	trade	and	other	receivables	have	been	pledged	as	security	for	any	obligations.

Fair value of other receivables

The	carrying	value	of	trade	and	other	receivables	approximates	fair	values.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	that	is	held	with	registered	banking	institutions	and	are	subject	to	insignificant	interest	rate	risk.	The	carrying	
amount	of	these	assets	approximates	their	fair	value.

Cash on hand 	 2,182 	 2,823

Short-term	deposits	 	 16,670 	 29,830

Other	cash	and	cash	equivalents	  3  5

  18,855  32,658

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	held	by	the	entity	that	are	not	available	for	use	by	the	entity.	  18,855  32,658
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Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand

The	credit	quality	of	cash	at	bank	and	short	 term	deposits,	excluding	cash	on	hand	 that	are	neither	past	due	nor	 impaired	can	be	assessed	by	
reference	to	historical	information	about	counterpart	default	rates.	None	of	the	financial	institutions	with	which	bank	balances	are	held	defaulted	in	prior	
periods	and	as	a	result	a	credit	rating	of	high	are	ascribed	to	the	financial	institutions.	The	company’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	as	a	result	of	
the	bank	balances	held	is	limited	to	the	carrying	value	of	these	balances	as	detailed	above.	All	bank	balances	are	held	with	one	banking	institution	
increasing	the	related	concentration	risk.	However,	to	mitigate	the	risk	of	loss,	the	company	only	transacts	with	highly	reputable	financial	institutions.

13. Property, plant and equipment

2010 2009

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Furniture	and	fixtures	 	 2,224 	 (1,547) 	 677 	 1,924  (1,393)  531

Motor	vehicles	 	 442 	 (129)  313 	 442 	 (63) 	 379

Office	equipment	 	 611 	 (467)  144 	 718  (491) 	 227

IT equipment 	 4,035 	 (2,132) 	 1,903 	 3,719 	 (1,424) 	 2,295

Photocopiers	under	finance	lease	 	 2,700 	 (750) 	 1,950 	 701 	 (672) 	 29

Total  10,012  (5,025)  4,987  7,504  (4,043)  3,461

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2010
Opening 
Balance

Additions Depreciation Total

Furniture	and	fixtures	  531 	 299  (153) 	 677

Motor	vehicles	 	 379 	 - 	 (66)  313

Office	equipment	 	 227 	 -  (83)  144

IT equipment 	 2,295 	 316 	 (708) 	 1,903

Photocopiers	under	finance	lease	 	 29 	 2,700 	 (779) 	 1,950

  3,461  3,315  (1,789)  4,987

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2009

Opening 
Balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation
Impairment 

loss
Total

Furniture	and	fixtures	 	 566 	 70 	 - 	 (37) 	 (68)  531

Motor	vehicles	 	 197 	 437 	 (196)  (59) 	 - 	 379

Office	equipment	 	 117 	 104 	 - 	 6 	 - 	 227

IT equipment 	 1,425 	 1,080 	 - 	 (203) 	 (7) 	 2,295

Photocopiers	under	finance	lease	 	 262 	 - 	 - 	 (233) 	 - 	 29

  2,567  1,691  (196)  (526)  (75)  3,461

The	Commission	is	leasing	photocopiers	under	a	finance	lease.		The	lease	agreement	does	not	impose	any	restrictions.	The	lease	agreement	can	be	

extended	at	the	end	of	the	three	year	period	for	a	further	period.
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14. Intangible assets

2010 2009

Cost / Valuation
Accumulated 

amortisation
Carrying value Cost / Valuation

Accumulated 

amortisation
Carrying value

Computer software  2,999  (1,149)  1,850  2,039  (506)  1,533

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2010

Opening 
Balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software  1,533  960  (643)  1,850

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2009

Opening 
Balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software  339  1,475  (281)  1,533

The	useful	life	of		computer	software		still	in	use	were	assessed.	There	are	no	residual	values	in	computer	software	as	computer	software	is	considered	

not to be resaleable.

15. Finance lease obligation

Minimum lease payments due 

	-	within	one	year	 	 1,061 	 23

	-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive	 	 1,237 	 -

	 2,298 	 23
less:	future	finance	charges	 	 (262) 	 -

Present value of minimum lease payments  2,036  23

Present value of minimum lease payments due 

	-	within	one	year	 	 880 	 23

	-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive	 	 1,156 	 -

  2,036  23

Non-current	liabilities	 	 1,156 	 -

Current liabilities 	 880 	 23

  2,036  23

Obligations	under	finance	leases	are	secured	by	the	lessor’s	title	to	the	leased	asset.	The	average	lease	term	is	3	years	and	the	average	effective	

borrowing	rate	was	10%.	

Competion Commission 
Financial	Statements	for	the	year	ended		31	March	2010



67

16. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2010

Opening Balance Additions
Utilised during 

the year
Total

Provision		 	 2,112  154 	 (2,112)  154

Reconciliation of provisions - 2009

Opening Balance Additions
Utilised during 

the year
Reversed during 

the year
Total

Provision	 	 277 	 2,112 	 (79)  (198) 	 2,112

The	provisions	for	the	current	year	includes		a	provision	for		the	Commissioner’s	performance		bonus	for	the	year	ending	March	2010.

17. Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

Trade	payables	  8,858 	 7,035

Leave	due	to	employees	 	 2,768 	 2,731

Accrued performance bonus 	 6,854 	 4,708

  18,480  14,474

Performance	bonus	is	the	accrued	amount	due	to	employees	at	31	March	2010.	Amount	accrued	was	paid	out	in	April	2010.

The	trade	and	other	payables	are	interest	free	and	are	also	unsecured.	

Fair value of trade and other payables

Fair	value	approximates	carrying	value.

18. Net cash flows from operating activities

Deficit	  (15,381)  (11,393)
ADJUSTMENTS FOR: 

Depreciation and amortisation 	 2,431 	 808

Surplus  on sale of assets 	 - 	 (30)

Impairment	deficit	 	 - 	 75

Movements	in	provisions	  (1,958)  1,835
CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL: 

Inventory	 	 (110)  (55)

Trade	and	other	receivables	from	exchange	transactions	  (533) 	 426

Trade	and	other	payables	from	exchange	transactions	 	 4,003 	 (1,032)
 (11,548)  (9,366)
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19. Movement in investments

  

Acquisition	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 (3,797) 	 (1,691)

Acquisition of intangible assets : computer software 	 (960) 	 (1,475)

Proceeds	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 - 	 228

  (4,757)  (2,938)

20. Retirement benefits

Defined contribution plan

All	employees	are	members	of	a	defined	contribution	scheme	administered	by	Sanlam	Ltd.		The	scheme	is	currently	invested	in	investment	policies	

underwritten	by	Metropolitan	Life.	As	an	insured	fund,	the	Competition	Commission	Pension	Fund	complies	with	regulation	28	of	the	Pension	Funds	

Act	of	1956.

21. Income taxation exemption

The	Commission	is	exempted	from	income	tax	in	terms	of	Section	10(1)(a)	of	the	Income	Tax	Act,	1962.

22. Changes In accounting estimates

A	change	in	accounting	estimate	is	an	adjustment	of	the	carrying	amount	of	an	asset	or	a	liability,	or	the	amount	of	the	periodic	consumption	of	an	

asset,	that	results	from	the	assessment	of	the	present	status	of,	and	expected	future	benefits	and	obligations	associated	with,	assets	and	liabilities.	

Changes	in	accounting	estimates	result	from	new	information	or	new	developments	and,	accordingly,	are	not	correction	of	errors.	

The	effect	of	a	change	in	an	accounting	estimate,	other	than	a	change	to	which	the	following	paragraph	applies,	shall	be	recognised	prospectively	

by	including	it	in	surplus	or	deficit	in:	(a)	The	period	of	the	change,	if	the	change	affects	the	period	only;	or	(b)	The	period	of	the	change	and	future	

periods, if the change affects both. 

To	the	extent	that	a	change	in	an	accounting	estimate	gives	rise	to	changes	in	assets	and	liabilities,	or	relates	to	an	item	of	net	assets/equity,	it	shall	be	

recognized	by	adjusting	the	carrying	amount	of	the	related	asset,	liability	or	net	assets/equity	item	in	the	period	of	change.

The	useful	life	and	residual	value	of		assets	still	in	use	were	assessed	.	The	useful	life	of	assets	still	in	use	were	increased	by	1	to	3	years.

23. Rental and finance lease commitments

Office	rental

There	is	no	written	lease	agreement	with	the	dti.	However	premises	are	rented	from	the	dti	and	rental	payments	are	based	on	amounts	determined	by	

the	dtiI	including	annual	CPIX	changes.

Finance lease commitments

Photocopiers

Up	to	1	year 	 880 	 23

1	to	5	years 	 1,156 	 -

	 2,036 	 23

The	Commission	is	leasing	equipment	under	a	finance	lease.	The	lease	agreement	does	not	impose	any	restrictions.

The	lease	agreement	can	be	extended	at	the	end	of	the	three	year	period	for	a	further	period.
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24. Contingencies liabilities

Accumulated surplus

The	accumulated	surplus	of	R5,8m	has	been	classified	as	a	contingent	liability	at	31	March	2010	as	the	Competition	Commission	had	not	yet	received	

approval	to	retain	the	accumulated	surplus.	In	terms	of	the	PFMA	Section	53	(3)	entities	are	not	allowed	to	accumulate	surpluses	unless	approved	by	

National	Treasury.	An	approval	was	granted	by	National	Treasury	to	retain	the		surplus	of	R21,217m	(March	2009).	The	Commission	is	obliged	to	repay	

to	National	Treasury	any	amount	of	the	surplus	not	granted	for	retention.	The	Commission	is	of	the	opinion	that	National	Treasury	will	grant	the	approval	

and	therefore	the	Commision	will	not	be	required	to	repay	this	amount.	

Litigations and claims

The	Commission	has	no	knowledge	of	any	contingencies	at	date	of	the	financial	statements.	However,	the	Commission	wishes	to	report	that	a	former	

employee	was	suspened	in	September	2007	for	fraud	and	subsequently	found	guilty	of	gross	insubordination	by	an	independent	Chairperson	at	a	

hearing	and	summarily	dismissed.	The	former	employee	has	subsequently	filed	an	unfair	labour	practice	dispute	with	the	CCMA	and	the	CCMA	ruled	

in	favour	of	the	Commission.	Application	for	review	filed	by	the	employee	to	the	Labour	Court	was	opposed.	The	matter	is	now	over	as	the	time	limit	for	

the	employee	to	seek	further	relief	from	the	Labour	Court	has	expired.

25. Related parties

2010 2009

Relationships  ‘000 ‘000

The Competition Tribunal Public	entity	in	National	sphere	

The Department of Trade and 
Industry	

National Department in National sphere 

Members	of	key	management Mr. M. Ramburuth (Commissioner), 

Mr.	T.	Bonakele	(Deputy	Commissioner), 

Mr.	J.	Dreyer	(Commission	Secretary), 

Mr.	S.	Roberts	(Manager:	Policy	&	Research), 

Ms.	N.	Pillay	(Manager	Corporate	Service	and	CFO), 

Ms.	W.	Mkwanazi	(Manager:	Legal	Services),	 

Ms.	N.	Mokoena	(Manager:	Strategy	and	Stakeholder	

Relations), 

Mr.	M.	van	Hooven	(Manager:	Mergers	and	Acquisitions), 

Mr.	K.	Weeks	(Manager:	Enforcements	&	

Exemptions)	
 

Related party balances

Amounts Included In Trade Payables Regarding Related Parties 

The Competition Tribunal 	 721  11
The Department of Trade and 
Industry	

 85 	 64

  806  75
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Related party transactions

The department of trade and industry 

Government	grant	received		 	 80,739 	 44,000

Rent paid  	 7,048 	 5,480

Telephone and Internet costs paid 	 1,126 	 1,116
Amount	due	by	the	Department	of		Trade	and	Industry	for	the	maintenance	of	the	case	
management	system	in	prior	year	set	off	against	grant	received	in	year	2009	

	 - 	 (205)

The competition tribunal 

Filing fees refunded 	 5,203  8,814

Facility	Fee	income	received	  1,891 	 1,688

Net	employee	costs	recovered	 	 310  115

Net	administration	costs	recovered 	 452 	 17

Penalties collected on behalf of related parties and transferred to related parties 

The	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry	 	 336,098 	 144,680

Compensation to key management

Member	of	key	management
2010 

R’000

2009 

R’000
Commissioner: Mr. M. Ramburuth     
     Package 	 1,099 	 996
					Bonus	  145 	 79

Deputy	Comissioner:	Mr.	T.	Bonakele	     
     Package  1,114 	 806
					Bonus	 	 177  113

Comission	Secretary:	Mr.	J.	Dreyer	     
     Package 	 827 	 649
					Bonus	  83 	 78

Manager:	Policy	&	Research	-	Mr.	S.	Roberts	     
     Package 	 1,071 	 861
					Bonus	 	 172  144

Manager:	Corporate	Services	&	CFO	-	Ms.	N.	Pillay	     
     Package 	 1,025 	 798
					Bonus	 	 128 	 103

Manager:	Legal	Services	-	Ms.	W.	Mkwananzi	     
     Package 	 900 	 641
					Bonus	  139 	 104

Manager:	Strategy	and	Stakeholder	Relations	-	Ms.	N.	Mokoena	(current	year	11	months)	     
     Package 	 823 	 632
					Bonus	 	 - 	 -
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Manager:	Mergers	&	Acquisitions	-	Mr.	M	van	Hooven	   	 96
     Package 	 878  158
					Bonus	 	 117 	 -

Manager:	Enforcements	&	Exemptions	-	Mr.	K.	Weeks	(current	year	8	months)	     
     Package 	 605 	 377
					Bonus	  84 	 -

Acting	Manager:	Compliance	-	Mr.	M.	Rubushe	 	 -  
     Package 	 - 	 377
					Bonus	 	 - 	 -

Manager:	Enforcements	&	Exemptions	-	Mr.	T.	Kunene	 	 -   
     Package 	 - 	 600
					Bonus	 	 - 	 -

	Manager:	Legal	Services	-	Mr.	M.	Worsley	 	 -   
     Package 	 - 	 157
					Bonus	 	 - 	 -

  9,387  7,769

26. Financial risk management

The	main	risks	arising	from	the	Commissions	financial	instruments	are	market	risk,	liquidity	risk	and	credit	risk.

Credit risk

The	Commission	trades	only	with	recognised,	creditworthy	third	parties.	It	is	the	Commission’s	policy	that	all	customers	who	wish	to	trade	on	credit	

terms	are	 subject	 to	 credit	 verification	procedures.	 In	 addition,	 receivables	balances	 are	monitored	on	 an	 ongoing	basis	with	 the	 result	 that	 the	

Commision	exposure	to	bad	debts	is	not	significant.	The	maximum	exposure	is	the	carrying	amounts	as	disclosed	in	Note	11.	There	is	no	significant	

concentration of credit risk within the Commision.

With	respect	to	credit	risk	arising	from	the	other	financial	assets	of	the	Commission,	which	comprise	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	the	Commission’s	

exposure	 to	credit	 risk	arises	 from	default	of	 the	counterparty,	with	a	maximum	exposure	equal	 to	 the	carrying	amount	of	 these	 instruments.	The	

Commision	cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	placed	with	high	credit	quality	financial	institutions	therefore	the	credit	risk	with	respect	to	cash	and	cash	

equivalents	is	limited.

Exposure to credit risk

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	at	the	reporting	date	from	financial	assets	was:

2010 2009

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	  18,855 	 32,658

Other	receivables	 	 652  119

Total  19,507  32,777
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Concentration of credit risk

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	for	financial	assets	at	the	reporting	date	by	credit	rating	category	was	as	follows:

2010
AAA and 

government
Unrated

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	  18,855 	 -

Other	receivables	 	 - 	 652

2009
AAA and 

government
Unrated

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 32,658 	 -

Other	receivables	 	 -  119

Ageing of financial assets

The	following	table	provides	information	regarding	the	credit	quality	of	assets	which	may	expose	the	Commission	to	credit	risk 

2010
Neither past due nor 

impaired

Past due but not 
impaired	-	less	than	

2	months

Past due but not 
impaired	-	more	
than	2	months

Carrying	value

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	  18,855 	 - 	 - 	 -

Other	receivables	 	 652 	 - 	 - 	 -

2009
Neither past due nor 

impaired

Past due but not 
impaired	-	less	than	

2	months

Past due but not 
impaired	-	more	
than	2	months

Carrying	value

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 32,658 	 - 	 - 	 -

Other	receivables	  119 	 - 	 - 	 -

Market risk

Market	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	 that	 changes	 in	 market	 prices,	 such	 as	 the	 interest	 rate	 will	 affect	 the	 value	 of	 the	 financial	 assets	 of	 the	 Commission. 

Interest rate risk

The	Commission	is	exposed	to	interest	rate	changes	in	respect	of	returns	on	its	investments	with	financial	institutions	and	interest	payable	on	finance	

leases contracted with outside parties.

The	Commission’s	exposure	to	interest	risk	is	managed	by	investing,	on	a	short	term	basis,	in	current	accounts	and	the	Corporation	for	Public	Deposits. 
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Sensitivity analysis

Increase/(decrease) in net surplus for the year

2010 Change in interest rates Upward	change Downward change

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 1.00%  189  (189)

Finance lease 1.00% 	 (20) 	 20

2009 

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 1.00% 	 326 	 (326)

Finance lease 1.00% 	 - 	 -

Liquidity risk

The	Competition	Commission’s	risk	to	liquidity	is	a	rsult	of	the	funds	available		to	cover	future	commitments.	Taking	into	consideration	the	Competition	

Commission’s	current	 funding	structures	and	availability	of	cash	resources	 the	Commission	regards	 this	risk	 to	be	 low	provided	National	Treasury	

approves	the	retention	of	the	surplus

Exposure to liquidity risk 

The	following	table	reflects	the	Commission’s		exposure	to	liquidity	risk	from	financial	liabilities:

2010 Carrying	amount Total	cash	flow
Contractual cash 
flow	within	1	year

Contractual cash 
flow	between	1	and	

5	years
Other	financial	liabilities	 	 18,480 	 18,480 	 18,480 	 -

Lease Liabilities 	 2,036 	 2,036 	 880 	 1,156

2009 Carrying	amount Total	cash	flow
Contractual cash 
flow	within	1	year

Contractual cash 
flow	between	1	and	

5	years
Other	financial	liabilities	 	 14,474 	 14,474 	 14,474 	 -

Lease liabilities 	 23 	 23 	 23 	 -

Financial Instruments

The	following	table	shows	the	classification	of	the	Commission’s		principal	instruments	together	with	their	carrying	value:

Financial instrument Categories Carrying amount 2010 Carrying amount 2009

Cash	and	cash	equivalents Loans	and	receivables	  18,855 	 32,658

Receivables Loans	and	receivables	 	 652  119

Payables Financial liabilities 	 18,480 	 14,474

Finance Leases Financial liabilities 	 2,036 	 23

Financial risk management

The	entity’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	financial	risks:	market	risk,	(fair	value	interest	rate	risk,	cash	flow	interest	rate	risk	and	price	risk),	credit	

risk	and	liquidity	risk.
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27. New standards and interpretations

 

27.1  Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The	entity	has	chosen	not	to	early	adopt	the	following	standards	and	interpretations,	which	have	been	published	and	are	mandatory	for	the	entity’s	

accounting	periods	beginning	on	or	after	April	01,	2010	or	later	periods:

Standard Summary and impact Effective date

GRAP	18	–	Segment	reporting This standard establishes principles for 
reporting	financial	information	by	segments.
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

Issued	by	the	ASB	–	March	2005
Effective	 date	 -	 To	 be	 determined	 by	 the	
Minister of Finance

GRAP	21	–	Impairment	of	non-cash-generating	
assets

This standard prescribes the procedures that 
the	 Entity	 applies	 to	 determine	 whether	 a	
non-cash	generating	asset	 is	 impaired	and	to	
ensure that impairment losses are recognised.
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

Issued	by	the	ASB	–	March	2009
Effective	 date	 -	 To	 be	 determined	 by	 the	
Minister of Finance

GRAP	 23	 –	 Revenue	 from	 non-exchange	
transactions

This standard prescribes the requirements 
for	 the	 financial	 reporting	 of	 revenue	 from	
non-exchange	 (grants	 and	 transfer	 payments	
transactions).
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal.
However,	 in	 terms	 of	 Directive	 5,	 the	 Entity,	
considered the accounting principles of GRAP 
23	 and	 developed	 an	 accounting	 policy	 to	
account	 for	government	 transfers	and	 foreign	
aid assistance. 

Issued		by	the	ASB	–	February	2008
Effective	 date	 -	 To	 be	 determined	 by	 the	
Minister of Finance 

GRAP	24	–	Presentation	of	budget	information	
in	the	financial	statements

This standard requires a comparison of budget 
and	 actual	 amounts	 and	 an	 explanation	 for	
material differences.
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 is	
considered	to	be	minimal.	However	the	impact	
on	disclosure	is	significant.

Issued		by	the	ASB	–	November	2007
Effective	 date	 -	 To	 be	 determined	 by	 the	
Minister of Finance

GRAP	25	-	Employee	benefits The standard prescribes the accounting 
treatment	and	disclosure	for	employee	benefits.
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

Issued	by	the	ASB	–	November	2009
Effective	 date	 -	 To	 be	 determined	 by	 the	
Minister of Finance

Competion Commission 
Financial	Statements	for	the	year	ended		31	March	2010
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GRAP	 26	 -	 Impairment	 of	 cash-generating	
assets

This standard prescribes the procedures to 
determine whether a cash generating asset is 
impaired and to ensure that impairment losses 
are recognised.
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

Issued	by	the	ASB	–	March	2009
Effective	 date	 -	 To	 be	 determined	 by	 the	
Minister of Finance 

GRAP	104	–	financial	instruments This standard establishes principles for 
recognising, measuring, presenting and 
disclosing	financial	instruments.
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

Issued	by	the	ASB		–	October	2009
Effective	 date	 -	 To	 be	 determined	 by	 the	
Minister of Finance

***	Improvements	to	the	standards	of	GRAP Improvements	 are	 proposed	 to	 the	 following	
standards	 of	GRAP:	GRAP	1-	 4,	 9-14,	 16-17,	
19	and	100	as	part	of	the	ASB’s	improvement	
project.
The	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 results	 and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

Proposed	effective	date	01	April	2011

*	Amendment	to	IFRS	7	–	Financial	
instruments: disclosures

-	Presentation	of	finance	cost
-	Amendment	dealing	with	improving	
disclosures	of	financial	instruments
-	Amendments	enhancing	disclosures	of	fair	
value	and	liquidity	risk.
This	standard	will	not	have	an	impact	on	the	
financial	results	or	disclosure	as	it	has	been	
removed	from	the	framework	prescribed	in	
Directive	5	for	periods	beginning	on	1	April	
2010.	

Issued	by	the	IASB	in	March	2009	but	the	
effective	date	was	back	dated	to	01	January	
2009.	As	per	confirmation	with	the	ASB,	this	
standard	is	not	effective	for	the	year	ended	
31	March	2010.

**	Amendment	to	IFRS	7	–	Financial	
instruments: disclosures

Clarifications	of	disclosures
The	amendment	to	the	Standard	clarifies	
certain disclosures. 
This	standard	will	not	have	an	impact	on	the	
financial	results	or	disclosure	as	it	has	been	
removed	from	the	framework	prescribed	in	
Directive	5	for	periods	beginning	on	1	April	
2010.

01	January	2011

IFRS	9	–	Financial	instruments New standard issued relating to the 
classification	and	measurement	of	financial	
assets,	which	will	replace	the	relevant	portions	
of IAS 39.
This	standard	will	not	have	an	impact	on	the	
financial	results	or	disclosure	as	it	has	been	
removed	from	the	framework	prescribed	in	
Directive	5	for	periods	beginning	on	1	April	
2010.

01	January	2013
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*Amendment	to	IAS	19	–	Employee	benefits -	Curtailments	and	negative	past	service	cost
-	Plan	administration	costs
-	Replacement	of	term	“fall	due”
-	Guidance	on	contingent	liabilities
The	impact	on	the	financial	results	and	
disclosure is considered to be minimal

Issued	by	the	IASB	in	March	2009	but	the	
effective	date	was	back	dated	to	01	January	
2009.	As	per	confirmation	with	the	ASB,	this	
standard	is	not	effective	for	the	year	ended	
31	March	2010.

Amendment	to	IAS	32	–	Financial	
instruments: presentation

Certain	financial	instruments	will	be	
classified	as	equity	whereas,	prior	to	these	
amendments,	they	would	have	been	classified	
as	financial	liabilities.
This	standard	will	not	have	an	impact	on	the	
financial	results	or	disclosure	as	it	has	been	
removed	from	the	framework	prescribed	in	
Directive	5	for	periods	beginning	on	1	April	
2010.

Issued	by	the	IASB	in	March	2009	but	the	
effective	date	was	back	dated	to	01	January	
2009.	As	per	confirmation	with	the	ASB,	this	
standard	is	not	effective	for	the	year	ended	
31	March	2010.

*Amendment	to	IAS	39	–	Financial	 instruments:	
recognition and measurement

-	Reclassification	of	derivatives	into	or	out	of	the	
classification	of	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss
-	 Designating	 and	 documenting	 hedges	 at	 the	
segment	level
-	Applicable	effective	interest	rate	on	cessation	of	
fair	value	hedge	accounting
This	 standard	 will	 not	 have	 an	 impact	 on	 the	
financial	 results	 or	 disclosure	 as	 it	 has	 been	
removed	 from	 the	 framework	 prescribed	 in	
Directive	5	for	periods	beginning	on	1	April	2010.

Issued	 by	 the	 IASB	 in	 March	 2009	 but	 the	
effective	 date	 was	 back	 dated	 to	 01	 January	
2009.	 As	 per	 confirmation	 with	 the	 ASB,	 this	
standard	 is	not	effective	 for	 the	year	ended	31	
March	2010.

Amendment	to	IAS	39	–		Financial	 instruments:	
recognition and measurement

Clarifies	two	hedge	accounting	issues:
-	Inflation	in	a	financial	hedged	item
-	A	one-sided	risk	in	a	hedged	item
This	 standard	 will	 not	 have	 an	 impact	 on	 the	
financial	 results	 or	 disclosure	 as	 it	 has	 been	
removed	 from	 the	 framework	 prescribed	 in	
Directive	5	for	periods	beginning	on	1	April	2010.

01	July	2009

Amendment	 to	 IAS	 39	 –	 Financial	 instruments:	
recognition and measurement

-	 Treating	 loan	 prepayment	 penalties	 as	 closely	
related	embedded	derivatives
-	 Scope	 exemption	 for	 business	 combination	
contracts
-	Cash	flow	hedge	accounting
This	 standard	 will	 not	 have	 an	 impact	 on	 the	
financial	 results	 or	 disclosure	 as	 it	 has	 been	
removed	 from	 the	 framework	 prescribed	 in	
Directive	5	for	periods	beginning	on	1	April	2010.

01	January	2010

[*	Standards	and	interpretations	affected	by	the	Improvements	to	IFRS]
[**	Standards	and	interpretations	affected	by	the	Improvements	to	IFRS	issued	in	an	exposure	draft	as	ED	272	–	Improvements	to	IFRSs:	Proposed	
amendments	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards]
[***	Standards	affected	by	the	Improvements	Project	of	the	ASB	issued	in	an	exposure	draft	as	ED	63	-	Improvements	to	the	Standards	of	GRAP]
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28. Unspent donor funds

The	International	Development	Research	Centre	(IDRC)	provided	a	grant	to	the	Commission	to	enable	the	Commission	to	undertake	the	research	

support	project	entitled:	 ‘Evaluation	of	Competition	 issues	 in	 the	production,	supply	and	pricing	of	staple	 foods”.	The	 total	amount	 received	was	

R435,995,	at	year	end	R430,798	was		utilised.	The	remaining	R5,197	will	be	used	after	year	end

29. Going concern

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	basis	of	accounting	policies	applicable	to	a	going	concern.	This	basis	presumes	that	funds	

will	be	available	to	finance	future	operations	and	that	the	realisation	of	assets	and	settlement	of	liabilities,	contingent	obligations	and	commitments	will	

occur	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business.

The	ability	of	the	entity	to	continue	as	a	going	concern	is	dependent	on	a	number	of	factors.	The	most	significant	of	these	is	that	the	Department	of	

Economic	Development		continue	to	procure	funding	for	the	ongoing	operations	for	the	entity	and	Treasury	approves	the	rollover	of	the	accumulated	

surplus.

30. Reconciliation between budget and statement of financial performance

Reconciliation	of	budget	deficit	with	the	deficit	in	the	statement	of	financial	performance

Net deficit per the statement of financial performance (15,381)

Adjusted for:

Decrease in mergers & acquisitions 3,696

Increase	in	exemption	applications (22)

Decrease	in	advisory	opinions	 83 

Increase	in	facility	Fees (108)

Increase	in	Voted	Funds	received (13,018)

Increase	in	Interest	Received:	General	Funds (682)

Decrease in other income 211

Savings	on	human	resources (15,336)

Savings	on	premises	&	equipment	expenditure (3,744)

Savings	on	other	operational	expenses (1,465)

Over	expenditure	on	IT	&	system	development 114

Over	expenditure	on	research	&	information 56

Savings	on	educational	awareness	programmes (1,475)

Over	expenditure	on	case	related	costs 14,877

Savings	on	other	programme	costs (911)

Over	expenditure	on	depreciation 2,433

Net deficit per approved budget (0)
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No. Goal Key performance 
indicators Target Performance results Reason for variance

Core programme:  Enforcement and Exemptions

1 Ensure	efficient	
evaluation	of	
exemption	
applications	filed	
under	Section	10	of	
the Competition Act 
(1999)

Turnaround time in 
relation to making 
and communicating a 
decision

To be completed 
within	12	months	of	
being	received

7	of	the	9	exemption	
applications carried forward 
have	not	been	finalised	within	
12	months.	This	is	due	to	
the	nature	and	complexity	of	
the	matters	and	to	delays	in	
receiving	input	from	external	
stakeholders.  Further, some 
exemptions	are	subject	to	
ongoing	policy	processes,	such	
as applications from medical 
practitioners	and	attorneys

Report with 
substantiated 
recommendation

3-4	exemption	
applications	expected

11	exemption	applications	were	under	
consideration	for	the	financial	year:	
2	received	in	the	financial	year	and	9	carried	
forward	from	the	previous	years.	
The	2	received	in	the	financial	year	
(December	2010)	are	from:	the	South	African	
Petroleum	Industry	Association	(SAPIA);		
and	Spring	Light	Gas.	Of	the	11	exemption	
applications,	3	were	finalised	as	follows:-
SAPIA	was	granted	an	exemption	until	
31	August	2010	for	certain	categories	of	
agreements and practices in the petroleum 
and	refinery	industries;		the	application	
from	the	Board	of	Healthcare	Funders	was	
rejected;	and	the	Allens	Meshco	application	
relating to wire and wire products was 
rejected

2 Conduct initiations 
in	priority	sectors

Number	of	investigations	
initiated

4	initiations	within	12	
months

203	complaints	were	filed	in	the	year	(151	
were	received	in	the	previous	year).		
Of	these,	172	were	received	from	the	public	
and	31	were	initiated	by	the	Commissioner.		
Of	the	31	complaints,	19	(61%)	were	in	
priority	sectors:	5	in	infrastructure	and	
construction,	6	in	intermediate	industrial	
products,	8	in	food	and	agro-processing.	
12	were	in	other	markets	(tyre	manufacturing,	
advertising,	franchising,	property	
retailing, transport, furniture retailing, skin 
products retailing, and windscreen glass 
manufacturing)

The	flood	of	matters	for	initiation	
and	complaints	received	
from the public had not been 
anticipated 

3 Ensure	efficient		and	
effective	complaint	
investigations	in	
prioritised cases

All new complaints 
screened

Within	7	days	of	
receipt of complaint to 
management meeting

140	complaints	were	screened	within	the	
7	days	at	the	management	meeting.	These	
includes	124	complaints	out	of	the	172	total	
complaints	received	from	the	public	in	the	
financial	year	and	16	complaints	carried	over	
from	the	previous	financial	year.
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Cases	finalised	on	
time and substantiated 
recommendations made 
in	reports	to	Exco

Within	20	days	of	
receipt of complaint to 
Exco

47	complaints	received	between	October	
2009	and	March	2010	were	carried	over	to	
the	next	financial	year	

It	takes	an	average	of	32	
days	to	screen	a	complaint	
and	present	it	to	Exco.		This	
is due to the higher number 
of	complaints	received	than	
anticipated.  In order to address 
this, a new dedicated screening 
unit has been formed.  

4 Encourage and 
facilitate	voluntary	
assistance in cartel 
investigations

Informing stakeholders 
of	corporate	leniency	
where applicable.  
Informing process 
includes: feedback; 
progress report on 
applications; number 
of meetings regarding 
leniency	applications;	
final	reports

Increase prosecutions 
for	cartel	activity.		 
3 to 4 applications 
expected

79	applications	received	in	terms	of	the	
Competition	Commission’s	corporate	
leniency	policy

The	flood	of	applications	relates	
mainly	to	one	sector	where	
application is made for each 
project/contract	

5 Monitor and 
evaluate	compliance	
with	exemption	
conditions and 
undertakings

Report on compliance 
with conditions and 
undertakings monitored, 
evaluated	and	reported	
by	parties	to	Exco	

Thorough monitoring 
of compliance 
with conditional 
exemption	approvals	
and undertakings. 
Quarterly	reports	to	
Exco.	Estimated	2	
cases to be monitored

Monitoring occurs when there 
is	reapplication	for	exemption	
conditions. This did not occur 
during	the	financial	year

Deviations	from	
conditions detected and 
addressed

6 Explain	process	
of complaint 
investigation	
and	exemption	
evaluation	to	
wider group of 
stakeholders

Relevant	and	informative	
content	on	investigation	
of complaints and 
evaluation	of	exemption	
applications.		1	to	2	
articles per issue.

4	articles	per	year 7,500	copies	of	the	Commission’s	3	
newsletters with a total of 31 articles were  
published and distributed.  
Of	these,	7	relate	to	investigations	of	
enforcement	and	exemption	matters.

Core programme:  Mergers and Acquisitions

7 Fulfill	the	
Commission’s	
mandate in relation 
to	the	investigation	
of mergers, as set 
out in Chapter 3 of 
the  Act

Investigation	reports	are	
accepted	by	Exco	and	
the Competition Tribunal

To	finalise	cases	within	
the	service	standard	
commitments

All	merger	cases	were	finalised	within	the	
statutory	deadlines.		208	merger	cases	were	
finalised	(54	large,	140	intermediate,	and	
14	small).	Of	these,	190	were	unconditionally	
approved,	8	approved	with	conditions,	
1 prohibited, and 9 withdrawn. The internal 
service	standard	timeframes	are:	20	days	for	
phase	1;	25	days	for	phase	2;	and	45	days	
for	phase	3	mergers.		40%	of	phase	1	(non-
complex	mergers)	were		completed	in	20	
days,	13%	of	phase	2	mergers	within	25	days,	
and	14%	of	phase	3	mergers	within	45	days

Although	average	turnaround	
times	have	exceeded	the	
service	standards,	they	remain	
within	the	statutory	timeframes.		
The	complexity	and	nature	of	
the cases as well as timeous 
input from stakeholders, impact 
on turnaround times 
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8 Fulfill	the	
Commission’s	
mandate in relation 
to	the	investigation	
of mergers, as set 
out in Chapter 3 of 
the  Act  (1999) 

The	quality	of	the	
merger reports is in line 
with international best 
practice, and where 
necessary,	the	theory	of	
harm is well set out

No reports sent 
back	by	Exco	or	the	
Tribunal for further 
investigation	and	
analysis,	unless	there	
has been a material 
submission that 
was made after the 
recommendation was 
submitted

Appeared before the Tribunal in 48 large 
merger cases in which our recommendation 
of	unconditional	approval	was	accepted	by	
the Tribunal. 1 large merger was prohibited 
by	the	Commission,	but	approved	by	the	
Tribunal 

This	is	an	internal	quality	
assurance process and reports 
are therefore sent back to the 
division	for	the	incorporation	of	
Exco’s	comments

9 Create procedures 
and	systems	
to support the 
fulfillment	of	the	
Commission’s	
mandate as set out 
in Chapter 3 of Act 

Efficient	and	correct	
investigation	and	
analysis	of	cases

Internal	division	
procedures 
that facilitate 
efficient	merger	
investigations	in	line	
with international 
best practice and 
applicable deadlines

Division’s	internal	procedures	were	updated	
and	service	standards	were	reviewed	by	
September	2009	and	published	on	the	
Commission’s	website

Staff compliance with 
procedures

Each staff member 
undergoes an 
orientation programme 
covering	the	internal	
procedures	within	10	
days	of	joining	the	
division	

Staff	members	are	orientated	within	10	days	
of	joining.		Compliance	with	procedures	
(monitoring) takes place on an ongoing basis 
through internal meetings

10 Ensure the 
development	of	staff

Improved	quality	of	work At least 1 training 
seminar/	workshop	
per month is held 

18 workshops relating to mergers  were 
conducted 

Number of training 
sessions held.  Skilled 
and trained staff 
delivering	quality	
analysis	and	reports.

2	training	sessions Staff	attended	capacity	building	sessions	
facilitated	by	the	Policy	and	Research	
division,	which	included	training	sessions	
by	external	providers.	There	were	7	training	
sessions	with	invited	economists		

11 Create and maintain 
relations with 
merger	divisions	of	
other competition 
authorities around 
the world

Investigations	conform	
with international best 
practice.  Ensure that 
merger	analysis	is	in	line	
with international best 
practice

Ongoing Submissions were made to the OECD on 
failing	firm	defence,	generic	pharmaceuticals	
and	the	standard	for	merger	review.	The	
manager of the Mergers & Acquisitions 
division	participated	in	the	OECD	conference	
where	the	standards	for	merger	review	was	
discussed.

Use	of	international	
precedent in the 
Commission’s	cases

4 workshops The workshops of international guidelines 
took the form of participation in 
teleconferences of the ICN as well as a 
teleseminar

Coordination of 
investigation	of	
international mergers 
with other agencies.

Ongoing International precedent is used on an 
ongoing	basis	where	relevant,	interacted	with	
the	German	competition	authority	and	the	
United	States	Department	of	Justice	on	prior-
implementation and merger issues.
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12 Monitor the 
conditions imposed 
on	mergers	by	the	
Commission and the 
Tribunal 

Compliance with the 
conditions imposed.  
Number of conditions 
monitored	or	finalised.

Ongoing The	division	continuously	monitors	all	
mergers	that	are	approved	with	conditions	
and	ensures	that	conditions	are	timeously	
complied	with.	Between	20	and	24	cases	
have	been	monitored	over	the	4	quarters		

13 Maintain sound 
relations	with	key	
stakeholders that  
contribute to the 
investigation	of	
mergers

Cordial relations with 
practitioners, trade 
unions and sector 
regulators

Ongoing 1	practitioner’s	workshop	held;	5	trade	union	
workshops,	1	public	sector	consultative	
forum

Number of complaints 
from stakeholders 
regarding	investigating	
issues during 
investigations

Followed	up	on	19	cases	with	employment	
issues

Input of sector regulators 
in	the	investigation	of	
mergers

Consulted with the Council for Medical 
Schemes	and	National	Treasury

14 Promote public 
awareness of the 
division’s	work

Public awareness 
of mergers and 
acquisitions

Ongoing Publications of mergers on websites, 
12	articles	on	mergers	in	the	newsletter,	
2	media	releases	on	mergers

15 Promote 
stakeholders’	
awareness of the 
Commission’s	
approach to  merger 
analysis	

Ensure that stakeholders 
and practitioners 
are updated on the 
Commission’s	positions	
and policies

4 practice notes 
workshopped and 
published

Merger	service	standards	
were published in place of the 
practice notes

16 Ensure compliance 
with Chapter 3 of the 
Competition Act

Tracking	of	all	non-
notified	mergers	and	
ensure that small 
mergers raising 
competition concerns 
are	notified

Ongoing The	division	continuously	tracks	merger	
activity	in	the	economy	and	where	required,	
engage	with	the	parties	to	notify	to	ensure	
compliance

Core programme:  Policy and Research

17 Conduct economic 
research into 
specific	sectors	

Research reports 
produced and used for 
identifying	complaints	
and	specific	advocacy	
actions

4	priority	sectors	
ongoing: Infrastructure 
and construction, 
intermediate 
industrial products, 
food, and banking.  
Increased focus 
on tracking. Other 
major	areas:	possible	
market	enquiry	into	
supermarkets;	Policy	
and Research leading 
on interchange and 
ATMs

Reports for the Department of Economic 
Development		on	food,	infrastructure	and	
telecommunications; input to ICASA; 
analysis	of	Eskom’s	price	hikes;	input	
to the Department of Communications 
on	broadband	policy.		Tracking	conduct	
in the food sector is ongoing.  Initiated 
supermarket	enquiry.		Ongoing	work	on	
interchange	and	ATMs	with	National	Treasury	
and the steering committee that was set up 
after	the	Banking	Enquiry
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18 Effectively	identify	
economic questions 
on which cases 
hinge	and	identify	
the	analysis	required

Better	inter-divisional	
coordination and work 
organisation

Inter-divisional	
team building with 
the Mergers & 
Acquisitions	division.	
Monthly	progress	
meetings with the 
Enforcement & 
Exemptions	division

Merger screening memos are now circulated Meetings with the Enforcement 
&	Exemptions	division	are	held	
every	2	months	or	as	required

Agreement	on	type	of	
inputs	from	the	division:			
consultations;	analysis	
of	specific	component	of	
cases;	in-depth	analysis	
of	overall	case.

Twice	monthly	
case management 
committee meetings

Case management committee meetings held 
on an ongoing basis

19 Conduct rigorous 
economic	analysis	
of complaints cases

Rigorous economic 
analysis	necessary	for	
referring and winning 
cases

Ongoing Economic	analysis	provided	on	70	
complaints cases

20 Conduct rigorous 
economic	analysis	
in merger cases

Rigorous economic 
analysis	necessary	for	
referring and winning 
cases

Ongoing Economic	analysis	provided	on	30	merger	
cases  

21 Aim	for	effective	
prosecution based 
on economic 
evidence,	
including	effective	
presentation of 
economic	evidence	
at hearings

Better	coordination	with	
legal team preparing 
and prosecuting cases. 
Economic arguments are 
supported and sustained 
in Tribunal hearings

Ongoing Better	coordination	with	the	prosecution	of	34	
complaint referrals

Economic arguments are 
supported and sustained 
in Tribunal hearings.

Assisted with Tribunal hearings including: 
Pioneer;	Sasol	fertiliser	cases;	Chlor-Alkali	
and	Botash;	Masscash	and	Finro;	Imperial	
and	Midas;	and	Senwes’	appeal

22 Conduct	a	review	of	
outcomes following 
a merger or 
complaint decision

More	competitive	
behavior

4	reviews Outcomes	were	reviewed	in	the	following	
matters: Astral Foods and Natchicks, 
and	Murray	&	Roberts	and	Cementation	
Company	(Africa)

The	target	of	4	reviews	was	
not	achieved	due	to	workload	
and lack of information from 
merging parties and other 
stakeholders

23 Review	and	give	
inputs	into	advisory	
opinions

More	competitive	
behaviour

Ongoing Ongoing	input	by	chief	economist	at	
Commission meetings

24 Review	the	impact	
of the Commission

Better	understanding	of	
Commission’s	work	and	
internal	and	external	
impact

Expand	as	Ten	Year	
Review	of	competition	
authorities

Ten	Year	Review	book	published	and	
conference held



85

25 Influence	policy	
and	legislative	
processes

Number of submissions 
made and considered 
by	the	relevant	
department	or	agency.	
Reduced number of 
anticompetitive	clauses	
in new legislation and 
policy.		Consistency	in	
application the Act.

Make submissions on 
all	bills	with	a	major	
competition impact

Commented	on	concurrent	jurisdiction	
between ICASA and the Commission; 
ICASA’s	draft	interconnection	regulation;	
the	broadband	policy;	analysis	of	Eskom’s	
proposed	price	hike;	and	the	Industrial	Policy	
Action	Plan	2.	Public	Sector	Consultative	
Forum held

26 Explain	economic	
principles	on	key	
issues and cases to 
Commission staff 

Economic	and	policy	
briefs completed and 
circulated

8 8 economic briefs were completed and 
circulated

27 Give	inputs	at	
international forums 
–	the	ICN	and	OECD

Presentation of papers 3	(demand	driven) Papers submitted to the OECD on banking, 
procedural fairness, collusion in public 
procurement, techniques used to tackle 
bid-rigging,	margin	squeeze,	failing	firm	
defence, generic pharmaceuticals, two 
sided markets, and the standards for merger 
review

28 Increase awareness 
of	the	Commission’s	
work

Completed articles 8 31 articles published in total

29 Establish the 
Commission as 
leading centre 
of competition 
economics

Presentation of papers 4 Participated in 15 conferences during which 
submissions	of	presentations/papers	were	
made

Publications 4 6	published	articles	in	peer	reviewed	
journals/newsletters/books

30 Build	capacity	in	the	
Policy	&	Research	
division

Good understanding 
across	the	division	of	
key	areas	of	competition	
economics and 
application in cases

Monthly	sessions	
facilitated	by	the	
division’s	senor	team

31 Build	capacity	in	
economic	analysis,	
understanding, and 
collecting and using 
information and data 

Sessions	on	key	
concepts,	key	journal	
articles

4 23	external	training	interventions	in	total	were	
attended	by	different	staff	from	the	division	

3	major	training	sessions	
of	2	to	3	days	each

3 7	sessions	held	by	invited	economists	

Appropriately	targeted	
training	for	division	staff

6 Staff	attended	capacity	building	facilitated	
by	policy	and	research;		12	internal	training	
sessions	and	22	in-house	seminars	

Good understanding 
of	key	cases	setting	
precedents on economic 
analysis

Ongoing Ongoing	database	of	key	cases/readings	is	
maintained and discussed

32 Create awareness 
and	provide	
information

Seminar attendance 6 40	capacity	building	seminars	were	arranged	
and attended
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Monthly	workshops	on	
analysis	for	major	cases

10 Participated in 15 conferences during which 
submissions	of	presentations/papers	were	
made

One	major	event,	and	
ad hoc presentations:  
Annual conference 
on South African 
competition law and 
economics 

1 10	year	review	and	3rd	Annual	competition	
law conference was held

Masters dissertations 
and	research	papers	by	
students and academics

Grants for 5 Masters 
dissertations and 
papers

1	student	from	the	University	of	KwaZulu-
Natal was awarded a grant 

Only	1	Masters	grant	was	
awarded due to poor uptake 

33 Ensure	effective	
knowledge 
management

Better	knowledge	
management

95% user uptake 
of	new	system.		
Increased and 
more consistent 
user application 
of knowledge 
management 
practices

All	staff	use	the	system	for	case	and	non-
case related work

Better	knowledge	
management

All users trained on 
new	system.		Ongoing	
support.

Ongoing	training	occurs	on	an	individual	
basis. Support is ongoing

High	level	of	user	
acceptance	of	system

1	formal	post-
implementation	review	
of	the	system

The	system	implementation	
review	did	not	take	place	due	
to	development	delays	by	an	
external	service	provider,	which	
are being managed

High	level	of	user	
application of knowledge 
management practices

2	formal	knowledge	
culture assessments

There	is	a	visible	increase	in	document	
retention,	post-presentation		sharing,	system	
functionality	usage,	continued	increase	in	
team,	divisional	and	cross-divisional	sharing	
capacity	building	sessions

No formal independent 
knowledge culture assessments. 
However,	knowledge	culture	
was	formally	reassessed	at	the	
strategic planning session for 
2010	-	2013,	to	inform	planning.	
The	reason	for	the	variance	is	
that	the	planned	new	system	
is fundamental to supporting 
and growing the knowledge 
management culture, and the 
focus has been on maintaining 
the growth momentum of 
knowledge management 
anyway,	and	managing	the	
development	process
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Increased knowledge 
management awareness 
and better knowledge 
management

Procedure manual 
on knowledge 
management and 
related training 
module	developed	
and implemented 
for	all	divisions/	
staff.	System	
overview	developed	
and included in 
orientation for new 
staff.	Knowledge	
management training 
module included in 
induction

User	guides	have	been	developed	and	
made	available	on	the	share	point	server

Knowledge	
management culture 
in the Commission 
strengthened 

Ongoing Use	of	the	knowledge	management	system	
has been included in staff performance 
assessments 

34 Provide	specialised	
bibliographic 
services

Requests for 
information	fulfilled,	
from newspapers,  
periodicals,	journals,	
market research 
and	industry	data,	
on-line	publications	
and reference works 
including books, reports

To assist with more 
complex	cases	and	
research undertaken 
by	the	Commission

Trained	68	staff	members	on	the	use	of	
the	database.	30	new	staff	members	
received	orientation	of	the	resource	centre’s	
resources.		1,048	loans	of	publications	
recorded, with 18 new titles added and 398 
requests for information

Core programme:  Legal Services

35 Provide	timeous	
legal	advice	to	
facilitate informed 
decision making 
and	efficient	and	
effective	case	
investigation

Well researched and 
substantiated		advice	
and opinions accepted 
by	Exco	and	the	
Commission

Ongoing Ongoing	input	by	chief	legal	counsel	at	
Commission	meetings.		Internal	quality	
assurance	process	incorporates	Exco	and	
Commission’s	comments

The turnaround time 
to	be	2	weeks	in	non-
complex	matters	and	
4 weeks in the case of 
advices	on	evidence	
and	complex	matters		

Monthly	management	
report to track 
adherence to 
timeframes

Monthly	management	data	is	being	
maintained to monitor compliance with 
timeframes

Complexity	of	matters	as	well	
as	workload	may	impact	on	
timelines. It has been decided 
that these internal timelines will 
be	revised

36 Ensure the proper 
and	effective	
presentation of 
merger cases before 
the Tribunal

Properly	prepared	
and	well-presented	
cases.  Commission 
recommendations 
accepted	by	the	Tribunal	
and	commentary	by	the	
Tribunal  

3	complex	merger	
prohibitions

Appeared before the Tribunal in 48 large 
merger cases in which the recommendation 
of	unconditional	approval	was	accepted	by	
the Tribunal. 1 large merger was prohibited 
by	the	Commission,	but	approved	by	the	
Tribunal   
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Adherence to hearing 
timetable

Monthly	management	
report to track 
adherence to 
timeframes as 
determined	by	the	
Tribunal

Monthly	management	data	are	used	
to monitor hearings and adherence to 
timeframes.

37 Ensure the 
expeditious	and	
effective	prosecution	
of	firms	that	
contravene	the	Act.		
The successful 
defence of legal 
challenges in the 
Tribunal and the 
courts

Case	strategy	meeting	
to be held with the 
Enforcement & 
Exemptions	division	

Case	strategy	meeting	
with the Enforcement 
&	Exemptions	division	
within	2	weeks	of	
the	Commission’s	
decision

Case	strategy	meetings	held	on	an	ongoing	
basis as and when required as teams are 
involved	in	cases	from	the	outset

Consent agreements 
to be concluded 
within	2	months	of	the	
Commission’s	decision

Consent agreements 
to be concluded 
within 3 months of 
the	Commission’s	
decision

Consent agreements take 
longer to conclude depending 
on the negotiation itself, the 
cooperation	of	firms	and	the	
process of litigation.

Consent agreements 
to be referred to the 
Tribunal 

Consent orders to be 
referred to the Tribunal 
within 1 week of 
their conclusion with 
respondents

5 consent agreements concluded. Consent 
agreements are referred to the Tribunal within 
1 week of their completion

Where there are no 
consent agreement 
negotiations complaints 
to be referred within 
6	weeks	of	the	
Commission’s	decision

If there is no 
consent agreement, 
negotiations 
complaints to be 
referred to Tribunal 
within	6	weeks	of	
Commission decision

13	referrals	filed	with	the	Tribunal Complaints are not referred 
within	6	weeks	of	the	
Commission’s	decision	as	this	
depends	largely	on	external	
counsel,	their	availability	and	
additional requirements such as 
additional	evidence	or	analysis	
required for pleadings.  

Properly	drafted	
documents.		Properly	
prepared and well 
presented cases.  
Decisions in the 
Commission’s	favour	
and	commentary	by	the	
Tribunal

6	reviews	and	appeals This	is	determined	by	considering	how	many	
judgements	were	in	the	Commission’s	favour.		
Appeared before the Competition Appeal 
Court	5	times	with	judgments	in	favour	of	the	
Commission. Appeared before the Supreme 
Court	Appeal	1	time	with	judgment	in	favour	
of the Commission

Adherence to hearing 
timetable 

Monthly	management	
report to track 
adherence to 
timeframes

The hearing timetable was adhered to 



89

Contested cases to be 
finalised	within	1	year	of	
their referral

6	complex	complaint	
prosecutions. 
Contested complaint 
referrals to be 
finalised	within	18	
months of referral

Contested cases are not 
finalised	within	18	months	as	
litigation has been protracted 
by	interlocutory	challenges	and	
appeals	raised	by	respondents	
as	in	the		dairy	cartel	case,	and	
in	the	cases	involving	Telkom,	
Pioneer and Senwes

38 Build	capacity		on	
legal issues within 
the institution

Good understanding 
across institution of 
key	legal	aspects	of		
competition law and 
application in cases

	2	training	sessions	
per month

Staff	attended	capacity	building	facilitated	
by	policy	and	research;	12	internal	training	
sessions	and	22	in-house	seminars	

39 Promote 
stakeholders’	
awareness on 
Commission’s	
policy	approach	to	
specified	issues

Internal guidelines 
aimed at standardising 
the	institution’s	approach	
to	specific	procedures

2	internal	guidelines Prioritisation framework published for internal 
use and internal memoranda circulated on 
dealing	with	leniency	applications.	31	articles	
published	relating	to	the	Commission’s	policy	
approach	to	priority	sectors

External	guidelines	
aimed	at	giving	
guidance to practitioners 
and stakeholders on the 
Commission’s	approach	
to particular aspects of 
its work

2	external	guidelines.		
Update	all	existing	
external	guidelines

Guidelines	to	be	drafted	by	the	Legal	
Services	division	deferred	to	the	next	
financial	year

Guidelines not drafted due to 
workload	within	the	division

Core programme:  Compliance

40 Develop	a	risk	
management 
strategy

Well managed risk on a 
day	to	day	basis

Workshops and 
training sessions 
with managers and 
divisions.	Completed	
by	30	September	
2009

Workshop and training sessions completed 
timeously

41 Develop	a	fraud	
prevention	plan

Fraud free institution. 
Fraud is detected and 
reported	timeously

Fraud	prevention	
plan	adopted	by	
30	July	2009.	Plan	
workshopped at staff 
meeting of August 
2009

Fraud	prevention	plan	was	adopted	in	
September	2009

Comments were incorporated 
in	July	and	August	2009,	which	
resulted	in	the	slight	variance

42 Conduct a forensic 
IT	review

Secure	IT	systems Finalised	by	
September	2009

Forensic	investigation	was	completed	
timeously.	The	IT	division	is	in	the	process	of	
addressing issues raised in the report

43 Review	the	registry	
process

Registry	process	
complies with corporate 
governance	principles	
and is linked to 
knowledge management 
system

Compliant	registry	
system	by	March	2010

The	review	process	has	started	and	is	being	
coordinated with knowledge management 
systems	development
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44 Implement and 
monitor the 
functioning of 
governance	
structures

Decision making is 
compliant with sound 
corporate	governance	
principles. Decisions are 
made	timeously.

Ongoing Monthly	meetings	are	held	and	minuted.		
Decisions are timeous and implemented.  
Company	secretary	ensures	that	decisions	
are implemented

45 Provide	strategic	
direction on 
Commission’s	
functions

Coherence in the 
functioning of the 
Commission as a whole.  
Commissioner is kept up 
to date. Decisions are 
made	timeously.

Monthly	meetings	with	
divisional	managers

Monthly	meetings	are	held	

46 Establish	high	level	
relations between 
the Commissioner 
and strategic 
stakeholders

High	level	and	beneficial	
relations established

Meetings with the 
Minister of Trade 
and	Industry,	the	
departments of 
Minerals	and	Energy,	
and Agriculture, 
and the National 
Agricultural Marketing 
Council

Meetings coordinated with the Minister 
of	Trade	and	Industry	and	the	Minister	of	
Economic	Development.	Meetings	held	with	
the	departments	of	Minerals	and	Energy,	
and Agriculture, as well as the National 
Agricultural Marketing Council

47 Review	2009-2010	
business plan

Approved	amended	
business plan.  Plan 
submitted to the 
Department of Trade and 
Industry

1	workshop	May	2009 Exco	workshop	held	in	May	2009.	Extensive	
review	completed	and	report	finalised

48 Evaluate	existing	
strategy

Evaluation	report	
enabling us to plan 
forward

Report	finalised	by	
May	2009

Exco	workshop	held	in	May	2009	and	report	
finalised

49 Plan	for	the:			3	year	
strategic plan, 1 
year	business	plan,	
and	the	budgetary	
implications for 
both.

An	approved	3	year	
strategic plan and 
business plan

Workshop with senior 
management June 
2009.	Workshop	with	
the Commission. 
Submit to the 
Department of Trade 
and	Industry	by	
September	2009.

Management	workshop	held	in	June	2009.		3	
year	strategic	plan	and	budgets	developed	
and submitted to the Department of Trade 
and	Industry		

50 Monitor the 
implementation of 
the strategic plan 

Timeous	and	fully	
implemented strategic 
plan

Ongoing Monitoring	of	implementation	via	quarterly	
reports	and	monthly	management	meetings	

51 Maintain 
international 
relations

Consistent application 
of competition law 
principles in the region.  
Commission is aware 
of and up to date on 
international competition 
developments

Attend	February	/	
June	/	October	OECD	
meetings, June ICN 
meetings as well as 
ICN working group 
meetings, Fordham, 
and SADC. Attend 
and facilitate annual 
South East African 
Competition Forum 
meeting

Written contributions submitted to the ICN 
working	groups	on	agency	effectiveness,	
cartels	and	advocacy,	participation	in	ICN	
workshops,	UNCTAD,	SADC,	SEACF	and	
SACU	meetings,	presented	at	the	opening	
of the Namibian Competition Commission, 3 
secondments	from	Botswana,	participated	in	
Joint	Food	Project	meetings	with	Egypt	and	
Zambia 
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52 Promote consistent 
application of 
competition 
principles

Promoted more 
consistent application of 
competition principles

Ad hoc, as and when 
requests	are	received

Technical assistance to Mauritius 
Competition Commission, presenting at the 
CUTS	International	workshop	in	Nigeria	

53 Strengthen regional 
co-operation	on	
competition	policy	

Emergence of credible 
institutions in the region

Annual training course 
to be held in October 
2009

The training programme for 
African competition authorities 
did not take place due to 
budgetary	constraints	and	the	
capacity	constraints	of	African	
countries  

54 Improve	internal	
communication	Kom	
Praat Saam (case 
discussion) sessions

Higher turnout for case 
discussion sessions. 
Staff more informed 
about important 
Commission matters.  
Improved	staff	morale

1	Kom	Praat	Saam	
session per month

22	case	discussions	held

55 Use	the	intranet	as	
a tool for internal 
communication

Staff are better informed 
about important 
Commission matters.  
Improved	staff	morale.

Number of hits on 
website	received

Intranet is used on an ongoing basis to keep 
staff	abreast	of	developments	within	the	
organisation

56 Commemorate 
national	events

Staff awareness and 
participation in national 
events.	Improved	staff	
morale

1	event	per	
selected national 
commemorative	day

Awareness	initiatives	to	celebrate	national	
events	were	implemented	(eg.	candle	
lighting	ceremony	to	commemorate	National	
Aids	Day)

57 Conduct internal 
events

Staff participation.  
Improved	staff	morale

1	award	ceremony	
and	1	staff	event	per	
month

9	internal	events	were	held

58 Improve	internal	
newsletter 
Newsflash	
publication 

Feedback	received	from	
staff. Wide readership 
from staff

1	Newsflash	issue	per	
month

12	internal	newsletters	were	circulated

59 Enhance the 
Commission’s	brand	
internally

Useful	and	relevant	
templates.	Use	of	set	
templates

Templates	developed	
and implemented 
during	the	financial	
year

60 Enhance and 
update the internal 
communication 
strategy

Internal	strategy	aligned	
to	the	Commission’s	
strategy

Internal 
communication 
strategy	reviewed	and	
implemented

Review	on	internal	communication	strategy	
currently	under	way

It was decided that the internal 
communication	strategy	must	
be aligned with the strategic 
priorities	for	2010	to	2013

61 Maintain and 
produce	external	
publications to 
keep	external	
stakeholders 
informed

Well managed and 
timeous publication of 
publications. Minimum 
stock	level	of	1,000	
units is maintained.  
Feedback	received	from	
readers and users

1,500	copies	of	annual	
report	distributed	by	
September	2009.		
1 Newsletter per 
quarter.

1,500	copies	of	annual	reports	printed	and	
distributed.  3 newsletters published

Publications remain 
up to date with latest 
developments

As required Publications are up to date
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62 Improve	the	
Commission’s	
website

Number	of	hits	received.	
Feedback from users. 
More	easily	accessible	
information.		Timeously	
updated website

New website launched 
and	implemented	by	
June	2009

A	new	website	was	launched	early	in	2010	
and	is	regularly	updated

The	delay	in	the	launch	is	due	
to	constraints	experienced	by	
the	external	service	provider

63 Enhance the 
Commission’s	brand	
externally

Use	of	set	templates.	
Adherence to the 
Commission’s	corporate	
identity.	The	Commission	
is	adequately		branded	
at	all	its	events

Ongoing Document	version	control	templates	are	
being implemented

64 Enhance and 
update	the	external	
communication 
strategy

External	strategy	aligned	
to	Commission’s	strategy

Reviewed	external	
communication 
strategy	by	October	
2009	

Review	of	the	external	communication	
strategy	is	currently	under	way

It	was	decided	that	the	review	
must be aligned with the 
strategic	priorities	for	2010-	
2013

65 Proactively	focus	
education and 
advocacy	on	priority	
sectors of the 
Commission

Education	and	Advocacy	
staff members able to 
educate	and	advocate	
across stakeholders 
in	the	priority	sectors.	
Improved	knowledge	
of	activity	in	priority	
sectors.	Improved	
knowledge of education 
and	advocacy	needs	in	
priority	sectors

As and when areas of 
advocacy	has	been	
identified

31 articles published relating to the 
Commission’s	policy	approach	to	priority	
sectors.		39	stakeholder	events	held

66 Promote	voluntary	
compliance 
with	the	Act	by	
firms,	industry	
associations 
and professional 
associations

Professions are able 
to	clearly	understand	
and	comply	with	the	
Competition Act.  Firms 
clearly	understand	their	
obligations in term s of 
the Competition Act 

Guidelines	developed	
by	November	2009

Guidelines	to	be	drafted	by	the	Legal	
Services	Division	deferred	to	the	next	
financial	year.	Compliance	programmes	are	
reviewed	and	presentations	made	on	an	ad	
hoc basis

Guidelines not drafted due to 
workload	within	the	division

Business	clearly	
understands the 
implications of the 
amendment bill and 
the	corporate	leniency	
policy

6	workshops	with	
business

Workshops are attended when a request is 
made.  Workshops to educate business on 
the	amendment	bill	and	corporate	leniency	
policy	were	held,	including	presentations	to	
BJM	Holdings,	the	South	African	Institute	of	
Internal	Auditors,	meetings	with	co-directors,	
the	Black	Sash,	SALGA,	BUSA,	NEDLAC	
and FASA

67 Ensure that SMMEs: 
understand how 
the Act works for 
them;	apply	for	
exemption;	lodge	
relevant	complaints;	
and participate in 
Commission and 
Tribunal processes

FASA is updated on 
current competition 
concerns and its 
expected	role.	Quality	of	
complaints,	exemption	
applications and 
information	received	
from	SMME’s

1	franchise	exhibition;	
notice	updated	by	
July	2009;	1	workshop	
and as requested

Workshops with SMMEs held with a focus 
on	franchisees.	Updated	franchise	notice	
published and seminar held with franchise 
association members
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68 Ensure that 
consumers are 
aware how the 
Act works for 
them (damages, 
confidentiality,	
receive	information),	
lodge	relevant	
complaints and 
participate in the 
Commission and 
Tribunal processes

Consumer organisations 
increasingly	require	
Commission’s	input	and	
participation

Presentations at 
national	events	of	
targeted consumer 
organisations

Participated in the conference on national 
consumer law conference and the consumer 
protection forum

Consumer organisations 
participate in the 
processes of the 
Commission and the 
Tribunal,	where	relevant		

Maintain ongoing 
contact with consumer 
organisations

Ongoing contact with consumer 
organisations is maintained

69 Increase the 
participation of 
trade unions in 
the	Commission’s	
activities

Trade	unions	regularly	
participate in 
Commission’s	processes

4  training workshops 5 trade union workshops held

Trade	unions	provide	
relevant	input	into	
Commission’s	processes

1 trade union 
consultative	forum

1 trade union forum held

70 Update	legal	
practitioners on 
the	Commission’s	
policy	approach	
and	ensure	they	
understand their and 
their	clients’	rights	
and obligations 
under the Act

Legal practitioners 
are appraised of the 
Commission’s	policy	
approach. Legal 
practitioners understand 
their rights and 
obligations in terms of 
the Act

1	practitioner’s	
workshop

1	practitioner’s	workshop	held

71 Advocate	for	
Parliament and 
government	
departments to 
develop	competition	
compliant	policy	
and legislation

Government	
departments are aware 
of areas of mutual 
interest.	Government	
departments participate 
in	the	Commission’s	
processes. Legislation 
needs to take 
competition	policy	into	
account when being 
drafted

1 public sector 
consultative	forum	
meeting

14	stakeholder	events	held	including	public	
sector	consultative	forum,	conference	on	
consumer	protection	law,	and	bid-rigging	
workshops	for	government	procurement	and	
treasury	officials

State	employees	identify	
and	report	bid-rigging	
practices. Checklist 
that	government	
departments	can	clearly	
understand	and	apply	to	
be	developed

Ongoing Checklist circulated
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72 Partner with 
government	
departments to 
ensure	that	firms	
comply	with	the	Act

Feedback from 
government	
departments

1	bid-rigging	
workshop per 
province.	Updated	
manual distributed 
to	government	
departments

Bid-rigging	workshops	held	with	national	and	
provincial	government	officials	and	National	
Treasury,	submission	to	Treasury	on	the	use	
of	a	certificate	for	independent	bidding,	
workshop held with Eskom, presentation to 
mining	procurement	managers.	Bid-rigging	
booklet drafted and distributed.

73 Partner with 
regulators to ensure 
the	smooth	exercise	
of concurrent 
jurisdiction

Clear areas of 
communication and 
areas	of	jurisdiction	are	
established between 
the Commission and 
regulators

All	existing	
memoranda of 
understanding 
updated	by	December	
2009

Memorandum of understanding with NERSA 
approved

74 Partner with the 
National Prosecuting 
Authority	to	ensure	
the	smooth	exercise	
of	civil	and	criminal	
jurisdiction	in	
amendment bill

Smooth	exercise	of	
jurisdiction	in	respective	
areas

Memorandum of 
understanding signed 
off	by	August	2009

Negotiations on the memorandum of 
understanding with the National Prosecutions 
Authority	are	under	way

While substantial progress 
has been made with the 
memorandum of understanding 
with the National Prosecutions 
Authority	,	it	has	not	been	
concluded	due	to	uncertainty	
around the Competition 
Amendment	Bill

Support programme:  Information technology services

75 Maintain integrated 
and	highly	effective	
IT	systems

Reliable,	high	quality	
and performance 
based information and 
IT	support	systems.	
Commission	staff	have	
access	to	all	available	
hardware and software 

Highly	effective	
IT	systems.	100%	
system	availability.	
Users	have	access	to	
IT	systems	at	all	times	

There	was	only	1	hour	of	downtime	as	a	
result	of	the	Commission’s	own	IT	systems

The 1 hour downtime was due 
to hardware failure and the 
Commission has since replaced 
the hardware. Problems in 
the Department of Trade and 
Industry’s	server	which	hosts	
the	Commission’s	network	
disrupted	the	Commission’s	
operations.  The Commission 
has requested that it be allowed 
to host its own network.

Public access to the 
Commission’s	website	
without downtime.

Regularly	updated	
and	available	website

The	website	is	regularly	updated	and	
available.

76 Upgrade/replace	all	
old hardware

Faster access to 
programmes and less 
downtime

Update	technology	
and faster user 
access

A	new	SAN	system	was	procured.		The	
databases	are	running	on	the	SQL	cluster	
services	database	

77 Upgrade	SAN	
system

Data accessible to staff 
at all times

Fully	functional	
email	system	with	no	
downtime

Major	interruptions	have	been	
due	to	the	Commission’s	
reliance on the Department 
of	Trade	and	Industry’s	
network, which is out of the 
Commission’s	control
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78 Manage and 
monitor knowledge 
management 
systems	and	
automated business 
processes

A knowledge 
management	system	
with access to all 
research data and 
case information and 
automated processes

Efficient	knowledge	
management	system

Other	than	improvements	to	online	reporting,	
case	management	and	project	management,	
this did not occur

The	system	implementation	has	
been	delayed	due	to	technical	
difficulties	and	delays	on	the	
part	of	the	external	service	
provider.		This	is	the	primary	
driver	for	automation

79 Improve	remote	
access across 
all	zones	(VPN	
connections)

Efficient	online	and	
offline	mail	access

Effective	collaboration	
of	systems.	24	hrs,	
365	days	of	system	
access	from	anywhere

VPN	access	given	to	relevant	staff	and	
training	provided

80 Provide	efficient	
disaster	recovery	
facilities

Backup	systems	
upgraded to do online 
real time backup onto a 
disk.

Review	and	implement	
new	systems	and	
hardware

Forensic	investigation	into	IT	systems	
completed. All changes on hardware 
due	to	knowledge	management/	content	
management	systems	development	
have	been	incorporated	into	policies	and	
procedures

Support programme:  Financial management services

81 Ensure	effective	and	
efficient	financial	
management and 
cost	efficiencies

Budget	vs.	Actual	
variances.	Monthly	
projections	based	
on assumptions from 
divisions	for	zero	based	
budgeting

40%,	35%,	25%,	10% Variances	have	been	reduced.	Zero	based	
budgeting is used.  

Surplus funds deposited 
with the corporate public 
depository	(CPD).	Net	
bank balances not in 
overdraft

Optimal interest 
earned on surplus 
funds 

Optimal interest earned on surplus as per 
financial	statements

82 Ensure	an	effective	
procurement	system

New	system	fully	applied	
and	implement	changes/
adjustments	as	required

Full implementation 
and	use	of	system	

Ongoing population of database

Database		inclusive	of	
expertise	in	a	variety	of	
fields	

Update	database	
with	current	expertise	
known.	Expand	
professional	service	
experts	to	include	
niche market 

Monthly	analysis	of	the	use	of	consultants	is	
conducted

Quarterly	reports	on	use	
and	service	delivery	

Report on use of 
experts/consultants.	
(costs	not	to	exceed	
benefit)

Quarterly	reports	generated	to	ensure	that	
costs	do	not	exceed	benefits

Improved	use	of	supply	
chain management 
policies and procedures.  
Compliance	with	supply	
chain management and 
procurement	policy

Appointment of 
suppliers in line 
with work stream 
requirements and 
deadlines

7	tenders	issued	in	compliance	with	policies	
and procedures.  All appointments are in line 
with requirements and deadlines
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83 Ensure regular 
financial	reporting

improved	and	timeous	
financial	reporting.	
Compliance with GAAP, 
PFMA	and	Treasury	
regulations		Unqualified	
audit reports

Regular and accurate 
financial	reports	
available	on	the	15th	
day	of	the	following	
month.  Principles 
of GAAP, GRAP and 
PFMA applied in line 
with best practice 

Regular	monthly	discussions	of	expenditure	
against the budget are held with managers 
from	timeously	produced	management	
accounts.	Development	of	electronic	reports	
from Pastel in line with best practice

84 Implement best 
practice policies

Revised	best	practice	
financial	policies	

Revise	throughout	the	
financial	year	

The	supply	chain	management	policy	was	
reviewed	and	approved	

85 Manage the 
Commission’s	fixed	
assets

Monthly	reconciliation	 Reconciled	fixed	
assets register to 
physical	and	existing	
assets.  

Fixed	assets	verification	has	been	completed

In compliance with 
Treasury	regulations	

Donation to 
educational 
institutions 

No	IT	equipment	was	available	for	donation

Effective	&	trustworthy	
fixed	asset	system	

Full implementation & 
Monitoring 

The	Hardcat	IT	system	was	implemented	
and 4 staff were trained to use it  

86 Implement the 
knowledge 
management 
system

Easy	access	to	financial	
reports on the share 
point	servers,	business	
plans, management 
accounts,	quarterly	
reports

Utilisation	by	division	
managers, personal 
assistants and 
divisional	assisitants

Templates were created and use is being 
monitored for access to reports.

Support programme:  Human resources

87 Ensure compliance 
with legislation

Complete understanding  
and	use	by	staff,	
management and 
Human Resources 
division

All	employees	to	fully	
understand changes 
in	policies	by	the	2nd	
quarter

	The	policy	manual	was	approved	in	second	
quarter.	2	workshops	were	held	with	staff	to	
ensure understanding. 

88 Undertake	effective	
staff recruitment 
and ensure staff 
retention

Better	match	between	
appointed candidate 
and organisation

To	subject	shortlisted	
candidates to 
a	competency	
assessment centre for 
a	better	person-job	
match

Competency	assessments	were	
not	used	due	to	budgetary	
constraints.  Practical work 
examples	to	assess	skills	are	
used	in	the	interview	process

89 Undertake	effective	
capacity	building	in	
the organisation

Positions	to	be	filled	
within	7	weeks	from	the	
resignation	of	previous	
incumbent

Little or no gaps 
in performance 
of	division	due	to	
departing	employees	
and period to 
fill	vacancy.	No	
performance gap 
should	be	visible	in	a	
division	due	to	sudden	
resignations

All	positions	within	HR’s	control	have	been	
filled	within	7	weeks	with	the	exceptions	of	
Divisional	Managers	for	Enforcement	and	
Exemptions,	and	Strategy	and	Stakeholder	
Relations	division

The	position	of	divisional	
manager	takes	longer	to	fill	
due	to	the	seniority	of	the	
positions	and	the	subject	matter	
expertise	required	of	suitable	
candidates
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Availability	of	skilled	
consultants to assist 
and transfer skills within 
division.	Headhunters	
to be able to assist with 
supplying	candidates	at	
short notice. 

To reduce turnaround 
time for scarce skilled 
senior candidates and 
candidates	readily	
available	

All	positions	within	the	division’s	control	have	
been	filled	within	7	weeks	with	the	exception	
of	2	divisional	managers

90 Manage	employee	
performance

Uniform	approach	and	
more standardised 
performance	contracts-	
refine	behavioral	
competencies

Subjectivity	in	
assessments 
minimised and 
even	distribution	of	
assessment scores

Implementation of performance management 
systems	policy	was	reviewed	and	changes	
arising therefrom were effected.  Process 
document compiled and discussed prior to 
assessments to ensure a uniform approach. 
Info	sessions	held	with	some	divisions.	
Performance scores discussed and 
approved	by	moderation	committee.	Good	
distribution	of	scores	against	normal	curve	is	
evident

91 Ensure	effective	
learning and 
development

Graduate curriculum 
followed	by	all	
graduates	from	2009	
mentorship programme 
implemented

Graduates trained 
according to 
curriculum, which 
is structured and 
managed

Graduates completed training in computers, 
presentation	skills,	project	management,	
business writing skills, time management 
and stakeholder relations

Complete database of 
current	skills	profile	of	
staff members

Employees	and	
learning and 
development	
coordinator to know 
where skills gaps are 
and how to address 
them

Database compiled of suitable candidates. 
Candidates are also sourced from pool 
of	graduates	in	the	Commission’s	trainee	
programme.	Commission	also	visits	
universities

92 Devise	and	
implement learning 
and	development	
strategy

Updated	strategy	with	
best-practice	principles	
incorporated

Updated	and	well	
communicated 
L learning and 
development	strategy	
to support the culture 
of learning in the 
organisation

Learning	and	development	strategy	was	
approved	in	April	2009.	The	strategy	has	
been communicated and implemented. 
20	senior	staff	members	attended	a	
management	development	programme	that	
began	in	September	2009

93 Implement 
knowledge 
management 
system

Upload	all	learning	and	
development	info	and	
other	relevant	human	
resource documents 
on the knowledge 
management	system

Availability	of	
updated info on staff.  
Supporting the culture 
of knowledge sharing 
in the organisation.

The	knowledge	management	system	
allows for the updating and uploading of all 
information

94 Carry	out	general	
human resources 
management

Ensure all documents 
on	file	as	per	checklist	
and other documents 
in	the	division	filed	as	
per allocated reference 
numbers

All	relevant	
documents to be on 
file	for	audit	purposes

Successful audit completed with outstanding 
documents	requested	and	files	updated.			
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Increase in staff morale 
and	motivation	since	
the implementation of 
certain human resource 
initiatives

To know whether 
strategic	objective	
to staff morale and 
motivations	has	
been	met.	Constantly	
improve.

The	Commission	used	the	Deloitte’s	“Best	
Company	to	Work	For”	survey	with	a	total	of	
90	questionnaires	returned.	The	Commission	
won	the	award	in	its	category.				

E-based	leave	
application and access 
to	info	:	pay	slips,	IRP	
5’s,	personal	info	

All	employees	to	make	
use	of	the	employee	
self-service	system	
electronically	and	
reduce the number of 
queries	to	the	division

Theemployee	self-service	system		is	fully	
functional

Updated	job	
descriptions in line with 
growth in positions in 
organisation

All positions to 
have	updated	job	
descriptions and clear 
understanding from 
staff

Job	description	review	is	
currently	under	way

Obtain staff input into 
development	of	code	
of conduct and ensure 
proper communication  

Code	of	conduct	was	developed	and	
incorporated	into	the	human	resources	policy	
manual, which was workshopped with staff

Support programme:  Security and facitilties

95 Provide	effective	
security	and	facility	
management

Best	practice	security	
policies and practices in 
line with legislation and 
the Department of Trade 
and	Industry	campus	
regulations

Effective	safety	
and management 
systems.	Comply	
with legislation and 
Department of Trade 
and	Industry	campus	
requirements

These	systems	are	in	place.	Further	policies	
are	in	the	process	of	being	updated:	security	
manual;	emergency	response	plan;	smoking	
policy;	and	occupational	health	and	safety	
policy

Reduce	security	risk	
and breaches. Mitigate 
threats. Detect material 
weakness	of		security	
systems	and	control	
security	risk	and	
deficiencies			

Ongoing Screening	conducted	on	employees	via	
the	National	Intelligence	Agency.	Staff	and	
management	advised	on	security	matters	
and measures 

96 Monitor and manage 
access control

Safe and secure 
environment.	No	
unauthorised	entry

Ongoing Access is controlled with signing in and out 
of staff after hours

An	amplifier	was	reported	
missing and insurance 
compensated the Commission 
for	this.	CCTV	is	now	used	to	
monitor	access	to	prevent	such	
occurrences

97 Implement and 
coordinate 
Emergency	
Response Plan

Improve	response	time	
to	evacuation	drills.	
Improved	emergency	
response to disaster 

Ongoing Staff informed of processes. Staff trained on 
first	aid.	New	staff	inducted,	walk	through	
drill	conducted,	fire	assessments	conducted,	
monthly		meetings	held	with	emergency	
response team
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98 Occupational 
Health	and	Safety	
legislation (OHS)

Safe	and	healthy	
environment,	in	
compliance with 
legislation

Compliance with 
occupational health & 
safety	legislation.

OHS	audit	currently	being	conducted.	
OHS	representative	has	been	trained.	OHS	
incidents	are	investigated	as	and	when	
they	are	reported.	Workshop	included	in	
discussion	on	policy	manual

99 Well maintained 
facilities

Well-maintained	facilities	
and	services

Ongoing Ongoing building audits conducts to ensure 
conducive	working	environment

Liaise	with	external	and	
internal stakeholders 
in line with dti campus 
regulation 

Ongoing Liaise with the Department of Trade and 
Industry	on	an	ongoing	basis

100 Effective	and	
professional 
management of 
reception

Well managed reception 
area and internal 
meeting rooms. 

Ongoing Ongoing monitoring of reception to maintain 
professional image

Support programme:  Security and facitilties

101 Provide	efficient	
records 
management

Timely	access	to	records	
and information

Efficient	information	
retrieval:	Within	2	
hours for electronic 
documents, and 8 
hours	for	hard	copies/
originals

Retrieval	is	made	timeously		

Compliance	with	version	
control principles across 
the Commission

Implementation of 
version	control	in	
line with knowledge 
management	system

Document	version	control	templates	are	
being implemented

Secure	and	delivery	of	
records within stated 
turnaround times of 
service	level	agreements

Retrieval	of	records	
according to terms 
agreed with the 
Commission and 
service	provider	

Retrieval	is	made	timeously	and	in	line	with	
the	service	level	agreement

102 Manage public 
access to the 
Commission’s	
information

Comply	with	relevant	
legislation. (This 
includes the Competition 
Act (1999), the 
Public Access to 
Information	Act	(2000)	
and the Promotion of 
Administrative	Justice	
Act	(2000)

Improved	turnaround	
on access to 
information from 
average	of	5	to	6	days

Relevant	legislation	is	complied	with	and	
access	is	given	in	line	with	confidentiality	
provisions

103 Review	and	
implement records 
management 
policies

Comply	with	relevant	
legislation

100%	compliance	with	
relevant	legislation

100%	compliance	with	relevant	legislation
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104 Provide	postal	and	
courier	services

Timeous	delivery	of	mail	
and consignments to 
external	stakeholders.	
Internal mail distributed 
within	2	hours

Distribution of mail 
and consignments 
done within the 
required timeframe 
of the Competition 
Commission and 
stakeholders

Mail	is	distributed	timeously

105 Align	existing	
information 
and records 
management 
approach with 
knowledge 
management 
system

All departmental 
information processing 
aligned with knowledge 
management	system

As informed 
by	knowledge	
management	system	
strategy

Regular spot checks are conducted on the 
content	management	system,	and	where	
rectification	is	necessary,	divisions	are	
advised	accordingly
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